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Statement of Compliance 
 
 
The Hon. Mark McGowan MLA 
Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming 
 
 
In accordance with Section 66 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, we hereby submit 
for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Botanic Gardens and 
Parks Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2006. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Administration and Audit Act 1985. 
 
 
 
 
Mr Ross Willcock 
Deputy Chairman,  
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
 
 
 
 
Professor John Considine 
Member 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
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Chairman’s Report 
 
 
As I commence my second term as Chairman of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of 
Management, it is pleasing to see the Authority’s commitment to its vision, and the outworking of this 
vision being so evident in the quality outcomes delivered to the local, national and international 
community.  
 
The Authority is a leader in many fields including services to visitors, working with volunteers, turf, 
parkland and bushland management; the horticulture, development and display of indigenous plants; 
restoration science; plant genetics; seed biology; and biodiversity conservation generally. The 
activities of the Authority over the last 12 months will only enhance its reputation as a leader in each of 
these fields. 
 
A highlight of the year was the opening of stage one of the Biodiversity Conservation Centre in Kings 
Park and Botanic Garden. With funding from the State Government Major Capital Works Program, this 
new facility has provided new offices and laboratories. The Biodiversity Conservation Centre is a fitting 
tribute to the excellence of the research and development programs undertaken by the Authority’s 
dedicated and professional staff, and by the students and staff from its many institutional 
collaborators. 
 
From humble beginnings over 40 years ago, the research and development programs undertaken by 
the Authority have grown to encompass internationally noted research especially on the bushlands of 
Kings Park and Bold Park, and the ecosystems of Western Australia generally, in response to a 
growing awareness of the value and need for conservation of native biodiversity by the community, 
industry and government. 
 
Dr Kingsley Dixon, Director Science was privileged to represent the Authority on the Prime Minister’s 
Science Engineering and Innovative Council Working Group on Biodiscovery, and co-present the final 
report to the Federal Cabinet in December 2005. 
 
Also worthy of particular mention was the major refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family Area. This 
project was undertaken by the Friends of Kings Park with significant funding from Lotterywest, and has 
resulted in this much loved area being enjoyed by young and old visitors alike. 
 
Aspects of Kings Park continues to set a new trend in showcasing high quality local art and design 
products that also impart conservation messages. It also provides an important connection between 
the Authority, the local community and our many visitors. 
 
I would like to express the Board’s appreciation to the staff and volunteers of the Botanic Gardens and 
Parks Authority, who maintain and continually enhance the Authority’s high standard of achievement.  
In addition, I would also like to record the Board’s appreciation for the support of our various lease 
holders and other operators. They provide a valuable community service further enhancing the appeal 
especially of Kings Park and Botanic Garden.  
 
I would also like to acknowledge the support and input over the past five years of the former Minister 
for the Environment; Science, the Hon. Dr Judy Edwards MLA, which has continued more recently 
under the Hon. Mark McGowan MLA, Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming. 
 
We continue to benefit as an organisation and a community as a result of the input, effort and passion 
of all our stakeholders. 
 
Richard Simpson 
Chairman 
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The Year in Review 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Capital Works 
 
The construction and opening of Stage 1 of the Biodiversity Conservation Centre was an important 
milestone. This new facility celebrates the local, national and international achievements by the 
Authority in biodiversity and horticultural research and investigation. It provides significantly improved 
working conditions for staff, and for the first time, brings the science, horticulture, bushland and visitor 
services staff under one roof, delivering improved communication and co-ordination within and 
between Directorates. Extra space and teaching laboratories has provided for the co-location of staff 
from partner organisations. A Science Strategic Plan 2006-2011 was also released that will guide 
research activities for the benefit of biodiversity management on the designated lands. 
 
Major projects identified for 2006/2007 include: 

 The ongoing bushland restoration in Kings Park and Bold Park. 
 Stage Two of the deep sewerage program, which commenced in 2004/2005.  
 The replacement of ageing and obsolete plant and equipment. 

 
Performance 
 
With close to five million visitors in 2005/2006, Kings Park and Botanic Garden remains the key 
recreational and tourism destination in the Perth area. Tourism Western Australia estimates around 
80% of these visitors are Western Australians, 10% are from interstate and 10% are international 
visitors. 
 
In comparison other Perth attractions have much lower visitation (the most in one month of about 
65,000 visitors). With an average of 400,000 visits each month, Kings Park is enjoyed by many 
thousands of people daily. The 2005/2006 visitor survey in Kings Park and Botanic Garden revealed 
that 99.6% of visitors considered their visit very good or excellent, and in Bold Park 100% of visitors 
were satisfied with their visit. 
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The Perth Coastal Planning Strategy Community Survey Report (October 2005) reported “…it is clear 
that the coast does play an important part in defining the character of Perth. However, in and around 
the metropolitan area there are a number of other iconic or potentially definitive features, such as the 
Swan River, the hills and Kings Park…” (Page 19).1
 
The survey responses demonstrate that Kings Park is the second most preferred destination for local 
people to bring visitors. 
 

Q. If you had some friends or relatives visiting Perth for a day, which is the one place you would take them? 

Situation: The  
River 

The  
Hills 

The  
Coast 

The City  
or Fremantle Rottnest Kings  

Park 
Swan  
Valley 

On a rainy day 3% 15% 5% 60% <1% 4% 13% 
On a sunny day 11% 5% 36% 4% 11% 27% 6% 
On a cold day 6% 17% 5% 30% 1% 14% 27% 
On a hot day 11% 2% 65% 2% 14% 6% 1% 
In the morning 24% 8% 27% 11% 4% 22% 5% 
In the afternoon 20% 11% 21% 12% 2% 23% 11% 
Around sunset 6% 6% 68% 3% 1% 15% 1% 
Any time 8% 5% 28% 21% 8% 23% 8% 

Bold figures indicate the most popular place to take visitors for each situation. 
 
The Declared Rare Flora (DRF) collecting and collections maintenance program continues, bearing in 
mind that the number and range of plants gazetted as DRF varies from year to year, and species vary 
significantly in their ease of collections. 
 
The total collection of DRF decreased by two species in 2005/2006. A review was done of the DRF 
collections strategy with a focus on developing the DRF Conservation Garden. The Authority will 
increase the value of the DRF collections by ensuring that all new collections are based on wild source 
material. This will see an increase in the range and depth of these conservation collections. 
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1 1. The Perth Coastal Planning Strategy Community Survey Report (prepared for Department for Planning and Infrastructure), 
October 2005, P19 
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Highlights 2005/2006 
 
The events program in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was enjoyed by around 170,000 people, and 
featured many national and international artists, with a highlight being the Nyoongar Boodjah 
Welcome to Country, done as part of the Perth International Arts Festival. This free event delivered 
inspirational performances and stories from the various clans of the Nyoongar nation from the south 
west of Western Australia, and highlighted the close connection this group has with Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden. 
 
The Aspects of Kings Park retail outlet is a great asset. Owned and operated by the Authority, it 
provided a special visitor experience for the many thousands of people who enjoyed viewing and 
purchasing high quality art and design products with a botanical theme. Professor Sir Peter Crane, 
Director of Royal Botanic Gardens Kew, visited Aspects and stated it was the best botanic garden 
shop of any he had seen world-wide.  
 
Aspects of Kings Park has exceeded expectations in terms of customer service and innovative 
displays; and adds a new dimension to the visitor’s experience.  
 
 

Aspects sales for 2005-2006
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A $1.2m refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family Area was undertaken by the Friends of Kings Park 
with major funding from Lotterywest. The turf and garden areas in the parkland were maintained at a 
high standard, while seven garden beds in the Western Australian Botanic Garden were refurbished in 
accordance with the Thematic Plan. 
 
The bushlands of Kings Park and Bold Park are special places, and provide a point of connection with 
the larger conservation estate throughout Western Australia. The release of the informative and 
educational Perth Plants book by the Authority highlights the importance of these remnant bushlands 
– in a combined area of just over 835ha, there are over 750 native and exotic plant species, or about a 
quarter of the Greater Perth District’s flora, and 10% of that known for the whole of the Southwest 
Australian Floristic Region. Even though only 10kms apart, the floras of King Park and Bold Park differ 
by hundreds of species. This dramatic change in the presence of species is unusually rare in city 
landscapes, and matched only by floral extravaganzas seen in the cape of South Africa or the Atlantic 
forests of South America. In addition, a survey identified 60 new fungal species in Bold Park, bringing 
the number of fungal species in Bold Park and Kings Park to 280 and 100 respectively. 
 
Weed control and restoration plantings remain high priorities in Kings Park and Bold Park. A targeted 
and ongoing program means that introduced woody weeds have now been removed from 80% of 
Kings Park. Often, the removal of one weed species can provide the opportunity for another weed 
species to invade, and this second species can sometimes be more difficult to control than the original 
species removed. Targeted research and management programs in Kings Park and Bold Park 
bushland aim to minimise or break this cycle of new weed infestation.  
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The Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011 was released by the Hon. Mark McGowan, Minister for 
the Environment; Racing and Gaming. It will serve as an educational and information booklet on future 
management of this important bushland remnant. A visitor survey gave overwhelming support for the 
management of Bold Park by the Authority, and highlighted the need to upgrade the path network, 
which will start in 2006/2007. 
 
There were 10 fires in Kings Park bushland, which burnt a total area of only 0.13ha, and no fires in 
Bold Park. The Operational Response Protocol between the Authority and the Fire and Emergency 
Services was successfully implemented in relation to staff training and fire response. The radio system 
was upgraded improving the communications link between and within Bold Park and Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden. 
 
Works were undertaken on numerous trees, especially throughout Kings Park and Botanic Garden. A 
major inspection of the Fraser Avenue trees was done with dead wooding and canopy reduction 
undertaken as necessary. Several trees displaying ‘chlorotic decline syndrome’ displayed a positive 
reaction to injected iron chelate. These promising results are part of an Authority research program 
into this debilitating disorder of mature gum trees growing in parkland areas across Australia.  
 
The second phase of the Royal Botanic Gardens Kew Millennium Seed Bank (UK) project is well 
underway with local partners the Department of Conservation and Land Management. Over 350 
collections were made by the Authority, and 151 duplicate seed lots sent to the UK for long term 
storage. A highlight of the year was the release by the Authority of Australian Seeds, a comprehensive 
work on the collection, storage and identification of Australian native plant seeds. 
 
Four workshops or conferences were held on restoration outcomes, and on advances in wetland 
conservation. These activities are important in communicating the work of the Authority to various 
stakeholders, and to the restoration community generally. Over $1.8m in new research funding was 
obtained, including success in eight nationally competitive Australian Research Council grants with a 
range of industry and institutional partners.  
 
A new DNA sequencer will provide the genetics group with improved resources in this rapidly 
developing area. The purchase of a seed X-ray machine; the first of its type for a botanic garden 
outside of Royal Botanic Gardens Kew (UK), will provide the restoration group with new facilities in the 
investigation of seed anatomy and morphology, especially in relation to understanding the 
mechanisms of seed dormancy. 
 
Financial Performance 
 
A significant outcome for the year has been improved financial management processes and reporting 
that has provided comprehensive, timely and accurate reports to the Board of Management and other 
important stakeholders. 
 
The Authority’s operating income is 72% derived from State Government with 28% generated through 
sales, sponsorships, user fees, licences and leases. 
 

2005/2006 CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
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The Authority’s expenditure breakdown as shown in the pie chart below consists of 39% for employee 
costs, 18% for supplies and services, 4% costs of sales and 15% in other expenses. 18% contributes 
to the capital user charge and a further 6% is allocated to depreciation and amortisation. 
 

2005/2006 CONSOLIDATED EXPENDITURE
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benefits 
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tanic Garden 
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 nism of action of butenolide in seed germination stimulation. 

ies. The Authority 
 co-ordinating a major national federal grant for urgent research to be implemented into the cause of, 

 
 
Major Initiatives for 2006/2007 
 
Implementation of Stage Two of the deep sewerage infill program in Kings Park and Bo
w
Area, with works due for completion by early 2007. The deep sewerage connection will reduce the 
environmental risks associated with the current septic system, provide environmental benefits by 
having a more sustainable waste management system and also reduce
 
Upgrading the Kings Park and Botanic Garden irrigation system will commence in 2006/2007 and 
allow the Authority to better manage the complex irrigation needs of the Park, and
w
 
An upgrade to the main walking tracks in Bold Park will improve the safety and quality of experience 
for visitors and sign
 
The continuation of ecological restoration and weed cont

tcomes in Bold Park and Kings Park bushland to enhance biodiversity conservation on the 
gnated lands. 

r research programs planned for 2006/2007 include: 
 Investigation of the optimum collection, storage and germination of selected nati

species. 
 Enhancing establishment of native perennial grasses for use in land restoration/pasture 

systems. 
Investigation of the mecha

 Investigation into key processes affecting genetic variation, using molecular techniques to 
quantify dispersal of seed and pollen and assessing its consequences in plant species with 
varying life histories. 

 
Ecological, propagation and translocation research projects are continuing on rare and priority species 
to enable the sustainable conservation, restoration and management of these spec
is
and solution to, a damaging disorder that has been decimating remnant urban trees in the Perth 
metropolitan region for the last 15 years. The disorder poses a significant risk to selected remnant 
indigenous landscape trees within Kings Park and Botanic Garden and elsewhere.  
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The Authority’s achievements are testimony to the enthusiasm and commitment of its staff, and to the 
passion and support of our many volunteers. I would also like to acknowledge the input and support of 

e Chairman and the Board of Management, the staff at the Department of Treasury and Finance, 
 of the Auditor General. I would also like to express appreciation to the former Minister 

nce, the Hon. Dr Judy Edwards, MLA for her interest and support over the 
ast five years, which has continued since early 2006 under the Hon. Mr Mark McGowan, MLA, 

Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming. 
 
Mark Webb 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

th
and the Office
for the Environment; Scie
p
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Our Corporate Structure 
 
 
Legislative Environment 
 
Enabling Legislation 
 
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is constituted under the Botanic Gardens and Parks 
Authority Act 1998 (the Act) for the care, control and management of Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
(reserve A1720 except Perth Lots 64 and 65) and other land including Bold Park (reserve A45409). 
 
Administered Legislation  
 
The Authority was established under Part 2, Section 4 of the Act, and is responsible for administering 
the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Regulations 1999, created under the provisions of Part 8 of 
the Act. 
 
The statutory responsibility for the Act is vested with the Minister for the Environment; Racing and 
Gaming. 
 
Legislation Impacting on the Authority’s Activities 
 
Western Australian State Acts 
 Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 
 Bush Fires Act 1954 
 Business Names Act 1962 
 Cambridge Endowment Lands Act 1920 
 Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreement Act 1985 
 Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 
 Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899 
 Disability Services Act 1993 
 Dog Act 1976 
 Electoral Act 1907 
 Electricity Act 1945 
 Environmental Protection Act 1986 
 Equal Opportunity Act 1984 
 Evidence Act 1906 
 Fair Trading Act 1987 
 Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 
 Fines Penalties and Infringement Notices Act 1994 
 Freedom of Information Act 1992 
 Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987 
 Health Act 1911 
 Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 
 Industrial Relations Act 1979 
 Land Administration Act 1997 
 Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 
 Liquor Licensing Act 1998 
 Litter Act 1979 
 Local Government Act 1995 
 Long Service Leave Act 1958 
 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 
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 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
 Parks and Reserves Act 1895 
 Plant Variety Rights Act 1987 
 Police Act 1892 
 Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 
 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 
 Public Sector Management Act 1994 
 Road Closure Act 1969 
 Road Traffic Act 1974 
 Salaries and Allowance Act 1975 
 Sentencing Act 1995 
 Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945 
 State Records Act 2000 
 State Records (Consequential Provisions) Act 2000 
 State Supply Commission Act 1991 
 Town Planning and Development Act 1928 
 Volunteers (Protection from Liability Act) 2002 
 Water and Rivers Commission Act 1995 
 Water Corporation Act 1995 
 Western Australian Planning Commission Act 1985 
 Wildlife Conservation Act 1950 
 Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 

 
Australian Commonwealth Acts 
 A New Tax System (Pay as you go) Act 1999 
 A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Regulations 1999 
 Copyright Act 1968 
 Environment Protection and Biodiversity Act 2000 
 Fringe Benefits Tax Act 
 Trade Practices Act 1974 
 Workplace Relations Act 1996 

 
Changes in Written Law 
 
There have been no changes to the Act or Regulations administered by The Authority. Where 
changes have occurred to Acts that impact on the Authority’s operations, the Authority has taken 
appropriate actions to ensure compliance with this Legislation. 
 
In the financial administration of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, we have complied with the 
requirements of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 and every other relevant written law, 
and exercised controls which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of 
moneys and the acquisition and disposal of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in this statement misleading or inaccurate. 
 
Ministerial Directives 
 
There were no Ministerial Directives in 2005/2006. 
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Board of Management 
 
In accordance with the Part 2, Section 6 of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998, the 
Board of Management (the Board) is the governing body of the Authority.  
 
Members are appointed by the Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming according to their 
experience in areas relevant to the Authority’s activities and are eligible for re-appointment at the end 
of their term.  
 
Membership and Attendance 
 
The Board consists of 8 Members: 

 Chair 
 Deputy Chair  
 Six members  

 
The Authority’s Chief Executive Officer and Senior Officers, attend Board meetings as ex-officio 
members and are not entitled to vote on matters to be considered by the Board. 
 
At its August 2005 meeting, the Board of Management agreed to formally meet on a bi-monthly basis 
and has met on seven occasions during this reporting period. The current appointed terms and 
number of meetings attended are outlined below: 
 
Mr Richard Simpson, Chairman (5 out of possible 7) 
Richard Simpson has over 15 years experience in providing investment banking advice to a range of 
corporate and government clients in both Australia and internationally. He is currently Managing 
Director and Head of Corporate Finance at Hartley’s Limited. Mr Simpson was re-appointed to the 
Board in December 2005 for a period of three years until 31 December 2008. 
 
Mr Ross Willcock, Deputy Chair (7 out of possible 7) 
Ross Willcock was elected as the inaugural Mayor of the Town of Cambridge in May 1995 and 
remained as Mayor until mid 2003. He has extensive experience in commerce and in assisting 
charitable organisations. In September 1999 Mr Willcock was appointed Deputy Chairman of the 
Board. His current term is due to expire on 30 August 2006.  
 
Professor John Considine (4 out of possible 7) 
John Considine is a Professor of Horticultural Science at The University of Western Australia. He is 
interested in the continued conservation and enhancement of Kings Park and Botanic Garden and 
other designated lands. Professor Considine was re-appointed to the Board in December 2004 until 31 
December 2006. 
 
Mrs Patricia Hart (7 out of possible 7) 
Pat Hart is a member of the Swan River Trust Board, the Swan Catchment Council and Araluen 
Botanic Park Board. She is Chairperson of the South East Regional Landcare Group and has 
extensive experience as a member of landcare and environmental committees both at Local and State 
Government level. Mrs Hart re-appointed to the Board for a period of two years to expire on 31 August 
2007.  
 
Ms Clare Power  (5 out of possible 7) 
Clare Power is a Director of Salter Power Pty Ltd, a specialist commercial legal practice in Western 
Australia. Ms Power was re-appointed to the Board in December 2004 for a period of two years to 31 
December 2006. 
 
Mrs Corinne MacRae (5 out of possible 7) 
Corinne MacRae is a councillor of the Town of Cambridge and is a member of the Western Australian 
Planning Commission. Mrs MacRae was re-appointed to the Board in December 2005 for a period of 
two years until 31 December 2007. 
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Mr Grant Robinson (3 out of possible 3) 
Grant Robinson is a partner with KPMG with particular interest in audit and risk management services 
and has reviewed and evaluated financial management accounting and reporting systems for a range 
of industrial and research clients. Mr Robinson was appointed to the Board in December 2005 for a 
period of two years until 31 December 2007. 
 
Dr Mandy Burrows (2 out of possible 3) 
Amanda Burrows is a consultant in Veterinary Dermatology and an Adjunct Lecturer at Murdoch 
University and is on the Western Australian Committee for the Australian Open Garden Scheme. Dr 
Burrows was appointed to the Board in December 2005 for a period of two years until 31 December 
2007. 
 
Dr Pauline Grierson (2 out of possible 4) 
Pauline Grierson is a senior lecturer in the School of Plant Biology at The University of Western 
Australia. Dr Grierson was appointed to the Board in 2002 and served until 31 December 2005. 
 
Fees and Allowances 
 
Under the Act, Board members are paid remuneration and allowances as determined by the Minister 
for the Environment; Racing and Gaming by recommendation of the Minister for Public Sector 
Management. The Authority currently pays remuneration to members as follows: 

 A fee of $5,120 per annum is payable to members of the Board. 
 A fee of $12,800 is payable to the Chairman of the Board. 

 
Committees Attended by Authority Board Members  
 
Internal Audit Committee 
 
The Authority’s Internal Audit Committee meets quarterly, or more frequently if required, and is chaired 
by the Board Chairman and attended by the Deputy Chair. The Internal Audit Committee evaluates 
and contributes to the improvement of the governance process, compliance and risk management. 
Four meetings of the Internal Audit Committee were held in 2005/2006. 
 
Retail Outlet Audit Committee (Aspects of Kings Park) 
 
The Retail Audit committee reviews operational systems, internal controls and procedural instructions 
for effective and efficient performance and appraises detailed financial and performance reports to 
ensure that variances and/or adverse trends are promptly actioned. The Retail Outlet Audit Committee 
is chaired by the Board Chairperson and attended by the Deputy Chair. Meetings were held monthly 
until August 2005. At its August meeting the Committee determined to alter the frequency of meetings 
to bi-monthly. Seven meetings of the Retail Outlet Audit Committee were held in 2005/2006. 
 
Senior Officers  
 
Mark Webb BSc. Agric (Hons) 
Chief Executive Officer 
Mark Webb was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority on 23 
November 2004. Mr Webb joined the Authority in October 1998 as Director Living Collections. He has 
experience in horticultural research, management and business. He is a member of the International 
Society for Horticultural Science, and sits on a number of local, national and international committees 
and boards. 
 
Dr Kingsley Dixon PhD,  
Director Science 
Kingsley Dixon has worked in the public sector for 21 years as the head of the science programs with 
the Authority. Dr Dixon manages the core research outputs for the Authority through the Science 
Directorate. He holds a Visiting Professorship from The University of Western Australia and maintains 
a high profile research program in the conservation and restoration sciences. Dr Dixon holds a number 
of distinguished positions in learned and professional societies including board member of the Society 
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for Ecological Restoration International and board member of the IUCN Species Survival Commission 
for reintroduction programs.  
 
Marcelle Broderick BSw, MSW (Policy and Administration), Grad. Cert. Public Sector 
Management 
Director Business and Visitor Services
Marcelle Broderick joined the Authority in January 1998 as Director Corporate Development and has 
undertaken a number of job role changes over the past eight years. She is responsible for all internal 
business and corporate services and reporting, external business development, leases and licences 
and for direct visitor services incorporating Aspects of Kings Park, events, volunteers and education. 
Prior to joining the Authority, Ms Broderick worked in a number of private and public sector 
organisations with varied responsibilities including social research, community development, 
employee support, organisational change and corporate services. 
 
Digby Growns B (Hort Sci) Hons 
Director Horticulture and Conservation  
Digby Growns was appointed Director in November 2005 after 12 years with the Floriculture sub-
program of the Western Australian Department of Agriculture where he managed the release of over 
40 new plant varieties, and led research and extension in propagation and breeding technologies 
(including biotechnology, plant tissue culture, cuttings and grafting), agronomy, post-harvest and 
marketing, mostly with Western Australian native plants. 
 
Contracts with Senior Officers  
 
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior Officers, or 
firms of which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial 
interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Authority and Senior Officers. 
 
Corporate Executive Committee 
 
The Corporate Executive comprises the Chief Executive Officer, Executive Officer, Director Business 
and Visitor Services, Director Science, Director Horticulture and Conservation, Manager Horticulture 
and Assets, Manager Biodiversity Conservation, Manager Visitor Services, Manager Finance and the 
Conservation Geneticist. 
 
The Authority’s Corporate Executive meets twice monthly to consider key planning and operational 
matters – including financial and human resources management, risk management and key issues 
central to Authority operations. Major strategic and significant policy decisions are made by the Board 
of Management. The Corporate Executive will research and make recommendations for the CEO to 
submit to the Board for consideration. 
 
Finance Committee
 
The Finance Committee comprises all members of the Corporate Executive and key members of the 
Finance Team. The Finance Committee meets once a month to consider monthly Financial Reports 
prior to submission to the Board and discusses financial activities, processes and functions.  
 
Executive Support 
 
Administrative and secretarial support was again provided through the year to the Executive and to the 
Board of Management.  
 
The Authority’s Schedule of Reporting Requirements and Delegation of Authority (the Schedule) is a 
formal document prescribed in part by the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 and based 
on the principles of good governance. At its October 2005 meeting, the Board of Management 
endorsed the annually reviewed Schedule.  
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The Schedule provides a clear indication of what must be reported to whom, and the explicit 
delegation and extent of authority to decide and to authorise certain acts (such as contracts, tenders 
and employment).  
 
Organisation Structure 
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Government Goals and Strategic Outcomes 
 
 
Vision 
To create and provide world-recognised botanic gardens and parks and to inspire the conservation of 
biodiversity. 
 
Mission 
To conserve and enhance Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park with the community, and to 
conserve biological diversity generally. 
 
Strategic Plan 2005-2010 
 
The Authority’s Strategic Plan identifies the Functions, Vision and Mission Statements, Core Business 
and Guiding Principals, which are the key elements in delivering the agency level desired outcomes 
under the umbrella of the State Government’s 2003 Strategic Planning Framework Better Planning: 
and Better Services. 
 
The Authority delivers two key services: 
 
Service 1 – Customer Service and Cultural Heritage 
This Service and Outcome links directly with Goal 1 (People and Communities) and Goal 3 (The Environment) of 
the Strategic Planning Framework for the Western Australian Public Sector. 

Outcome World-recognised recreation, cultural heritage and tourism experiences 
within the context of very special urban bushlands, parklands and botanic 
garden environments. 

This outcome is 
achieved by: 

 improving and promoting knowledge and enjoyment of Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden and Bold Park 

 maintaining and improving urban bushland, parklands and botanic 
gardens with a focus on Western Australian heritage 

 providing a range of visitor opportunities and experiences 
 providing a safe and accessible environment 
 providing high quality public services and facilities 
 conserving, promoting and developing Aboriginal, colonial and 

contemporary cultural heritage 
 developing and delivering appropriate events and venues 
 undertaking and promoting research and investigation into matters 

relating to customer service and cultural heritage. 

Our success in this 
service area is 
measured by the: 

 level of visitor satisfaction with Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
 visitor satisfaction with the Western Australian Botanic Garden 
 level of visitor satisfaction with Bold Park 
 total annual visitor numbers to Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
 number of cultural events held at Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
 average cost per visitor to Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
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Service 2 – Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research 
This Service and Outcome links directly with Goal 3 (The Environment) of the Strategic Planning Framework for the 
Western Australian Public Sector. 
Outcome Conservation and enhancement of Western Australian bushland and other 

flora. 

This outcome is 
achieved by: 

 conserving, developing and managing scientific collections of 
 Western Australian and other flora 

 displaying Western Australian and other flora 
 promoting the use of flora for the purposes of horticulture, conservation 

and education 
 undertaking and promoting scientific research and investigation into 

Western Australian and other flora and biodiversity conservation. 

Our success in this 
service area is 
measured by the: 

 number of Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species in living collections in 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden 

 number of accessions in botanical display in Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden 

 number of accessions lost in Kings Park and Botanic Garden as at 30 
June each year 

 weed cover in high intensity management areas compared to low 
intensity management areas in Bold Park 

 number of common native plant species in Bold Park in areas with high 
levels of management compared to areas with low levels of 
management  

 number of representative native plant taxa in Kings Park and Bold Park 
bushland 

 average cost of the number of representative native plant taxa in Kings 
Park and Bold Park bushland 

 average cost per hectare of land managed (Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden and Bold Park) 

 number of research grant projects 
 average cost per research grant project. 

 
Government Goals 
 
Five goals are identified in the State Government’s 2003 Strategic Planning Framework Better 
Planning: and Better Services. This section outlines the way in which the Authority strives to deliver 
the services and outcomes in relation to legislative functions and the designated lands and to 
contribute to the goals and objectives of the State as a whole. 
 
People and Communities 
 
Goal 1:  To enhance the quality of life and wellbeing of all people throughout Western Australia. 
 
The Authority contributes to the strategic outcomes of this State goal through activities and services 
(delivered in service 2) that contribute to: 
 Education, through the Discover Kings Park Program, and a range of horticultural and scientific 

education programs. 
 Learning opportunities, such as guided walks, interpretative signage and community workshops. 
 Physical recreation, through providing safe and secure recreational spaces used by millions of 

visitors each year. 
 Participation, through supporting the many active and dedicated volunteers within the Authority. 
 Universal access to services and facilities provided by the Authority wherever possible. 
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 A culturally rich, artistically inspired and intellectually stimulated society, including the many 
memorials, natural heritage and cultural monuments maintained within Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden, and inspiring artists through product development for Aspects of Kings Park. 

 Improved opportunities for Indigenous Australians through the Aboriginal Art Gallery, regular 
Indigenous dance performers and the consultative process with the Authority’s Indigenous 
Reference Group. 

 Fair and equitable treatment of staff, volunteers and visitors, and extensive community consultation 
and involvement. 

 A commitment to having a workforce that is reflective of the general community and actively 
support to access to services and facilities to a range of diverse groups. 

 Enhancement and care of the State’s Botanic Garden and the maintenance and continual 
improvement of the People’s Park which epitomises these cultural diversity and openness. 

 
The Economy 
 
Goal 2: To develop a strong economy that delivers more jobs, more opportunities and greater wealth 

to Western Australians by creating the conditions required for investment and growth. 
 
The Authority’s obligatory financial/economic reporting requirements are contained in the financial 
statements and performance indicator information in this Annual Report. The Authority is committed to 
the principal of fiscal responsibility, and seeks to deliver sound financial management, opportunities 
for improvement in consolidated funding, and new revenue opportunities through appropriate 
sponsorships and business initiatives balanced with the range of the Authority’s community service 
obligations. 
 
The Authority contributes to the strategic outcomes of this State goal through activities and services 
(in both Service 1 and 2) that contribute to: 
 Education, skills and the development of creativity, through ongoing training and development of 

staff and volunteers and conducting community workshops to share research outcomes. 
 An efficient labour market that utilises a fair and flexible system of employment, through sound 

employment practices. 
 A workforce that reflects the State’s diverse population, through the Authority’s commitment to 

equal opportunity and diversity. 
 Greater economic infrastructure that facilitates new development, including cross portfolio benefits 

in tourism, arts, education, resources and environment sectors through Authority services and 
facilities. 

 Ground breaking environmental research and applied innovative restoration techniques in urban 
bushland and degraded industrial and developed sites throughout the State. 

 Social infrastructure, including recreational areas built and maintained to a high standard in Kings 
Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park maintained at world class standards. 

 
The Environment 
 
Goal 3: To ensure that Western Australia has an environment in which resources are managed, 

developed and used sustainably, biological diversity is preserved and habitats protected. 
 
The Authority contributes to the strategic outcomes of this goal through activities and services (in 
Service 2) that contribute to: 
 Global efforts to reduce Greenhouse emissions, though participation in the Carbon Neutral 

program, effective and consistent restoration work and maintenance of green space in urban areas. 
 Effective waste avoidance, resource recovery and waste management, through the Authority’s 

efforts in recycling and waste minimisation and the development of the inaugural Authority 
Sustainability Action Plan. 
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 Effective responses to the salinisation of soil and water, including effective techniques developed 
by the Authority’s scientists and restoration ecologists to restore local vegetation in degraded 
areas. 

 A world class system of parks and other conservation reserves, through the vast areas of bushland 
and parkland in heavily urbanised areas, protected, managed and enhanced by the Authority. 

 Effective management of marine and coastal resources, estuarine and inland environments, 
through research by the Authority into biodiversity conservation and ecological restoration. 

 Increased protection and understanding of the biological diversity of Western Australia, through the 
Authority’s extensive publication of unique research into our fragile biodiversity and the application 
of biodiversity conservation techniques in Authority managed lands. 

 High level of urban air quality, including the care and maintenance of the public open space in 
Perth in Bold Park and Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 

 
The Regions 
 
Goal 4: To ensure that regional Western Australia is strong and vibrant. 
 
The Authority contributes to the strategic outcomes of this State goal through activities and services 
that assist in providing planning in partnership for a sustainable future; improved environmental 
management; sustainable natural resource management; and conserved and restored natural and 
built heritage.  
 
A number of Authority research projects assist sustainable development and future restoration in 
regional mining and pastoral areas.  Collaborative efforts with the Department of Conservation and 
Land Management help to protect many Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species that are found in regional 
Western Australia. Weed and Pest Control techniques assist farmers in Regional Western Australia. 
 
Governance 
 
Goal 5: To govern for all Western Australians in an open, effective and efficient manner that also 

ensures a sustainable future. 
 
The Authority is committed to the principle of accountability, and strives to ensure honest, transparent 
and accountable governance. This is demonstrated through activities and services (in both Service 1 
and 2) that contribute to: 
 Coordinated, integrated, high quality service delivery to the community, including high quality 

bushland, parkland, heritage, recreational, science and tourism services to the community in Bold 
Park and Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 

 Better opportunities for the community to participate in and make creative and effective 
contributions to government processes, including public consultation in every five year review of 
management plans and active involvement in daily operations and planning from volunteers and 
key community stakeholder groups. 

 Whole of Government approaches to planning, decision making and resource allocation, through 
the Authority’s commitment to collaborative and sustainable use of resources. 

 Sustainability considerations informing planning and decision making, through the Authority’s 
commitment to the Sustainability Action Plan). 

 Effective partnerships with Federal and Local Governments, the private sector and the wider 
community, including the Authority’s partnerships with universities, funding bodies, industry and a 
wide range of community groups. 

 Increased use of Information Communications and Technology to provide better services to the 
community, including the ongoing review and development of the Authority’s website to provide 
improved services to actual, virtual and potential visitors. 

 Greater community confidence in the processes and actions of government agencies through 
effective independent oversight and reporting, through the Authority’s compliance with internal and 
external auditing requirements, and an extensive three year rolling internal audit program. 
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Obligatory and Compliance Reporting  
 
 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes  
 
In 2004, the Disability Services Act 1993 was amended to include a requirement for agencies to 
develop and implement Disability Access and Inclusion Plans (DAIPs), staff from the Authority 
attended a workshop in 2005 run by the Disability Services Commission to advise on the new DAIPs. 
The Authority’s DAIP has commenced and will be fully implemented by July 2007.  
 
For the purpose of the 2005/06 Annual Report the Authority has reported on the six outcomes under 
the new DAIP as follows:  
 
1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the 

services of, and any events organised by a public authority. 

 Parking and set-down areas were provided for people with disabilities, and those 
accompanying them, during the 2005/06 major events. On ANZAC Day the Authority, in 
collaboration with the RSL, actively informed participants of disability parking and set-down 
areas.  

 Areas were set-aside at major events for chairs, deck chairs, wheelchairs and space for 
people to assist those with disabilities.  

 For a nominal donation, Daily Living Products provided motorised vehicles to assist people 
during the 2005 Wildflower Festival. 

 One entrance to the Wildflower Festival was established close to the main displays, with 
nearby, accessible parking designated for people with limited mobility. 

 
2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the 

buildings and other facilities of a public authority. 

 Car parks, such as Zamia Café, and hard surface pathways, such as paths in the Bushland 
and along Fraser Avenue, were resurfaced for easier and safer access, 

 .The Lotterywest Family Area upgrade included the incorporation of disability access 
initiatives, including more areas accessible for children with disabilities.  

 An increased area was provided at Stickybeaks café after the refurbishment of the outdoor 
area within Ivey Watson Playground in the Lotterywest Family Area. 

 New drinking fountains have been installed at the Lotterywest Family Area for easier access 
by people with disabilities and children. 

 The new Tuart toilets in the Botanic Garden have extra large doors to provide for electric 
wheelchair access, in response to input by a disability reference group providing information 
on disability issues for the Lotterywest Federation Walkway. 

 Braille was added to the new public toilet doors at Aspects of Kings Park to assist people with 
visual impairment. 

 All toilets designated for people with disabilities were reviewed and where possible change 
tables were upgraded to hold adult weight. 

 As part of the toilet upgrade, new signs have been planned for all blocks that meet Australian 
Standards, with Braille and raised symbols, added to the toilet doors to assist people with sight 
impairments. 

 The new Biodiversity Conservation Centre was designed and built for access for all, and 
includes a ramp, an internal elevator and appropriate toilet facilities. 

 Refurbishments to the Royal Kings Park Tennis Club, due for completion in 2007, will ensure 
increased access to all members of the public with development of a new universally 
accessible complex. 

 Construction is underway for a new café in the Fraser Avenue precinct that will provide access 
for all. 
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 In 2006, a wheelchair was provided by the Kings Park Guides for the use by the Authority to 
assist visitors with limited mobility to access the buildings and facilities in Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden. 

 Improvements are planned for the decking on the Lotterywest Federation Walkway to provide 
better access. 

 
3. People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that will 

enable them to access the information, as readily as other people are able to access it. 

 Interpretative signage in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was placed on the Education section 
of the website. 

 All hard and soft paths were named and signposted to allow easier and safer access. 
 For convenience, and for people with visual impairment, recorded information is available on 

the Authority’s main telephone line.  
 The Authority’s website offers more visual imagery and allows people to access relevant 

information from home, with all information brochures due to be added in Portable Document 
Format (PDF).  

 Guided sensory tours of Aspects of Kings Park shop were provided for people with sight 
impairments. 

 Large format children’s storybooks were added to the Ivey Watson Playground, designed for 
children under five to enjoy and displayed on a 45 degree angled plinth. 

 A new Visitor Map was created, identifying all drinking fountains, hard and soft surface paths, 
all shelters and facilities. 

 Further “Access for All” programs are being considered including signage for visitors who are 
unable to read English. 

 
4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of a 

public authority as other people receive from the staff of that public authority. 

 The Authority’s Park Management Officers were provided with ongoing training to enable them 
to recognise and assist people with disabilities. 

 The Authority provide employment and some work experience placements for people with 
disabilities, which in turn increases staff awareness and understanding of people with 
disabilities. 

 In order to promote limited ability access initiatives, volunteer group newsletters regularly 
remind members of existing and new paths and facilities that have been built for people with 
limited mobility. 

 The Guide Training Course offered in 2006, as well as the Master Gardeners Training Course, 
included the provision of training for communicating effectively with all groups of people, 
including people with disabilities. 

 Further training is to be provided to all Authority staff, particularly those who regularly deal with 
members of the public. 

 
5. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints 

to a public authority. 

 The Authority’s communication’s process is available to all members of the community and 
can be accessed via the website or the enquiries email address, through the Visitor 
Information Centre or by contacting the main reception of both Parks. 

 Visitor surveys were conducted for both Parks. The results of these surveys will be used to 
determine the Authority’s performance and assist with decision-making processes. 

 
6. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any 

public consultation by a public authority. 

 Public consultation and decision-making opportunities are provided through public consultation 
processes for reviews of key management plans or changes proposed on Authority lands e.g., 
Bold Park Management Plan.  
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Cultural Diversity and Language Services Outcomes 
 
As part of the Perth International Arts Festival in February 2006, Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
hosted the opening event ‘Nyoongar Boodjah’ – an indigenous cultural event that attracted 3000 
participants to the Botanic Garden. 
 
The Authority annually attracts millions of local and overseas visitors to the lands it manages. 
Improvements in signage and publications are ongoing. Most publications and signage are in English 
and some carry interpretations based on local Indigenous languages. However, many signs are 
created to tell the story pictorially so that non-English readers are able to glean some relevant 
information through pictures. International symbols for directions and information about facilities are 
used where possible. The Authority is further investigating the language needs and cultural diversity of 
visitors to better tailor specific services and facilities as required. 
 
The free guided walks are conducted in English, however, a number of the Kings Park Guides are 
bilingual and use their skills as required, when delivering guided walks, or working in the information 
centre. 
 
The Aboriginal Art Gallery on Fraser Avenue displays and sells art and gifts relating to Indigenous 
culture and hosts regular displays of Aboriginal dance for visitor enjoyment and to promote cultural 
heritage.  
 
Youth Outcomes 
 
The Authority seeks to provide activities and programs suitable for all age groups. The Authority hosts 
events and concerts in Kings Park and Botanic Garden that aim to attract younger people (such as The 
Western Australian Symphony Orchestra with Tex Perkins and Tim Rogers in March 2006, as well as 
the Hooley Dooleys for the young family market).  
 
Moonlight Cinema in Western Power Parkland offers a range of movies that appeal to the youth 
demographic and the Discover Kings Park Educational Service provides programs for children from 
kindergarten through to high school, with one of the most popular lessons being delivered to Year 11 
students on playground design as part of the curriculum for Early Childhood Studies. The Education 
Service also caters for tertiary students studying interpretation and marketing. 
 
Substantive Equality 
 
The Authority is not required to report on this issue as it is represented at portfolio level only on the 
Strategic Management council. 
 
Energy Smart Government Program 
 
In accordance with the Energy Smart Government policy, the Authority is aiming to achieve a 12% 
reduction in non-transport related energy use by 2006/07 with a 10% reduction targeted for 2005/06.  
 

Energy Smart Government Program 2001/2002 
Baseline Data 

Actuals 
2005/2006 

Variation  
% 

Energy Consumption (MJ) 7,780,010 7,593,969 -2 

Energy Cost ($) 190,377 194491 +2 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
(tonnes of CO2) 

1,319 1727 +31 

 
The baseline data originated from the figures for 2000/2001 to take account of a reduction in electricity 
usage already achieved as a result of modifications to the water treatment and irrigation systems in 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden. There appear to be no nationally consistent activity based energy 
performance indicators appropriate for the range of activities undertaken by the Authority. 
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During the year, energy and cost saving initiatives were largely focused on the continued 
implementation of the energy conservation guidelines for the Authority.  
 
There have been many additional services and capital works programs implemented since the 
baseline year. In Kings Park and Botanic Garden, these include: major improvements associated with 
the redevelopment of the Western Power Parkland and Pines picnic areas; the construction and 
operation of the Biodiversity Conservation Centre, Aspects of Kings Park, two additional public toilet 
blocks and a sewerage pump station; an increased program of events; substantially increased lighting 
for public safety; and a significant increase in the area of turf irrigated and maintained to higher 
standards in order to withstand heavy usage without serious damage. In Bold Park, the Western 
Australian Ecology Centre is now operational.  
 
These improvements, together with the dry autumn and winter requiring unseasonable irrigation of the 
lawns and gardens, have caused a substantial increase in the use of electrical energy. Unit energy 
costs have decreased because changes to the operation of the irrigation system have led to an 
improved percentage of power used at off-peak rates. Overall, total energy used has slightly 
decreased because the number of wood barbeques has been reduced from 19 to 5 during the 
upgrades to the picnic areas, and the energy contained in the firewood used was substantially more 
than the electricity consumed in the replacement barbeques. However, as firewood is considered to 
generate no greenhouse gas, being a renewable resource, the increase in use of electricity has also 
caused an increase in greenhouse gas emissions. 
 
Waste Paper Recycling 
 
The Authority maintains its commitment to the environment through the recycling of paper and paper 
products. Staff are encouraged to minimise the use of paper and implement sensible practices when 
printing and photocopying. The Authority utilises the Government Procurement Contract with Paper 
Recycling Industries and 240 litre bins are placed at the various physical locations throughout Kings 
Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park.  
 
Information Statement 
 
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides members of the public with the right to apply for 
access to the vast majority of the records held by the Authority. 
 
The Authority’s Information Statement was reviewed and updated in March 2006 providing key 
information about the Authority, a description of the documents held and maintained by the Authority 
and outlining the process for requests or applications submitted under the Freedom of Information 
(FOI) Act. A summary of Authority’s publications produced in 2005/06 can be found in the Publications 
section of this report. 
 
Applicants are encouraged to first contact the Authority by phone, email or in person. Wherever 
possible the Authority endeavours to provide access to information as quickly and easily as possible 
without the client needing to submit a formal request. 
 
Information about making an FOI request can be obtained from the website at www.bgpa.wa.gov.au or 
by contacting the FOI Coordinator: 
 
Director, Business and Visitor Services 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Fraser Avenue 
West Perth  WA  6005 
℡ Tel: 08 9480 3600 

 E-mail: enquiries@bgpa.wa.gov.au
 
No FOI requests were received in 2005/06. 
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Evaluations  
 
The Authority continually reviews its performance through measurement and operational evaluations 
of efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery. The Authority undertakes five yearly reviews of all 
management plans for designated lands and in May 2006 the new Bold Park Management Plan 2006-
2011 was released. This followed an extensive public consultation process. The Kings Park 
Management Plan will be reviewed again in 2009. 
 
Recordkeeping Plans 
 
The Authority has an ongoing commitment to good records management practices and as part of this 
commitment the Authority continues to work towards complying with its Recordkeeping Plan 2004, in 
accordance with the State Records Act 2000. The Authority addresses its compliance with the State 
Records Commission Standard 2 Recordkeeping Plans: Principal 6 – Compliance as follows: 
 
1. The efficiency and effectiveness of the Authority’s recordkeeping plan is evaluated not 

less than once every five years. 

The Authority continues to implement goods records management practises throughout the 
agency. Performance Indicators are to be identified for reporting purposes in 2006/07 and a full 
review of the Recordkeeping Plan’s efficiency and effectiveness is scheduled for 2009. 

 
In addition, the Authority has used off-site storage for its inactive and archival records throughout 
the year. An on-site storage are has now been made available and these records are scheduled 
to be returned in July 2006. 
 

2. The Authority conducts a recordkeeping training program. 

In-house records training continued for employees with an information session on records 
management, responsibilities and disposal being held for the Science Directorate in June 2006. It 
is envisaged that this information session will be delivered to the remaining Directorates before 
the calendar year is completed.  
 
Records Management Staff also attended refresher courses on records responsibilities and 
thesaurus management. 
 

3. The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program is reviewed from 
time to time. 

Following the completion of training sessions for each Directorate, effectiveness of these training 
sessions will be reviewed and refresher sessions scheduled accordingly and additional one on 
one training provided.  

 
4. The Authority’s induction program addresses employees’ roles and responsibilities with 

regard to their compliance with the Authority’s recordkeeping plan. 

Records management training was provided for new employees as required and a review of the 
Induction Program in relation to records management will be conducted in 2006/07.  

 
Major Promotional, Public Relations or Marketing Activities  
 
Advertising and promotional activities were undertaken in relation to the annual Kings Park Wildflower 
Festival, to promote and celebrate Western Australia’s unique floral event. Further promotion and 
marketing activities were undertaken to promote the Authority’s retail outlet Aspects of Kings Park.  
 
Both Aspects of Kings Park and the Wildflower Festival would benefit from further exposure and 
increased public awareness in the future. 
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Advertising 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Section 175ZE of the Western Australian Electoral Act 1907, 
the Authority reports that it incurred the following expenditures for the financial year ended 30 June 
2006 in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising: 
 
Advertising Medium Expenditure Total 
Advertising Agencies 
 Form Contemporary Craft and Design 
 Julia Berney 
 Marketforce Productions 

 
$11,399.69 

$2,240.00 
$7,112.97 

$20,752.66 

Market Research Organisations 
 TNS Global 

 
$3,000.00 

$3,000.00 

Polling Organisations - - 
Direct Mail Organisations 
 Poster Girls 
 Templar 

 
$248.00 
$912.55 

$1,160.55 

Media Advertising organisations 
 Concept Media (Have-a-Go News) 
 Lasso Kip Pty Ltd (Kids in Perth) 
 Mandurah Mail 
 School Matters Newspaper 
 Scoop Publishing 
 State Law Publishing 

 
$676.00 
$194.25 
$213.00 

$1,410.00 
$600.00 
$72.95 

$3,166.20 

Total Expenditure  $28,079.41 
 
Sustainability  
 
The Authority continues to implement its Sustainability Action Plan (2005-2007) in compliance with the 
Sustainability Code of Practice for Government agencies.  
 
As an environmental organisation focussed on conservation, sustainability considerations are key 
factors in guiding, planning and decision making in the Authority, at the strategic Board and Executive 
level and at the operational management level. The Authority has a strong foundation in sustainability, 
as documented in recent strategic and management plans. The Strategic Plan for 2005-2010 
advocates “Achieving and promoting environmental improvements and sustainable practices” and the 
current Management Plans detail a range of principles and strategies related to sustainability.  
 
The Authority is achieving sustainability objectives through energy conservation; incorporating 
sustainability into buildings, facilities and services; research and education; and improved integration 
of services and funding opportunities. The Authority is complying with provisions relating to energy 
efficiency by adhering to State Government policy to recycle wherever practicable, maximising waste 
paper recovery by utilising the whole of State Government contract for waste paper recycling, and 
educating staff in waste paper recycling, efficiency paper usage, and recycling of other materials 
including toner cartridges from printers and copiers. A 2% reduction from the baseline figure was 
achieved in non-transport related energy-use in 2005/06, while further efficiencies in energy use are 
being gained through implementation of energy conservation guidelines, in accordance with the State 
Energy Smart Policy.  
 
The Authority is complying with the Government’s commitment to decrease greenhouse gas emissions 
of the vehicle fleet by reducing unnecessary solo car journeys; promoting travel alternatives; 
decreasing the number of six cylinder vehicles; adopting the use of electric vehicles and smaller 
vehicles e.g. scooters, and four-wheel bikes, and participating in the Carbon Neutral Program.  
 
Sustainable practices continue to be incorporated into the design and construction of new visitor and 
staff facilities and services. Capital works projects have been designed with the incorporation of 
numerous environmental design and sustainability principles. The three new buildings (Western 
Australian Ecology Centre, Biodiversity Conservation Centre and Aspects of Kings Park) all 
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incorporate numerous environmental design principles including passive solar orientation and 
ventilation, natural light, thermal mass and high levels of thermal insulation for energy conservation.  
 
The Authority is actively seeking new sustainable funding and mutually beneficial sponsorship 
opportunities. New alliances are being developed while existing relationships are retained. The 
Authority is establishing formal relationships with other organisations, through the development of 
Memorandums of Understanding or other means, to deliver better services and facilities and to 
improve the effectiveness of biodiversity conservation in Western Australia.  
 
Providing and managing recreational opportunities for visitors that are compatible with long-term 
sustainability and conservation values is a key goal of the Authority. Bushland research and 
restoration projects seek to increase the diversity, robustness and health of these ecosystems for 
long-term sustainability. 
 
Equal Opportunity Employment Outcomes  
 
Equal employment opportunity practices were adhered to and are reflected in a workforce that is 
culturally and linguistically diverse and has a balanced representation of genders at a range of levels 
and in traditional and non-traditional occupations. A review of the Authority’s employee diversity 
resulted in several areas (indigenous employment and people with disabilities) being identified for 
greater focus in future recruitment. The Authority’s Equity and Diversity Plan 2006 – 2011 addresses 
these and a range of other important diversity and equity issues. 
 
Training in cross-cultural awareness is provided as required, as well as refresher sessions on equal 
employment opportunity and other sound selection practices for employees who are required to 
participate in the recruitment process. 
 
Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
 
1. Compliance with Human Resource Management Standards. 

The Authority has procedures designed to ensure compliance and has conducted appropriate 
internal self-assessments to improve processes. The Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management are applied to all human resource practices.  

 
The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the 
2005/2006 reporting period are: 
 
Number lodged:        Nil 
Number of breaches found:      Nil 
Number of breaches claimed withdrawn after lodgement:  Nil 
Number still under review:        Nil 
 

2. Compliance with Codes of Ethics and Codes of Conduct (Ethical Codes). 
New staff are inducted using the induction process. Regular quarterly meetings are scheduled for 
all staff, where the Chief Executive Officer addresses general corporate issues, including required 
standards of behaviour and ethics. 

 
Corruption Prevention 
 
The Authority regularly reviews its risk management register, in accordance with the Treasurer’s 
Instruction 825, using the current Australian Standards Risk Management framework. Throughout 
2004/2005 the Authority commenced a comprehensive review of risk as part of the transition to the 
Riskbase system. This included a focus on organisational risks from misconduct or corruption. The 
Authority will continue to monitor risks in this area and will develop further plans for prevention and/or 
mitigation throughout 2006/2007, using the Australian Standards AS 8001 Fraud and Corruption 
Control framework. 
 
Security of confidential information has been a continued focus over the past year, with improvements 
made in the information system’s security measures, including: improved firewalls; better defined 
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computer access and user policies; use of passwords; and adherence to confidentiality and privacy 
requirements. 
 
New employees are inducted to ensure they are fully aware of acceptable and unacceptable 
behaviours in the workplace, and of the consequences of misconduct. The organisational values have 
been frequently emphasised in staff meetings throughout the year. In addition, regular internal audit 
reviews are conducted and recommendations are promptly actioned, to ensure good controls and 
procedures are in place to prevent misconduct or corruption.  
 
The Authority has an Audit Committee to oversee compliance and assist in governance 
improvements. 
 
Managers have received training and information to assist them in managing teams effectively and 
preventing corruption, including using performance management systems and team building, based 
on the Authority’s principles of accountability, honesty and transparency. There are clear procedures 
to ensure confidentiality and protection if any allegation of corruption or serious misconduct is made. 
 
Public Interest Disclosures 
 
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 facilitates the disclosure of public interest information by 
providing protection for those who make disclosures and those who are the subject of disclosures.  
 
The Authority’s internal procedures are available to employees and members of the public in full on 
the Authority’s website www.bgpa.wa.gov.au or by contacting the nominated Public Interest Disclosure 
(PID) Officer: 
 
Director, Business and Visitor Services 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Fraser Avenue 
West Perth  WA  6005 
℡ Tel: 08 9480 3600 

 E-mail: mbroderick@bgpa.wa.gov.au  
 
The Authority is committed to ensuring confidentiality and to providing protection from detrimental 
action, for those who make a disclosure of public interest information, and the identity of the person 
who is the subject of a disclosure.  
 
The PID Officer attended training and information sessions provided by the Office of Public Sector 
Standards Commission (OPSSC) on the amended procedures in 2005/06. The PID Officer briefed 
senior officers and mangers about Public Interest Disclosure and the Authority’s procedures at 
Corporate Executive and Manager’s meetings and staff are advised at regular all-staff meetings. The 
PID brochure, available from the OPSSC, is provided in the staff induction package.  
 
There were no Public Interest Disclosures in the Authority for 2005/2006. 
 
Services (Goods or Services)  
 
The Authority offers visitors a range of products and services including: 
 
Visitor Facilities and Recreation 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden has 14 pavilions, rotundas and grassed areas are available for hire. 
The Lotterywest Federation Walkway is open daily from 9.00am to 5.00pm. BBQs are available free of 
charge located in key visitor areas. Playgrounds, the State’s botanic garden, guided and self-guided 
walks and memorials. Kings Park bushland has 29 kms of bushland tracks for walkers. 
 
Bold Park bushland has a 24 km network of walking trails, bridle trail and the interpretive Camel Lake 
Heritage Trail. Reabold Hill Boardwalk and Lookout is open daily (some vehicle restrictions apply). 
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Food and Beverage 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden has two café outlets, Zamia Café in Synergy Parkland and 
Stickybeaks in the Lotterywest Family Area; the Fraser’s kiosk, tearooms, function centre and 
restaurant on Fraser Avenue (with the proposed Botanical Café due to open late 2006). 
 
Retail 
Aspects of Kings Park offers an extensive and unique range of giftware, jewellery, art and craft for 
sale. All proceeds from the sale of goods at Aspects of Kings Park support the Authority's commitment 
to the unique Western Australian environment. 
 
The Aboriginal Art Gallery offers a range of indigenous products and gifts. 
 
Publications and Information 
Informative brochures and maps, website and interpretative signage are produced (Refer to 
Publications section for more information). 
 
Pricing Policies on Services 
 
The Authority charges for goods and services rendered on a full or partial cost recovery basis and in 
accordance with penalties applied under the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Regulations 1999. 
 
Entry to and parking within the Authority’s designated lands is free of charge. Entrance to special 
events, such as the annual Kings Park Wildflower Festival, has a nominal entrance fee and includes 
fees appropriate to families, children and concession card holders. Costs of events in the Summer 
Events Program, such as the outdoor cinema, concerts and theatre productions, are applied by the 
event organiser. 
 
Fees and charges for functions are applied according to the type of function and the location or venue 
requested. Further nominal charges are applied for power usage and alcohol permits. Fees and 
charges, application forms and conditions of use are available on the Authority’s website. 
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Report on Operations 
 
Horticulture and Conservation Directorate 
 
Directorate Objectives 
 
 Provide, improve and promote recreational and tourism services and facilities on the designated 

land. 
 Conserve and enhance any native biological diversity of the designated land. 
 Conserve and enhance the natural environment, landscape features and amenity of the designated 

land. 
 Conserve, develop, manage, display, and undertake research into, collections of Western 

Australian and other flora. 
 Enhance and promote the understanding and conservation of the biological diversity of the 

designated land and of biological diversity generally. 
 Conserve, enhance and promote the Aboriginal, colonial and contemporary cultural heritage of the 

designated land. 
 Promote the use of flora for the purposes of horticulture, conservation and education. 

 
These objectives reflect the specific functions of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 
and are undertaken with an emphasis towards horticulture and biodiversity conservation. 
 
Overview 
 
The Horticulture and Conservation Directorate was under the leadership of an Acting Director, rotated 
between two managers until the appointment of Digby Growns as Director in November 2005. 
 
Directorate staff have continued to demonstrate high levels of dedication and enthusiasm to the 
management and maintenance of Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park, with high standards 
achieved in all areas. 
 
Events of particular note include  
 The release of the 2006-2011 Bold Park Management Plan, launched by the Hon. Mark McGowan, 

Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming in May 2006. 
 The design and extension of the rock catch fence along the base of the scarp adjacent to Mounts 

Bay Road plus the design of a high capacity fence on the eastern part of the scarp base. 
 Significant bushland restoration planting and weed control in Kings Park and Bold Park. 
 The completion of the refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family Area, including the Ivey Watson 

Playground. 
 The release of the books Perth Plants and Australian Seeds. 
 The commencement of Stage Two of the Deep Sewerage Project. 
 The international testing of 270 hybrid Scaevola lines. 
 The completion of an intensive assessment of the Lemon Scented gums on Fraser Avenue. 

 
Biodiversity Conservation 
 
The Biodiversity Conservation teams in Kings Park bushland and Bold Park continued to implement 
priority strategies in the respective Management Plans for each site with a strong sense of 
commitment and enthusiasm. In addition to the ongoing ecological restoration, monitoring and 
maintenance programs being implemented, the capital works program continued, on a reduced scale 
from previous years, to upgrade existing and install new infrastructure in both Kings Park bushland 
and Bold Park. 
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Fire Management 
 
Implementation of strategies as documented in the Fire Management and Response Plan continued in 
Bold Park and Kings Park bushland. The Operational Response Protocol between the Authority and 
the Fire and Emergency Services Authority (FESA) was implemented successfully in relation to fire 
response and training of staff. The emergency pager used by Fire Management Officers proved to be 
a useful resource for co-ordination of fire response between the two authorities. The Air Operations 
branch of FESA conducted two training sessions for fire staff at Kings Park and Botanic Garden that 
included a briefing session and demonstration of the use of Helitacs in fire response. 
 
There were ten small fires recorded in Kings Park and Botanic Garden this year that burnt a total area 
of only 0.13 hectares. Six of the ten fires involved setting alight individual grass trees adjacent to 
carparks, with little or no other vegetation burnt, and the remaining four fires were believed to have 
been deliberately lit but were quickly extinguished. The arson squad investigated all ten fires. There 
were no fires recorded in Bold Park this year. 
 
Three new fire hydrants were installed near Hale Oval in Kings Park and Botanic Garden as part of an 
ongoing upgrade to fire fighting resources and a new fire filling point was installed at Reabold Hill in 
Bold Park. Operations relating to fire management included fuel reduction through weed control 
activities and maintenance of a network of trails to provide clear access for emergency vehicles.  
 
Mt Eliza Escarpment and Kings Park Bushland 
 
Risk Management 
 
All paths on and along the base of the escarpment remained closed for the year as a result of a 
Ministerial directive in June 2005, with the exception of the Crawley Steps that were reopened on 3 
October 2005. The directive to close the paths was a precautionary measure taken for public safety, 
following a significant rockfall onto a pedestrian path on 10 June 2005, which prompted further 
detailed investigation of the landslide risks and potential risk treatment measures. An expert 
consultant completed a Quantitative Landslide Risk Assessment in 2006 for the areas of the 
escarpment in the vicinity of the paths. The final report documents the risk from a rockfall or land 
slippage as being extremely low, particularly if additional risk treatment measures are introduced in 
these areas. 
 
Design of high capacity rock catch fencing to protect people and property along the base of the 
escarpment was completed for construction during the second half of 2006. The length and height of 
existing rock catch fencing along Mounts Bay Road was extended and a large unstable boulder was 
restrained with drape netting to provide additional protection from rockfalls for motorists. Other risk 
treatment measures undertaken as recommended in geotechnical reports included under walling of 
identified boulders to improve slope stability, slope grooming and removal of loose rocks. Biannual 
geotechnical inspections were also completed. A section of Lovers Walk along the base of the scarp 
was permanently closed for public safety, with bitumen removed and revegetation planting completed.  
 
Vegetation along all bushland paths was pruned to minimise hazards and facilitate safe access for 
visitors and fire vehicles. 
 
Conservation and Restoration 
 
A significant weed control program continued throughout the year and was a major focus for field staff. 
The woody weeding program targeted 34 species with the outcome of introduced woody species now 
removed from 80% of the Kings Park and Botanic Garden bushland. 60 hectares of the bushland 
plateau and ten kilometres of track edges were sprayed for veld grass and 35 hectares were sprayed 
to control introduced bulbous species. In addition, over 100 populations of highly invasive weeds were 
targeted for control measures. 
 
Bridal creeper on the escarpment was controlled using a combination of biological control and 
herbicides. A rust fungus was spread previously as a biological control agent in areas where access is 
difficult for spraying, and herbicide spraying was undertaken in more accessible areas. More sites on 
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the north-eastern end of the escarpment were cleared of the invasive Century plant (Agave 
americana). 
 
Restoration planting continued in accordance with the five-year restoration plan with around 20,000 
seedlings planted in the 2005 season. Focus sites included the slopes behind the Mount Hospital; the 
footprint of the former Hackett’s Path; the Swan Carpark/Dryandra Lookout area; and the margins of 
Law Walk. The dry start to winter in 2006 delayed planting except in sites with temporary irrigation 
installed. Monitoring of past restoration planting continued and results were incorporated into this 
year’s planning. 
 
Seed collection was undertaken during late spring and summer with 50 endemic species collected, 
processed for storage and recorded in the Authority’s database. The volunteer program with regular 
assistance provided by the Friends of Kings Park Bushland Carers throughout the year, the Master 
Gardeners provided planting assistance, as did some corporate groups. A partially sponsored trial of 
Conservation Volunteers Australia was also implemented for two weeks.  
 
Visitor Facilities 
 
New signs were installed at all key entry points to the bushland, welcoming visitors and orientating 
them to the site. Design work to upgrade the Nature Trail interpretive signs commenced with a focus 
on biodiversity within the bushland. A new bushland map brochure was prepared for visitors, which 
highlights some suggested walks. 
 
A new drinking fountain was installed at the Nature Trail entry and the design of a mosaic artwork to 
be inlaid in the paving within the mia-mia feature at the Nature Trail entry was completed. 
 
Several talks were presented to a range of community groups and tertiary education classes, some of 
which included a field component. 
 
Bold Park 
 
The recruitment of a new Environmental Manager at Bold Park in July 2005 was a significant step in 
rebuilding the environmental team at Bold Park after several staff changes in the previous year. 
Although there has been additional staff turnover during this year, the new staff are showing a strong 
sense of commitment to the tasks at hand and have settled in as effective team members. A reduced 
capital works program from previous years provided an opportunity for consolidation and evaluation of 
past activities and planning for the future. 
 
Management Plan 
 
A review of the inaugural Bold Park Environmental 
Management Plan 2000-2005 was completed as 
required under Part 4 of the Botanic Gardens and 
Parks Authority Act 1998. The Draft Bold Park 
Management Plan 2005-2010 was released for 
public comment on 1 July 2005 for two months. A 
total of 32 submissions were received on the Plan 
from individuals, community groups and government 
organisations; the majority of which showed strong 
support for the Plan. In addition, consultation with 
the Aboriginal representatives on the Authority’s 
Indigenous Reference Group was very positive with 
unanimous support shown by members. An Audit of 

Public Submissions was prepared, which details the 
comments received, clarifies the Authority’s position 
on matters raised in the submissions and describes 
the changes made to the final plan subsequent to 

e submission period.  

The Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming, the Hon. Mark 
McGowan MLA, launching the Management Plan with CEO, Mark Webb, 
Deputy Chair of the BGPA Board Mr Ross Willcock and Dr Liz Constable. 
Photo: S King 

th
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The Minister for the Environment; Racing and Gaming, the Hon. Mark McGowan, officially launched 
the Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011 at Reabold Hill in Bold Park on 27 May 2006. The Plan 
builds upon the publicly endorsed objectives and strategies in the inaugural plan, identifies changes 
since the inaugural plan and highlights priorities for the next five years.  
 
It is a compact, colourful and easy to read document, which will serve both as an educational and 
informative booklet on future management as well as a promotional tool for the conservation, 
education and recreation objectives of the Authority in the management of Bold Park. The inaugural 
plan remains as a valuable reference resource to support the new plan.  
 
Minor adjustments to the Plan through adaptive management may be required during its five-year 
term. In the event that a major change in the direction or the intent of the Plan arises, an amendment 
requiring full public consultation would be considered. A copy of the Bold Park Management Plan 
2006-2011 is available on the Authority’s website. 
 
Conservation and Restoration 
 
As part of the review of the management plan, flora, fauna and fungi species lists were updated and a 
new biodiversity register was created. A new book published by the Authority in December 2005, 
Perth Plants, contributed information for the register and documents all flora currently recorded in Bold 
Park including introduced species; identifying 310 known extant native taxa and 232 naturalised 
introduced taxa. The list of the 15 most vulnerable flora species was revised following an extensive 
flora survey completed in 2005, and all 15 species were recorded as present when monitored. 
 
A fungi survey conducted during 2005 identified 60 new species not previously recorded in Bold Park, 
bringing the total number of species to 280. Almost all of these are considered to be indigenous. A 
comprehensive bird survey has been conducted over the past year, recording one day in each 
season, with significant assistance from Birds Australia volunteers. Following the final survey early in 
July 2006, results will be collated and published.  
 
Surveys and research by external individuals in co-operation with the Authority have provided valuable 
information on herpetofauna, ants and butterflies in Bold Park, which has been added to the 
biodiversity register.  
 
The restoration planting program continued in focus sites including the Eastern Gateway, Oceanic 
precinct, Mount Claremont and Reabold Hill. The greatest focus was on Reabold Hill following the 
construction of the new entry road and summit boardwalk and lookout. More than 60,000 plants were 
planted during the winter of 2005 in these sites, assisted by volunteers. The Friends of Bold Park 
Bushland Care Day attracted many volunteers who helped with planting in the Eastern Gateway area. 
The Friends also assisted through their fortnightly working bees during winter and spring. 
 
Some planting was implemented during June 2006, including an operational scale trial near West 
Coast Highway, testing positive outcomes from previous greenstock research trials in Bold Park, 
relating to the timing of initial veld grass spraying just prior to planting. Tree guards were used on 
selected species in all sites to help protect them from rabbit predation. An irrigation line and pump 
system from the bore near Perry House to Reabold Hill was installed, to enable temporary irrigation of 
planting sites around the summit. This proved to be useful for the 2006 plantings due to the lack of 
rainfall during May and June. Monitoring of restoration planting has continued with a range of survival 
rates from 35% to 79% survival recorded after one year.  
 
Weed control was a high priority activity during the year. Restoration planting sites were targeted for 
control of veld grass, rose pelargonium and Geraldton Carnation with species led weed control 
throughout the whole site of highly invasive weeds with limited distribution. These species include 
bulbous species such as Black Flag, Freesia, Watsonia and African Cornflag, grasses such as 
Tambookie grass and Fountain grass, as well as a range of woody weeds. In addition, 18 hectares 
within the Oceanic precinct but outside the planting areas were sprayed for veld grass and 17.5 
hectares sprayed for rose pelargonium. 
 
A program to distinguish and protect the local form of Chamelaucium uncinatum (Wembley Wax, 
which is unique to Bold Park), from the introduced Geraldton Wax form and hybrids between the two 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 2005-2006 Annual Report 37 



was implemented. Geraldton Wax and hybrids were removed following research staff verification of 
identification. The Oceanic precinct was targeted as the highest priority with other areas identified for 
future work. Conservation Volunteers Australia assisted with these works as part of a partially 
sponsored program. 
  
Seed from 115 native plant species was collected during the season including eight species not 
previously collected. In addition, seed from seven of the 15 most vulnerable species was collected and 
stored.  
 
Visitor Facilities 
 
Following the publication of a new map brochure incorporating some revised trail names, directional 
signs in Bold Park were reviewed to match the information in the brochure. Design of new entry and 
directional signs is well advanced, with implementation anticipated by September 2006. A new bird 
brochure for Bold Park was produced with the format reflecting the Authority Style Guide for 
publications. 
 
Additional seats were installed on the Reabold Hill summit boardwalk at the intermediate lookout 
platforms, designed in keeping with the structure and existing seats at the summit. New fencing along 
steep slopes adjacent to Scenic Walk was installed for public safety to match the style of fencing at 
the Reabold Hill carpark, and drainage works in the vicinity were completed to reduce erosion and 
manage run off.  
 
The closure of Scenic Drive to vehicles at night has resulted in a significant reduction in vandalism and 
anti-social behaviour in this precinct at night with some inconvenience to only a small number of 
regular visitors. Pedestrian and cyclist access remains open at all times.  
 
A visitor survey was conducted during May and June 2006 to seek public feedback about Bold Park 
and its management. 100% of those who responded indicated their overall satisfaction with the Park, 
although 19% indicated they were not satisfied with the condition of the trails. A programmed upgrade 
of the trails was deferred due to revised funding priorities but will proceed during the 2006/07 financial 
year. 
 
The Tamala Room in the Western Australian Ecology Centre has recorded a steady increase in the 
number of bookings for events during the year, despite an absence of any active promotion of the 
facility. Past events have included workshops, conferences and meetings for government agencies, 
non-government bodies, community and industry groups, as well as publication launches and 
Authority organised activities. Feedback from participants and event organisers about the venue and 
its surroundings has been very positive. 
 
Horticulture and Assets 
 
The continued development of horticultural and maintenance practices within the Park has ensured 
that the high quality of turf, garden bed and arboricultural standards established over the last few 
years has continued.  
 

The Biodiversity Conservation Centre was fitted out, 
and opened by the Hon. Dr Judy Edwards, Minister 
for the Environment; Science, in August 2005. This 
new facility provides staff with a vastly improved 
standard of office space and laboratory work areas. 
The co-location of the research, horticultural, 
bushland and visitor services staff in one building has 
delivered significantly better inter-directorate 
communications and collaboration resulting in 
improved transfer of knowledge from the science 
staff to application by technical and horticultural staff. 
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Biodiversity Conservation Centre. 
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The refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family Area, funded by Lotterywest through the Friends of Kings 
Park, has resolved some of the long standing problems with this playground by better design of 
access, turf and playground areas. This work coupled with the construction of the Royal Kings Park 
Tennis Club/Next Generation Clubs building, has meant that access to the Hale Oval precinct has 
been restricted for most of the year. The refurbished playground was opened in April 2006 and has 
proved highly popular with children and parents. 
 
Risk assessment and security issues continue to be addressed with documented inspections and 
implementation of recommendations from security analysis reports by students from Edith Cowan 
University, Joondalup. 
 
Implementation of research findings, both from within the Authority’s Science Directorate and from 
other organisations, has assisted in pest and disease control and tree management throughout Kings 
Park and Botanic Garden. 
 
Radio communications within Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park were upgraded providing 
a much improved and reliable level of communications across both parks. 
 
The horticultural and botanical records systems are functioning well and providing the information 
required to manage the collections effectively.  
 
The position of the Australian Millennium Seed Bank (MSB) Co-ordinator was filled late in the year, 
with the appointee choosing to be located in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. This position is fully 
funded by the MSB project and is tasked with both co-ordinating the current MSB activities of all the 
Australian states and establishing a way forward for seed conservation in Australia after MSB funding 
ceases in about 2009.  
 
Herbarium 
 
The Authority’s Reference Herbarium continues to provide essential identification and classification 
services to the Authority, ensuring that seed and plant material is properly identified before being 
added to the collections, labelled or sent to other agencies. Linked through the botanical database, 
this service ensures that plant names are correct and current. A minor review of procedures has 
improved the efficiency of identifications, in particular for collections for the MSB project. 
 
Western Australian Seed Technology Centre (WASTC) 
 
The collecting, cleaning, testing and storing of seed in response to the requirements of the Western 
Australian Botanic Garden remains the core business of the WASTC.  
 
The Seed Bank has moved into a room within the Biodiversity Conservation Centre and the previous 
accommodation converted into a drying room, courtesy of funds from the Friends of Kings Park and 
the MSB project. The drying room has improved the efficiency and quality of the WASTC seed 
processing by ensuring that seeds reach optimal dryness as quickly as possible after collection.   
 
The WASTC Curator and Seed Technician now share office space in close proximity to the seed 
research scientists, resulting in information from research being applied much more immediately to the 
practical aspects of seed storage and processing.  
 
The second phase of the MSB project is well underway with 151 duplicate collections sent during the 
year to the seed bank at Wakehurst Place in the UK for long-term storage.  
 
The WASTC Curator made over 350 collections during the year from collecting trips throughout the 
state, with key trips focused on the Kimberley and the Esperance regions to take advantage of 
seasonal variations.  
 
The book “Australian Seeds”, a comprehensive work on the collection, storage and identification of 
native seeds, was launched on 1 June 2006. Published by CSIRO, this book is the culmination of 
almost 10 years work by the editors; the Curator of the WASTC and the Seed Research Scientist. 
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The WASTC expedition along the Canning Stock Route in June/July 2005 was successful in attracting 
24 paying volunteers to assist with seed collection activities and in producing collections to contribute 
to the MSB project as well as for Kings Park and Botanic Garden.  
 
Parkland and Turf 
 
The Parkland and Turf staff are dedicated to maintaining the parkland areas of Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden. The refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family area provided an opportunity to integrate plants 
and turf into an intensively used children’s playground with the challenge to select plants and trees 
that can be used with confidence in children’s play areas. Experience gained from methods used to 
protect plants at Synergy Parkland has proved valuable in this work. 
The turf team continued their excellent work in maintaining and developing the lawns in Kings Park 
and Botanic Garden. Monitoring soil moisture and fertiliser levels in high profile areas has provided 
data to help manage water and fertiliser application resulting in reduced application rates and less 
wastage. Ongoing research and involvement with the UWA Kikuyu Research Project continues to 
provide additional information and feedback to assist with achieving high levels of turf management.  
 
Replanting in the garden beds around the State War Memorial, Wishing Well and along the Nursery 
border provided colourful displays for the many ceremonies and events held in the Fraser Avenue 
precinct and resulted in positive comments from visitors. 
 
Park Operations 
 
The Operations Team continue to provide assistance in all aspects of the maintenance and 
development in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. These activities included setting up and dismantling 
infrastructure for events, in particular the Wildflower Festival; installation and maintenance of signage 
and attending to normal day-to-day operations (such as infrastructure repairs, maintenance and 
cleaning particularly in response to vandalism and graffiti). 
 
The popularity of the playgrounds in Kings Park and Botanic Garden has created a need for increased 
maintenance and inspection procedures. The Operations team refurbished much of the existing 
playground equipment for the Lotterywest Family Area ensuring that it met current playground safety 
standards. 
 
The Community Justice teams continued their good work assisting the Operations Team with path 
restoration, splitting firewood for barbeques, mulching, laying pavers and assisting with works related 
to the set up and dismantling of events. 
 
The Honour Avenues Maintenance Group 
 
This hard-working volunteer group continued their outstanding work in the restoration and repair of 
plaques and posts in the Honour Avenues, with funding assistance provided by the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet. Community interest in the memorial drives has resulted in an increase in the 
number of plaques installed.  
 
Several services have occurred throughout the year for families dedicating plaques to deceased family 
members. (See the Honour Avenues Maintenance Group Report). 
 
Botanic Gardens and Display 
 
The Botanic Garden Team continued to implement the Thematic Plan and Botanic Garden 
Masterplan, resulting in significant plantings being incorporated throughout the gardens. The focus this 
year was within the following gardens beds: Kangaroo Paws and Wax, Boronia, Bushland transition, 
Wheatbelt flora, Banksia, Botanic Garden Entrance and Northern Sand plain. 
 
Garden beds surrounding the Lotterywest Federation Walkway flourished, making this significant 
access point to the Western Australian Botanic Garden a great experience for visitors. 
 
Since the official launch of the Volunteers Garden in December 2003 and the restoration of the 
Wildflower Pavilion, planning is well underway for this garden to become part of the broader concept 
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of the Conservation Garden, with plantings, interpretative signage and landscape works to be carried 
out during the next financial year. The focus will be on significant threatened habitats and plant 
species found throughout Western Australia. 
 
The Western Botanic Gardens continued to be an extremely popular venue with over 209,000 people 
visiting the high profile area around the Pioneer Women’s Memorial Fountain and over 378,000 people 
walking down to the lower part of the Water Garden. Over 553,000 people visited the area opposite 
John Forrest Memorial. The Lotterywest Federation Walkway continues to be a significant draw card 
within the Botanic Gardens, attracting nearly 556,000 people during the year. 
 
The annual Kings Park Wildflower Festival celebrated the Western Australian flora, its diversity and 
how the broader community can enjoy and use the flora in the domestic situation. This was achieved 
by displaying a number of home garden settings with the take home message that ‘you can do it’, 
linked with plants being available for sale courtesy of the Friends of Kings Park. 
 
The Kings Park Nursery continues to play a key role in ensuring the supply of high quality and 
disease-free plants for projects within the Botanic Garden, Wildflower Festival and for ten threatened 
flora recovery programs for the Department of Conservation and Land Management. Their specialist 
skills made it possible to increase the diversity of the living collections in the Botanic Garden. New 
acquisitions were displayed to the public as the Thematic Plan continues to be implemented.  
 
Arboriculture 
 
The purchase of a new elevated work platform has enabled the Authority’s Arborist to do more work 
in-house, increased efficiency and reduced the amount of work contracted out. The appointment of an 
arboricultural student for a year has enabled the Arborist to extend his range of work and, together 
with some in-house training for horticultural staff, has delivered a considerable increase in the amount 
of tree management achieved this year. 
 
As part of the ongoing tree management program, a contract was let to check all the Lemon Scented 
Gums in Fraser Avenue and the trees in May Drive by the Synergy Parkland, to remove dead wood 
and lighten canopy loads where necessary. Another contract was let to remove over 50 dead trees 
from around the park. It is considered that the reduction in rainfall over the past few years has 
contributed significantly to the stress on these trees, mostly mature pine trees, resulting in their death. 
Replacements are planted as part of the tree management program. 
 
Options for the long term management of all the Honour Avenues have been developed during the 
year and will be verified through a workshop with stakeholders and interested parties.  
 
The Arborist has developed closer liaison with the Technical and Further Education colleges to enable 
students to use Kings Park and Botanic Garden as a venue for training and with the International 
Society of Arboriculture to hold events within the Park. These projects are intended to help raise the 
profile of professional arboriculture within Western Australia and improve professionalism within the 
industry, highlighting the Authority as a leader in Arboriculture in Australia. 
 
Remedial work, derived from Authority research using injected iron to address chlorotic decline 
syndrome, has proved successful and some affected trees are showing significant benefits from the 
treatment.  
 
Plant Development 
 
The Plant Development team is involved with the development of Australian native species for 
horticulture, in order to derive a greater utility from the remarkable diversity present in our native flora. 
It incorporates an active plant breeding program, the selection of desirable plants from the wild in 
order to gain the best genetic material, as well as horticultural research into plant biology, plant 
breeding systems, plant propagation, grafting and plant cultivation. 
 
Production of new plant varieties and forms, horticultural products and techniques and the increased 
use of native plants in the urban landscape are major objectives of the plant development program. 
The opportunity to introduce new plant products into domestic and global markets offers a unique 
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medium to promote and utilise the Australian flora. Traditional markets in horticulture are now seeking 
new products and the diversity in Australian flora has focused attention on Australian plants as a 
source of new material. It is anticipated that development of the flora, in the long term, will be linked 
with its conservation for future generations by improving the understanding and enjoyment of the local 
flora and by supporting conservation programs. 
 
During the year, over 270 varieties have been transferred to Ball Flora – the partner in the 
Goodeniaceae development program – for inclusion in their international testing programs. The Ball 
Flora program includes capital inputs until 2007 and royalty arrangements. It also provides access to 
large ornamental plant markets and opportunities to position a number of plant products for possible 
commercial release. 

 
The Goodeniaceae development program is currently 
focused on the production of hybrid Scaevola. Several new 
hybrids have been produced and are being evaluated. Over 
6000 crosses were made resulting in over 150 progeny.  
During the year developmental work was also carried out 
on a range of other genera including Stylidium, Boronia, 
Lobelia, Anigozanthos, Grevillea, Dampiera and Goodenia. 
 
Ongoing collection activities have been undertaken to 
increase the genetic resources available for the 
development programs. 
 

Scaevola aemula hybrid  
Photo: K Bryceson 
During the year the development of the Future Directions Garden at Synergy Parkland was completed. 
It showcases and promotes Australian plants and demonstrates their use for urban environments. 
 
The 2005 Wildflower Festival also had strong links to Plant Development being based on the utility of 
Australian plants and focusing on their use in the home garden and notably the technique, developed 
by the Authority, for transplanting mature eucalypts from deep sand profiles. 
 
Engineering 
 
Stage Two of the Deep Sewerage Project has commenced, to connect the Zamia Café and four public 
toilet blocks in the Synergy Parkland and Saw Avenue areas to sewers. 
 
Although several groundwater bores needed attention during the season, the treatment ponds and 
pump stations performed well with no significant interruption to the irrigation water supply. The system 
provides water with low iron and manganese content to the Parklands and Botanic Garden, 
significantly increasing the working life of the irrigation system and reducing staining of landscape 
features. A consultant has been commissioned to review irrigation plant requirements prior to the 
design of a major refurbishment of the pump-stations and filtration systems. 
 
Improved management control of irrigation, combined with the cooler than usual summer season, 
ensured that the total groundwater usage for irrigation and water feature maintenance was well below 
the licence allocation. Usage totalled 511Ml; the licence allocation is 580 Ml. 
Additional vehicle classifiers were acquired, and utilised to provide more accurate information on traffic 
flows and visitation levels at each of the road entries into Kings Park and Botanic Garden.  
 
Digby Growns 
DIRECTOR, HORTICULTURE AND CONSERVATION 
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Business and Visitor Services Directorate 
 
Directorate Objectives 
 
 Provide, improve and promote recreational and tourism services and facilities on the designated 

land. 
 Enhance and promote the understanding and conservation of the biological diversity of the 

designated land and of biological diversity generally. 
 Conserve, enhance and promote the Aboriginal, colonial and contemporary cultural heritage of the 

designated land. 
 Promote the use of flora for the purposes of horticulture, conservation and education. 

 
These objectives reflect the specific functions of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 
and are undertaken with an emphasis towards business and visitor services including employee 
services, financial management, strategic planning, education, events, volunteers, retail and 
administrative matters. 
 
Overview 
 
The staff of the Business and Visitor Services Directorate continue to work diligently in the wide range 
of activities undertaken. 
 
Significant achievements this year include: 
 Release of the Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011 following extensive public consultation and 

review. 
 Development of the Equity and Diversity Plan 2006-2011 to further improve fair and equitable 

recruitment and work practices. 
 Significant review and subsequent major improvements in the financial management planning, 

reporting and budgeting processes, with increased transparency and reliability on financial 
information. 

 Review and improvement in records management, particularly in archival records. 
 The ‘Colours of Australia’ 2005 Wildflower Festival that attracted media, interstate and local 

visitors. 
 The Authority hosted a number of large events including concerts, theatre, outdoor cinema and the 

opening of the Perth International Arts Festival. These events ensure increased community to 
access to Kings Park and Botanic Garden as well as the traditionally large crowds on ANZAC Day 
and Australia Day and for community celebrations such as Boxing Day, Mother’s Day and Easter. 

 The education service was revised, with new education programs developed including children’s 
theatre and indigenous cultural walks. 

 Aspects of Kings Park retail outlet has delighted visitors with outstanding displays of innovative, 
botanically themed art and design. This unique shop has increased the public profile and visitor 
experience in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 

 
Visitor Services 
 
Visitor Liaison 
 
The Authority’s Park Management Officers (PMOs) play an essential role in all visitor liaisons, 
providing front line customer service to Park visitors in relation to their bookings or other issues. The 
PMOs maintain daily contact with the Kings Park Guides through the Visitor Information Centre and 
regular interactions with all lease operators.  
 
Part of the PMO role is to ensure visitors comply with Authority’s Regulations, to ensure the safety and 
enjoyment of the facilities for all visitors. This year, 473 infringement notices were issued, 431 of which 
were for parking offences and 42 for other offences, including speeding. 
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Two new PMOs commenced in 2005/2006 and successfully passed the Law Enforcement Training 
Course and received their Certificates and Badges.  
 
The Kings Park Guides donated 8,996 hours of public contact to visitors to Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden and fielded around 47,800 enquiries (in the Visitor Information Centre and during the 2005 
Wildflower Festival). In addition, approximately 4,340 people participated in guided walks led by the 
Kings Park Guides in the Park. For further information, please see the report by the Kings Park Guides 
in this Annual Report. 
 
The front reception at Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park provide daily visitor/customer 
liaison in person, over the phone or by email on a range of services such as events and functions, 
enquiries, complaints and communications.  
 
Visitor Feedback and Complaints Handling Procedures 
 
Visitor feedback plays a critical role in general management and planning. Visitor Surveys are 
conducted annually, in both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park, to assess visitor 
satisfaction with services, facilities and the overall visitor experience to the Parks. Results of these 
surveys are also used to provide data for the Authority’s Key Performance Indicators, published each 
year in the Annual Report.  
 
Other communications are received via the Kings Park Guides Visitor Information Centre, the 
Authority’s website and the front reception at both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. An 
internal process was introduced in 2002 in accordance with the whole of Government Complaints 
Handling Guidelines, to ensure all comments, suggestions or complaints were recorded and timely 
action taken.  
 
All formal communications are recorded on an internal Communications Form and are entered into the 
Authority’s records management system and the Authority’s Communications Register. The 
Communications register is proving a useful tool for assessing ongoing visitor feedback to identify the 
key issues the Authority faces in providing effective services to its visitors. In 2005/2006 the Authority 
received 142 formally recorded communications of which 104 were complaints, 4 compliments and 33 
suggestions. 
 
As well, in July 2005, the opportunity was provided for visitors, and members of the community to 
provide submissions and feedback during public consultation process for the review of the 2000-2005 
Bold Park Management Plan.  
 
Functions 
 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden remained a popular location for the many weddings, family, private 
and corporate functions. In 2005/06 the Bookings Office processed 1,142 bookings for private 
functions, with 383 of these for weddings and 179 for corporate functions. Approximately 56,202 
people visited Kings Park and Botanic Garden as a result of these booked functions.  
 
Events 
 
A number of events were held again this year to enhance visitor enjoyment. The summer events 
series of concert and theatre performances and the outdoor cinema attracted approximately 70,000 
visitors. The 2005 Wildflower festival attracted 22,550 visitors and ANZAC Day, New Year’s Eve and 
Skyworks contributed a further 78,000 visitors. Attendances for the outdoor cinema and theatre were 
down by approximately 20% due to the cooler summer nights.  
 
2005 Wildflower Festival 
The 2005 Wildflower Festival attracted 22,550 people over five days. Held in September/October, the 
annual Festival provides a stunning showcase of the beauty and intricacies of the State’s indigenous 
flora.  
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The central display featured a series of mini-landscapes titled The Colours of Australia and promoted 
the use of native flora in home gardens. Each garden bay had a different style or theme and was 
colour coordinated so that the pots and mulching materials complemented the brilliant hues of the 
Western Australian flora, surrounded by massed displays in the garden beds.  
 
Local exhibitors offered many unique items for sale, music, entertainment and refreshments were 
available and a speakers’ program was delivered covering a comprehensive range of talks and 
demonstrations on the theme of WA flora. 
 
Concerts 
Mellen Events presented Joe Cocker in December 
2005, who performed to a capacity audience of 
5,700 people and in March 2006 IL Divo, who 
performed to a combined audience of 12,000 
people over two nights. 
 
The five Western Australian Symphony Orchestra 
Concerts in the Botanic Garden attracted close to 
19,000 people in total. The two sell-out concerts 
with Nigel Kennedy were very successful.  WASO concert in Kings Park 

Photo: C Rowett  
Theatre 
The theatrical performance of Shakespeare’s comedy Twelfth Night was presented by Deckchair 
Theatre from December 2005 to January 2006 in the Botanic Garden. The performances attracted 
9,380 people. 
 
Prompt Corner presented Wizard of OZ at the Saw Avenue Amphitheatre in January 2006, attracting 
2,546 children and adults during the season. 
 
Outdoor Cinema 
Outdoor movies, presented by Moonlight Cinema in the Western Power Parkland, attracted 21,587 
people during its second season.  
 
Other Events 
More than 11,000 people came to Kings Park and Botanic Garden to celebrate New Year’s Eve. 
 
The annual Australia Day Skyworks event on the Swan River attracted approximately 32,000 people 
who watched from various vantage points in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
 
The Perth International Arts Festival, Indigenous Welcome to Country ceremony dance and unveiling 
of a Noongar painting, attracted 2,700 this was a free event and it was the first time it had been held 
within Kings Park and Botanic Garden.  
 
The annual ANZAC Day Dawn Service attracted over 35,000 people. 
 
Volunteers 
 
The Authority is very fortunate to have the committed involvement of five dedicated volunteer groups: 
The Friends of Kings Park; The Kings Park Guides; The Master Gardeners; The Honour Avenues 
Maintenance Group; and The Friends of Bold Park Bushland. Each of these groups offers unique and 
invaluable services to the Authority and has achieved a total of 26,764 hours of service to Kings Park 
and Botanic Garden and Bold Park between them. This equates to around 13.5 FTE working 37.5 
hours per week, 52 weeks a year.  
 
In early 2006, the Authority conducted a survey of the Volunteer Groups, providing members the 
opportunity to provide feedback regarding the level support and facilities the Authority provides and 
offer any additional comments or suggestions for improvement. The survey received enthusiastic 
responses from each of the volunteer groups and the Authority has implemented a number of the 
suggested improvements, many of the Authority’s outstanding achievements this year would not have 
been possible without the many wonderful volunteers. Their contributions are very much appreciated. 
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Education Programs 
 
The Authority delivers a range of educational opportunities to visitors and local communities through 
various techniques, many of which are highlighted throughout this Annual Report, including: free 
guided walks & special walks; self guided trails; Kings Park Guides Information Centre; Friends of 
Kings Park - volunteer work and plant sales; Master Gardeners Advisory Service; volunteers and 
corporate groups – hands-on work with Bushland, Botanic Garden, Science; External talks to Probus 
clubs, gardening and community groups; lunchtime lecture series; Science lectures at UWA; ecotours; 
interpretive signage; informative brochures; media articles and television; the annual Wildflower 
Festival; and the Discover Kings Park Education Service. 
 

The Discover Kings Park Education Service offers interactive 
environmental education programs. Most of our education 
programs have a theatrical based, story-telling element to them 
and are a successful and innovative form of education, which 
enables the educators to connect immediately with the audience. 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden is in the process of developing a 
vibrant, musical, interactive and fun new theatre show titled ‘The 
Great Aussie Garden’, promoting the themes of Waterwise 
Gardening, Unique Flora Found in Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden, Smoke to Sow and Grow and Fighting the Weeds. 
 

 
Gar Dynna – Part of the interactive education 
programs. Photo: L Rackham 

The Education Service delivered 97 lessons to approximately 2,743 students during the year. There 
were also an additional 164 booked education visits to the Park involving a further 8,913 participants. 
A further 4,493 school groups visited the Synergy Parkland. School visit numbers were down this year 
due to refurbishment of the Lotterywest Family Area throughout much of 2005/06.  
 
A new Education Coordinator was recruited in 2005, who has worked closely with Management to 
review the education programs and set new directions for 2006 and beyond. New lessons with 
accompanying Teacher’s Resource Notes, information brochures, education website content and 
strategic initiatives have been developed, including new programs such as ‘Bizarre Botanicals – 
Biodiversity & Plant Adaptations’, ‘Dinosaurs to DNA’, and the ‘Coolunger’ Aboriginal program with an 
Indigenous presenter. 
 
Interpretation and Information 
 
The Authority’s Style Guide was finalised in 2005 and guides the corporate branding of all signage and 
publications created for Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. 
 
New Interpretive Signage was developed for the Lotterywest Family Area as part of the 2006 
refurbishment, including maps, large format picture storybooks, poem boards and information about a 
range of activities on offer throughout the Park. 
 
A new brochure promoting the Education Program in Kings Park and Botanic Garden was produced to 
assist teachers with planning their visit to the Park.  
 
Over 25,000 Wildflower Festival brochures were distributed throughout Perth, regional WA and other 
States.  
 
Approximately 50,000 Summer Events postcards were distributed throughout Perth to inform the 
community about the range of events in Kings Park and Botanic Garden over the summer period and 
to promote the new Aspects of Kings Park retail outlet. 
 
New maps of Kings Park and Botanic Garden have been produced for different areas of the Park in 
pamphlet format and for the website. These include the Bushland Map of Kings Park, the Botanic 
Garden Map, the Synergy Parkland Map and the Fraser Avenue Map. A new brochure map was 
produced to meet visitor demand for a map which also provided some useful information about the 
Park and suggestions for activities during a visit. 
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The Authority’s corporate stationary was revamped, in line with the new Style Guide. 
 
The Authority’s website continues to be refined with further content developed in all areas and 
improvements in links and logical format and user friendliness. 
 
Business Services 
 
Foundation/Sponsorship
 
The Authority works with the Friends of Kings Park on a Joint Advisory Committee under the auspices 
of the Western Australian Foundation (WACF). The Friends of Kings Park have established two 
donation accounts with the WACF, and planning is underway with the Joint Advisory Committee on 
how best to attract sustainable funding using this framework. The next phase is to establish a 
business development function to build on existing sponsorships, build new partnerships and strategic 
alliances and assist in marketing and promotion activities. 
 
The Friends of Kings Park are a key stakeholder with the Authority, and they have a very successful 
partnership with Lotterywest, in addition to raising significant funds themselves through the Friends of 
Kings Park plant sales. The Authority is also very fortunate to have a number of other significant 
partners who work with the Authority in delivering high quality outcomes. Synergy continues the 
previous Western Power sponsorship, and is evidenced in the Fraser Avenue Lights (jointly with 
Channel 7) and the wonderfully educational Synergy Parkland within Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
Channel 7 maintains its long association with the Authority with the Kings Park Lights and also assists 
with the promotion of the annual Wildflower Festival. The Water Corporation and the Authority have a 
highly productive partnership which has resulted in improvements in the water garden; a new water 
wise ‘future garden’ display; and will soon sponsor educative programs promoting the mutual 
conservation messages important to both organisations. 
 
The Authority is privileged to work with a range of other organisations that assist in providing 
resources to support the Authority’s outcomes.  
 
Machinery of Government 
 
As part of the Machinery of Government initiatives in 2001, the Government resolved to bring Araluen 
Botanic Park and Whiteman Park under Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority management along with 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. Significant planning has occurred for the possible 
transition of Araluen Botanic Park management to the Authority, however, no final decisions have 
been reached as to the management model that may be ultimately implemented, or regarding 
additional funding required for the Authority to fulfil its legislative obligations if it were to manage 
Araluen Botanic Park at some point in the future. Planning has not commenced for the possible future 
transition of Whiteman Park. 
 
Under the Whole of Government Functional Review, particularly in the review of corporate services 
and procurement activities across Government, the Authority continues to work with the Shared 
Services Centre to ensure that the planned 2007 roll-in to Cluster A Shared Services is smooth and 
that these internal changes do not significantly impact on the Authority’s core service delivery. 
 
Strategic Planning and Reviews
 
The Authority’s Strategic Plan for 2005 - 2010 is reviewed annually and is available on the Authority’s 
website.  
 
The Bold Park Management Plan 2006 - 2011 followed extensive review and community consultation, 
and was developed in line with the overall Strategic Plan 
 
The Authority reviewed its security arrangements in 2005 and is progressively implementing a number 
of improvements to enhance visitor, staff and asset security. 
 
The Authority also undertook a review of transport issues (including traffic movement, pedestrian and 
cyclists issues, parking, coaches, tram and bus services etc). One of the outcomes from this review 
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was a Request for Proposals for internal transport services in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. This 
will be finalised in 2006/2007. 
 
Employee Services  
 
As at 30 June 2006, the Authority had 130 employees in total, including permanent full-time and part-
time employees and contract employees. Six permanent vacancies were advertised throughout the 
year, and capital works programs and external grants continued to require a number of fixed-term 
employment contracts.  
 
The Authority’s employees are covered either by the Government Officers Salaries, Allowances and 
Conditions General Agreement 2004 (referred to as GOSAC), or the Botanic Gardens and Parks 
Authority Certified Agreement 2004 for the Western Australian Shire Councils; Municipal Road 
Boards; Health Boards; Parks Cemeteries and Racecourse; Public Authorities; and Water Boards 
Union (referred to as LGU). The Shop and Warehouse Award covers a number of employees at 
Aspects of Kings Park. 
 

Employment Type Females Males Total 
Permanent Full-time 21 52 73 
Permanent Part-time 7 2 9 
Fixed Term Full-time 14 5 19 
Fixed Term Part-time 7 1 8 
Casual paid on 30 June 2006 12 9 21 
Total 61 69 130 

 
Human resources services included ongoing essential payroll functions; co-ordination of recruitment 
and selection processes; personal record keeping; co-ordination of performance enhancement 
initiatives and corporate training; facilitation of communication; and assistance with individual and 
team human resources issues.  
 
Following an audit of human resources policies and procedures, all signed time sheets are now held 
centrally and a new electronic time sheet was developed and implemented. The staff induction 
process was reviewed and a more streamlined process for the commencement for new employees 
was adopted. This includes an employee-endorsed record confirming the receipt of required induction 
communication, which will be held on the employee’s personal file. The Authority offered an Employee 
Assistance Program as well as the free influenza vaccinations to employees. 
 
The Joint Consultative Committee was involved any review of the uniform policy and other relevant 
issues. The Committee provides a valuable forum for employee input and consultation on a range of 
workplace reform, productivity and communication issues. 
 
Training and assessments undertaken were designed to improve skills and reduce risks for the 
Authority. These included increasing overall computer literacy skills, fire fighting fitness assessments 
for all employees who volunteer to be on the fire crew roster, and manual handling, vehicle and 
equipment safety training was available for relevant employees. The changes to the Occupational 
Safety and Health legislation required the additional training of the Authority’s safety representatives.  
 
Workers Compensation 
 
Five compensation claims, mostly of a minor nature, were recorded during the financial year. 
 
Occupational Health and Safety  
 
This last year was an important milestone for the Authority with the majority of staff moving into the 
new Biodiversity Conservation Centre. This provided a focus for the year’s activities of the Health and 
Safety Committee as a new Emergency Evacuation plan for the building was designed and 
implemented. This resulted in the manual of Building Emergency Control Procedures being adopted 
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for the new building, something that is used in other major public buildings. This includes the 
placement of fire extinguishers, adequate exit signage, a new emergency siren system and break 
glass systems throughout the building. Warden training was undertaken and a mock evacuation was 
conducted effectively. The new facilities, including laboratories are now well covered in the event of 
fires and other emergency evacuation needs. 
 
No major incidents or significant accidents were reported during the year and the Committee was 
vigilant in maintaining improved monthly inspection checklists. 
 
The Committee remains active and has become more efficient with a much needed rationalising of all 
Health and Safety documentation. 
 
The Authority is committed to supporting the Occupational Health and Safety Committee and 
maintaining a safe workplace and this is reflected in the attendance at meetings, the training events 
supported by the management group and the enthusiasm of representatives from all work areas 
throughout the whole of agency. 
 
Risk Management and Business Continuity 
 
Following extensive staff workshops facilitated by Riskcover, the Authority has now completed the 
transfer of all relevant risk information onto the risk management database, Riskbase. Treatment 
Action Plans and Control Assessments are being finalised and a procedures manual will be 
documented and further staff training will commence in 2006/07. The highest priority areas for the 
Authority continue to be visitor, employee and volunteer safety; environmental conservation; and 
maintenance of facilities. 
 
Significant work has commenced on a Business Continuity Management Plan, to enable a rapid 
reestablishment of core services as soon as practicable after a future potential interruption to 
business.  
 
Financial Management  
 
The Finance Team has significantly improved financial management processes and reporting 
throughout 2005/06. It presents comprehensive monthly financial reports to the Board of Management, 
Corporate Executive and the Directorates which provide the necessary accurate information to reach 
prudent decisions. The Chart of Accounts was restructured so that financial reports are now generated 
from a more logical and meaningful structure. Ongoing reviews will continue to ensure the accounting 
system and financial reporting continually improves to meet new circumstances facing the Authority. 
 
With the Authority’s previous internal audit contract expiring at the end of February 2006, a Request 
process was undertaken at the end of 2005 for new internal auditors to be appointed. 2020 Global was 
the successful respondent and the Authority’s Finance Team are working closely with internal and 
external auditors to ensure that financial, human resource and relevant processes are compliant with 
good financial management principals as well as the Financial Administration and Audit Act and 
Treasurer’s instructions. 
 
Accounting policies and procedures have been reviewed with an emphasis on internal control, the 
accounting manual and purchasing policies. This review has led to more streamlined and efficient 
methodology being applied to processes within the Finance Team and the Authority. 
 
A number of staff training sessions have been held to familiarise staff with Department of Treasury 
and Finance and State Supply Commission policies and guidelines on procurement, including 
Common Use Arrangements, the use of Corporate Credit Cards, Request and Tender processes and 
the financial management of contracts and leases. As a result the Authority is receiving positive 
feedback from random audits and health checks that have been conducted in the last year. 
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Leases and Licences  
 
The Authority undertakes competitive tendering processes for commercial businesses operating on 
designated lands, and seeks to balance community service obligations and commercial returns in all 
leases and licences awarded.  
 
The Authority had the following leases and licences in effect as at 30 June 2006: 
 
 

Leases 
 Aboriginal Art Gallery ......................................................Aboriginal Business Development Pty Ltd 
 Peregrine House ...............................................................Birds Australia WA Inc 
 Perry House........................................................................Wildflower Society Inc 
 Royal Kings Park Tennis Club .....................................Royal Kings Park Tennis Club (sub-Lease with  

 Next Generation Clubs Australia) 
 Sticky Beaks Playground Café ....................................Koonuk Pty Ltd 
 Zamia Café..........................................................................Havelock Enterprises Pty Ltd 
 Fraser’s Restaurant, Function Centre 

Tearooms and Kiosk........................................................O’Briens Pty Ltd 
 
The Fraser’s lease was varied in 2005/2006 to reflect Ministerial Approval for the construction of a 
new café to be operated by Fraser’s in the area between the Kiosk and the Restaurant. The former 
Tearooms service will be replaced by the new Botanical Café and the space occupied by the former 
Tearooms will be a dedicated Function Centre. The Botanical Café will open in late 2006. 
 
 

Licences 
 Transport Services ...........................................................Perth Tram (extension until end of July 2006) 
 Children’s Outdoor Theatre...........................................Prompt Corner 
 Outdoor Cinema................................................................Moonlight Projects 
 Shakespeare in the Park................................................Deckchair Theatre 
 Concerts in the Park ........................................................Various licences approved including: 

- Western Australia Symphony Orchestra 
- Mellen Events 
- Sunset Events 

 
Administrative Support 
 
The Administration Assistant Team continued to ensure that the Authority’s Board, CEO and three 
Directorates receive effective and efficient administrative and records management support. This 
Team also assisted in reception, bookings, purchasing, resource management, customer feedback, 
asset recording and many other functions. 
 
Retail 
 
Aspects of Kings Park is the beautiful, purpose built retail experience on Fraser Avenue in Kings Park 
and Botanic Garden, owned and operated by the Authority. Delivering a distinctive shopping 
experience for visitors, Aspects of Kings Park showcases a hand-picked selection of the finest of 
contemporary Australian craft and design products in wood, glass, ceramics, textiles and jewellery, as 
well as a broad range of botanical and special interest books and paper products. 
 
Since opening its doors in January 2005, Aspects of Kings Park continues to be highly successful and 
to date it has exceeded all expectations. The Authority’s Retail Outlet Audit Committee reviews 
internal controls, procedural instructions, staff training and detailed financial and performance reports 
to ensure that performance continues to be efficient and effective. 
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 Selection of works available to purchase from Aspects of Kings Park. 

Artists L to R: Jack de Vos, WA; Peter Reynolds, WA; Rick Cook, WA; Julie Shepherd, QLD. Photos: Silvertone  
 
Aspects staff are now working towards developing a solid local client base, developing corporate gifts 
and bridal registers as well looking to attracting further tourists from interstate and overseas. 
 
Aspects of Kings Park provides ongoing cross portfolio contributions to the tourism, art, resources and 
environmental sectors. All proceeds from the sales of goods at Aspects of Kings Park supports the 
Authority’s commitment to the unique Western Australian environment. 
 
Marcelle Broderick 
DIRECTOR BUSINESS AND VISITOR SERVICES 
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Science Directorate 
 
Directorate Objective 
 
 Conserve, develop, manage, display, and undertake research into, collections of Western 

Australian and other flora. 
 Enhance and promote the understanding and conservation of the biological diversity of the 

designated land and of biological diversity generally. 
 Undertake and promote research and investigation into matters related to or connected with the 

Authority’s functions. 
 
These objectives reflect the specific functions of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Act 1998 
and are undertaken with an emphasis towards science and research. 
 
Overview 
 
The Science Directorate continues to focus and excel in the application of a multidisciplinary one-stop-
shop principle for research and an adaptive management approach to plant species and community 
conservation and restoration. A key component of the research programs remains the integration of 
research areas for effective delivery of conservation and restoration outcomes. For example, the 
recovery of a threatened species typically involves research into seed dormancy (restoration ecology), 
conservation genetics, cryo-conservation, seed banking (germplasm conservation), propagation 
science (tissue culture) and community liaison (Extension and Biodiversity Officer). 
 
Leveraging external funding opportunities to deliver benefits directly to the designated lands under the 
care and control of the Authority remains a significant activity of the Directorate. External research 
funding enables the six science staff, four of which are senior scientific staff, to leverage research 
benefits for the Authority at a ratio of 6:1 externally funded staff to each internal core funded position. 
Only with this high ratio of external funding can such a small scientific team deliver over and above the 
statutory functions of the Authority to conserve and manage biodiversity on the designated lands for 
the State generally and enable more effective, science based conservation of biodiversity. 
 
The Directorate continued to collaborate and attract major research funding, being awarded a total of 
$1.8 million of nationally competitive and industry grants. These grants build the intellectual 
infrastructure for addressing issues ranging from genetic diversity to species recovery and seed 
banking of threatened species to ecosystem restoration and management. 
 
Publications in reputable and international scientific journals remain an important tool in establishing 
the international importance of the science programs in the Authority. Twenty-six publications 
appeared in international journals representing one of the highest outputs of publications per core 
funded scientist position in the public sector, with two books, Perth Plants and Australian Seeds 
representing a significant milestone for the Authority. Perth Plants represents the first comprehensive 
plant guide for both Kings Park and Bold Park. Of note is that Australian Seeds is now in CSIRO’s top 
five publications. 
 
Research collaboration continues to form an important and integral part of the success of the research 
programs. Key State based research partners continue to include: The University of Western Australia 
(UWA); Murdoch University; Department of Conservation and Land Management (CALM); Curtin 
University; and the Department of Agriculture and Food. Links with local and international 
conservation groups and botanic gardens are sustained with active participation by Authority scientists 
with Botanic Gardens Conservation International and representation on a number of national and 
international science and conservation advisory committees. A five year Research and Development 
Strategy for Science was launched providing a solid strategic basis for the business of the Directorate. 
Of special note was the nomination of the Director (Science) to The Prime Minister’s Science 
Engineering and Innovative Council Working Group on Biodiscovery. The final report was  
co-presented by the Director (Science) to federal cabinet in December 2005. 
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The Director, Dr Kingsley Dixon was awarded by the Vice Chancellor of The University of Western 
Australia the academic position of Visiting Professor with the School of Plant Biology. This prestigious 
appointment recognises the high level of scientific achievement of Dr Dixon and that of the Authority’s 
science program. At the same time, Dr Siegy Krauss, Conservation Geneticist was awarded the 
position of Visiting Associate Professor in the same school in recognition of his outstanding scientific 
achievements. Both posts represent the first time that WA Government scientists have been afforded 
these honours by The University of Western Australia. 
 
Restoration Ecology 
 
The Restoration Ecology Team continues to research a wide spectrum of new and innovative methods 
for tackling urban bushland, post-mining and post-disturbance restoration of the State’s bio-diverse 
ecosystems from the Gascoyne region, the Swan Coastal Plain to the south-west region. While the 
focus of the group is on the designated lands of the Authority, externally funded projects contribute to 
restoration ecology knowledge of the State’s ecosystems in general and ultimately build the research 
capability that directly benefits restoration outcomes on Authority designated lands. Moreover, the 
group is becoming well-versed in a number of research disciplines that have a great bearing on 
ecosystem restoration: soil-seedbank dynamics; seed ecology; disturbance ecology; weed ecology; 
regenerative techniques; and restoration technologies, thereby enabling highly successful species 
replacement for disturbed lands. The seagrass restoration program has grown to encompass two PhD 
programs co-supported by UWA and Cockburn Cement. 
 
Highlights for 2005/2006 in Restoration Ecology 
 
 The 4th annual Bold Park Research Workshop, held at the Western Australian Ecology Centre on 

20 July 2005, attracted attendees from the Authority, stakeholder groups, Government departments 
and universities. The workshop provided a valuable insight into restoration and research issues 
and outcomes for the Bold Park bushland, and disseminated highly relevant restoration research 
outcomes for other similar urban bushlands to a wider community.  

 The inaugural Growing Wetlands 2005 - Advances in Wetland Conservation and Restoration 
Workshop was held at the Western Australian Ecology Centre, 7-9 November 2005. The workshop, 
co-presented by USA wetland restoration ecologists Dr's Lyndon Lee and Peggy Fiedler, had an 
overwhelming response that may see the workshop become a regular event. Importantly, the 
workshop enabled further planning on the restoration of Camel Lake and a proposed wetland site 
at Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 

 The Kings Park Escarpment Restoration Monitoring and Reporting Program is now in its fourth 
year, under the guidance of the Restoration Ecology group. The group recently completed an 
annual report that: provided an evaluation, across the escarpment, of restoration progress and the 
processes of ecosystem recovery, identified appropriate follow-up restoration measures and, 
recommended “best management practices” in order to maximise restoration success.  

 Three honours students joined the group for 2006 on three projects focused on: understanding 
seed displacement following seed broadcasting operations, re-instating Banksia species in post-
mined sites and, assessing the effects of the widely employed herbicide Fusilade® on native seed 
germination.  

 The group contributed to a restoration ecology chapter in the recently released “Principles of 
Conservation Biology” - 3rd Edition (2006), Editors: Groom MJ, Meffe GK, Carroll CR, Sinauer 
Associates, Inc, USA. 

 The group’s contribution to restoration was recently showcased on the Society of Ecological 
Restoration, USA’s (SER) Restoration Project Showcase website. The website showcases images 
and information of a handful of global restoration projects.  

 A definitive field guide to the native and weedy plants of the bushland of Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden and Bold Park was developed and released, representing the first comprehensive plant 
guide for both bushland areas.  

 The Department of Defence extended a research program investigating the conservation biology of 
two Declared Rare Flora species on RAAF Base, Pearce, while the Westralia Airports Corporation 
extended a research program investigating the conservation biology of two Declared Rare Flora 
species that occur on Westralia Airports Corporation lands. 
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 Two group members were invited to present at the 2005 World Conference on Ecological 
Restoration (SER) in Zaragoza, Spain (12th-16th September 2005), presenting work on the Bold 
Park Restoration Research program, recent advances in mine-site restoration, and the restoration 
of borrow pits in the Shark Bay World Heritage area.  

 The group attracted more than 20 volunteers, students and work experience personnel during the 
year. 

 
Students 
 
 Lucy Commander is continuing a PhD research program that will research and develop integrated 

restoration of borrow pits in the Shark Bay World Heritage area.  
 David Leach is continuing a PhD research program that will assess the impacts of fire-suppressing 

agents on native vegetation in Western Australia.  
 Giuseppe Messina is continuing a PhD research program that will focus on investigating the 

conservation biology of two Declared Rare Flora species occurring on Westralia Airports 
Corporation lands. 

 Brett Neasham is continuing a PhD research program that will focus on weed ecology and control 
of Black Flag and Geraldton Carnation weed, as part of the Bold Park Restoration Research 
program. 

 John Stratton has commenced a PhD investigating “Effective ecological restoration of seagrass in 
Cockburn Sound”. 

 Peter Golos has commenced an Honours program entitled “To sow or to plant: Returning Banksia 
attenuata and Banksia menziesii to post-sand extracted restoration sites” with The University of 
Western Australia.  

 Jack Harma has commenced an Honours program entitled “Weed chemical control effects on 
native seed germination and native seedling establishment” with Curtin University of Technology. 

 Rachael Ord has commenced an Honours program entitled “Assessing the effects of wind erosion 
and predation on broadcast seed removal in Banksia woodland restoration” with The University of 
Western Australia.  

 
Industry, Government and Internal Grants  
 
The Restoration Ecology group received six industry, government and internal grants: 
1 Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority: A project to provide escarpment restoration monitoring and 

reporting services at Kings Park and Botanic Garden. (2001-2005: $28,000/yr). 
2 Department of Defence: A project to develop conservation of two rare plant species; Centrolepis 

caespitosum and Eleocharis keigheryi, on the RAAF Base, Pearce. (2003-2005: $20,000/yr). 
3 Fire and Emergency Services Authority: Impact of fire suppressing agents on native vegetation in 

Western Australia. (2005-2008: $35,000/yr). 
4 Rocla Quarry Products: Developing sustainable restoration of Banksia woodland communities 

disturbed through sand quarrying activities. (2000-ongoing: $25,000/yr). 
5 Shark Bay Resources: A program to research and develop integrated restoration of borrow pits for 

Shark Bay Resources Pty Ltd (2004-2007: $36,500/yr). 
6 Westralia Airports Corporation: Deriving Research Benchmarks for Nationally Threatened Plant 

Species occurring on Westralia Airports Corporation Land (2004-2006: $40,000/yr). 
 
Conservation Genetics 
 
The Conservation Genetics Team is applying molecular markers for research and practical outcomes 
in native plant conservation, landscape restoration, native plant breeding, systematics and 
phylogenetics. The laboratory is equipped with state-of-the-art automated DNA sequencers, enabling 
the rapid application of fluorescent-based DNA fingerprinting and DNA sequencing techniques. Key 
research areas include: the genetic delineation of local provenance seed collection zones for native 
plant community restoration; the identification of levels of genetic variation within and among natural 
populations of native plants; the identification of taxonomic rank and evolutionary relationships in 
native plant groups; the detailed analysis of realised mating patterns in natural populations; the direct 
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analysis of seed and pollen dispersal within and among native plant populations; and the application of 
DNA fingerprinting for more efficient native plant breeding for horticultural markets. 
 
As with all external research projects, the Conservation Genetics Team crafts grants to maximise 
knowledge yield applicable to the designated lands under control of the Authority. 
 
Highlights for 2004/2005 in Conservation Genetics 
 
 Six nationally competitive ARC (Australian Research Council) grants were held by the 

Conservation Genetics Team through the Discovery and Linkage Grants Schemes with 
researchers at UWA; Curtin University; Murdoch University; the University of Melbourne; CALM; 
Royal Botanic Gardens Sydney (RBGSYD); and industry partners Landcare Services Pty Ltd and 
the Western Australian Department of Agriculture. 

 Significant progress has been made towards a provenance atlas for native plant community 
restoration in south Western Australia, with genetic provenance information for more than 40 local 
species now completed. This information helps identify local provenance seed collection zones, 
makes restoration activities more efficient and conserves biodiversity within species. This project is 
currently funded by two ARC Linkage grants and industry partners LandCare Services Pty Ltd, 
Alcoa World Alumina Australia and Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd. 

 Large scale reciprocal transplant experiments with jarrah (Eucalyptus marginata), marri (E. 
calophylla), she-oak (Allocasuarina fraseriana) and Scaevola crassifolia have assessed the 
importance of home-site advantage for ecological restoration. 

 A provenance workshop, organised by BGPA, brought together practitioners and researchers to 
identify key issues and optimal sampling strategies for the genetic identification of local 
provenance, leading directly to improved outcomes in local bushland restoration. 

 The comparison of DNA sequences has shed new light on the relationships and genetic similarity 
of species in the, horticulturally significant, fan-flower family (Goodeniaceae). This ARC funded 
research, in collaboration with industry partner Western Australian Department of Agriculture, 
underpins the efficiency of the horticultural breeding program of plants such as Scaevola and 
Lechenaultia at Kings Park and Botanic Garden. DNA fingerprinting is also efficiently identifying 
novel hybrids from the breeding program. 

 A significant impact of habitat fragmentation on 
reproductive success in wheatbelt eucalypts has been 
identified in an ARC Discovery grant funded study. Fruits 
from small fragmented populations of gimlet (E. salubris) 
produced as little as one-third the seed of fruits from large, 
unfragmented populations. However, no such effect was 
found for salmon gum (E. salmonophloia). There was also 
no effect of population size on fitness post seed-maturation, 
as seedlings were equally vigorous regardless of source 
population. These results suggest extensive dispersal of 
pollen into small populations, despite fragmentation, and/or 
efficient selection within fruits against inbred seed. In these 
wheatbelt icons, fragmentation and small population size 
affects seed quantity, but apparently not seed quality. 

 

Genetics research is assessing the effect of 
habitat fragmentation on reproduction in 
remnant wheatbelt eucalypts such as 
salmon gum (E salmonophloia). 
Photo: S Krauss 

 Two ARC Discovery grants have funded a project on the population dynamics and genetic variation 
of plants varying in fire response and dispersal capability. The project has shed new light on the 
role of disturbance and the increased occurrence of hybrids between Hooker’s banksia (Banksia 
hookeriana) and B. prionotes; on the phylogeographic history of B. hookeriana, including range 
expansion and refugia associated with the last glacial maximum; on patterns of realised mating and 
levels of genetic variation in aerial seed banks over many years of mating; on pollen and seed 
dispersal within and among populations; and has identified a surprisingly high frequency of long 
distance seed dispersal in B. hookeriana, which plays an important role in the metapopulation 
dynamics of this fire killed species. 

 With funding from the ARC and AusAid, ecophysiological genetic factors influencing the distribution 
of locally endemic species have been assessed. Recent results indicate that the holly-leafed 
banksia (Banksia ilicifolia) demonstrates strong inbreeding depression, and heterosis and 
increased ecological amplitude following wide outcrossing. Our results suggest that the interaction 
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of narrow ecological amplitude and the genetic consequences of small fragmented populations 
may explain the narrow range of local endemics, but that wide outcrossing may provide 
opportunities for increased genetic variation, increased ecological amplitude and range expansion. 

 A major three-year research program continues, commissioned by Portman Iron Ore Pty Ltd, on 
the biology of the Declared Rare Flora (DRF) Tetratheca paynterae and related species for on- and 
off-site conservation. Population genetic variation has been assessed, and paternity assignment of 
offspring has indicated near complete outcrossing and pollen dispersal distances of typically less 
than 10 metres. No pollen dispersal was detected across gaps between plants of more than 80 
metres. Optimal seed germination and propagation techniques have been identified. 

 A population genetic assessment of the DRF Mason’s darwinia (Darwinia masonii), which is to be 
potentially impacted by mining activities by Mt Gibson Iron Ore Pty Ltd, demonstrated weak genetic 
structuring among populations. 

 A major three-year research program continues, commissioned by Mt Gibson Iron Ore Pty Ltd, on 
the biology and phylogenetic relationship of the DRF Darwinia masonii for on- and off-site 
conservation. 

 A preliminary genetic assessment of clonality, genetic structure and molecular phylogeny of 
Lepidosperma sp Mt Gibson, commissioned by Mt Gibson Iron Ore Pty Ltd, was commenced. 

 Genetic variation within and among populations of Centrolepis caespitosa and Eleocharis keigheryi 
at RAAF base Pearce was assessed. 

 Genetic variation within and among populations of Conospermum undulatum at Perth Airport was 
assessed. 

 Genetic erosion and inbreeding depression was assessed in a translocated population of the DRF 
Grevillea scapigera, highlighting the need for careful genetic management as part of species 
recovery. 

 
Students and Externally Funded Staff 
 
 Matthew Barrett completed his PhD thesis on “Molecular ecology of Chamelaucium uncinatum 

(Myrtaceae) and related species, and applications to plant breeding and conservation”. 
 Bambang Heliyanto completed his PhD thesis on “The ecological genetic consequences of local 

endemism and natural population fragmentation in Banksia ilicifolia (Proteaceae). 
 Eleanor O’Brien is undertaking her PhD thesis on “Delineation of genetic provenance and its 

significance for restoration of native plant communities”. 
 Elefhtheria Dalmaris is undertaking her PhD on Wandoo (Eucalyptus wandoo) decline, which 

includes a molecular phylogeographic assessment of genetic variation within and among 
populations. 

 Michalie Foley commenced her PhD project on the molecular ecology of Banksia ilicifolia. 
 Russell Barrett commenced his PhD project on evolutionary pattern and process in the seagrass 

Posidonia australis. 
 Michalie Foley completed her honours research project on inbreeding depression and genetic 

erosion in Grevillea scapigera. 
 Donna Di Guiseppe completed her honours research project on seed germination, genetic variation 

and home-site advantage in the thick-leaved fan-flower, Scaevola crassifolia. 
 
The following post-doctoral fellows or research scientists are, have been part of, or recently joined, the 
conservation genetics team: 
 
 Dr TianHua He is working on an ARC funded project assessing genetic variation and population 

dynamics of Banksia hookeriana and genetic provenance issues for Bold Park restoration. 
 Dr Liz Sinclair is involved in the genetic delineation of provenance for the rehabilitation of urban 

bushland remnants. 
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 Dr Penny Butcher is working on an integrated conservation 
research program for the DRF Tetratheca paynterae. 

 

 Dr Janet Anthony is assessing genetic variation in the DRF sedges 
Centrolepis caespitosa and Eleocharis keigheryi. 

 Dr Matt Barrett is working on an integrated conservation research 
program for the DRF Darwinia masonii and Lepidosperma sp. Mt 
Gibson. 

 
Industry Grants  
 
1 Worsley Alumina/Alcoa Alumina Australia: Provenance delineation 

of Jarrah forest species impacted by mining (2002-2005). 
2 Portman Iron Ore Pty Ltd: An integrated research program 

focussed on the on- and off-site conservation of the DRF 
Tetratheca paynterae. (2004-2007). 

Dr Penny Butcher, conservation 
research scientist, collecting the DRF 
Tetratheca paynterae from the 
Windarling Range for genetic analysis. 
Photo: S Krauss 

3 Mt Gibson Iron Ore Pty Ltd: An integrated research program 
focussed on the on- and off-site conservation of the DRF Darwinia 
masonii. (2004-2008). 

4 Mt Gibson Iron Ore Pty Ltd: An integrated research program into practical outcomes for the ex situ 
and in situ conservation, restoration and translocation of the Lepidosperma sp. ‘Mt Gibson’ (2006). 

 
Nationally Competitive Grants  
 
1 Rapid delineation of genetic provenance for rehabilitation and revegetation of native plant 

communities. ARC Linkage grant (2002-2005: total funds $225,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy 
Krauss (BGPA) and Prof Mike Johnson (UWA). Industry Partners: BGPA, LandCare Services Pty 
Ltd. Post-doctoral fellow: Dr TianHua He. 

2 A biological basis for the efficient breeding of native plants for export markets: a case study with 
the Australian Goodeniaceae. ARC Linkage grant (2002-2005: total funds $210,000). Chief 
Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof John Considine (UWA), and Dr Peter Weston 
(RBGSYD). Industry Partners: BGPA, AgWA. 

3 Managing the evolutionary potential of fragmented native plant populations. ARC Discovery grant 
(2002-2005: total funds $153,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof Stephen 
Hopper (UWA) and Dr David Coates (CALM). Research Assistant: Ms Robyn Taylor. 

4 Population dynamics and genetic variation within plants varying in fire response. ARC Discovery 
grant (2002 - 2005: total funds $180,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA), Prof Byron 
Lamont (Curtin University), and Prof Neal Enright (University of Melbourne). Post-doctoral fellow: 
Dr TianHua He. 

5 Rapid genetic delineation of provenance for effective restoration of urban bushland remnants. ARC 
Linkage grant (2003-2006: total funds $340,000). Chief Investigators: Dr Siegy Krauss (BGPA) and 
Prof Richard Hobbs (Murdoch University). Post-doctoral fellows: Dr John Bussell, Dr Liz Sinclair 
and Dr Grace Zawko. 

6 Quantifying long-distance seed dispersal and its role in the metapopulation dynamics of plants with 
contrasting life histories. ARC Discovery grant (2005-2009: total funds $670,000). Collaborators: 
Prof Byron Lamont (Curtin University), Prof Neal Enright (Melbourne University). Post-doctoral 
fellow: Dr TianHua He. 

 
Seed Science and Germplasm Conservation  
 
The Seed Science and Germplasm Conservation Team continues to lead research on seed biology 
and ecology of Australian plants. Key research areas include characterising seed storage physiology 
and longevity; developing dormancy alleviation and germination techniques for propagation of difficult 
to germinate species (including pioneering research into the use of the recently isolated chemical in 
smoke responsible for seed germination); and development and application of seed enhancement 
technologies for improved seedling survival in restoration programs.  
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New externally funded grants remain the only funding for research by the Authority into seed 
conservation science, with these grants being crucial for the Authority to meet its biodiversity 
obligations under the Act. 
 
Highlights for 2005/2006 in Seed Banking and Germplasm Conservation  
 
 A new program of research has commenced with the appointment of a post-doctoral scientist with 

specialist skills in seed anatomy and morphology. This appointment forms part of the agency’s 
collaboration with the Millennium Seedbank, Royal Botanic Gardens (RBG), Kew, and provides a 
novel new capacity to understand the link between seed structure and function, particularly in 
relation to the mechanisms of seed dormancy.  

 A major three-year research collaboration between the Authority and the UWA Centre of 
Excellence in Plant Energy Biology, funded by the ARC, has commenced with the appointment of a 
Research Associate with specialist skills in genomics. This internationally significant program will 
investigate physiological and molecular aspects of the action of butenolide (the recently isolated 
active chemical in smoke) in seed germination, leading to a greater understanding of the 
application of smoke products for seed propagation.  

 Field trialling to evaluate the use of butenolide for promoting soil seedbanks of native species and 
agricultural weeds continues. Trials sites have been established in Banksia woodland, agricultural 
land, and post-mining rehabilitated Jarrah forest. These trials will define the uses of butenolide in 
broad-acre restoration and weed control programs.  

 For the first time a reliable technique for seed germination of Atriplex species has been developed. 
This is a significant breakthrough for saline land restoration and pasture development and is 
representative of the strategic decision by the seed group to commence research and development 
into the use of native species for perennial pasture and agricultural land restoration. 

 Publication and release of the book, Australian Seeds - A Guide to their Collection, Identification 
and Biology. Publication of this book is the culmination of 10 years work by members of Authority 
curation and science staff. The book also contains contributions from staff members of CALM and 
the Millennium Seedbank, RBG, Kew and provides a comprehensive pictorial guide to seed 
identification and guidelines on seed collection, handling and storage. 

 
Students 
 
 Katherine Baker has completed a PhD program on seed dormancy alleviation in fire ephemerals 

and recently submitted her thesis.  
 Donna Bradbury has completed an honours project researching genetic provenance of Scaevola 

crassifolia and the effects of provenance on germination and dormancy.  
 Lucy Commander continues her PhD project on integrated restoration of borrow pits at Shark Bay 

Salt Mine. 
 Jessica Daniels continues a PhD program on seed storage physiology and seed dormancy of 

orchid species. 
 Renee Tuckett has commenced a PhD program researching 

the seed biology and ecology of vernal pool species.  
 Jessica Allen has commenced an honours project 

investigating seed germination and dormancy of wetland 
species Juncus holoschoenus and Xyris lanata.  

 Gian Custodio has commenced an honours project 
researching dormancy alleviation and in situ establishment of 
native species for land rehabilitation following bauxite mining.  

 

 Rachael Ord has commenced an honours project assessing 
the effects of wind erosion and faunal activity on broadcast seed removal in Banksia woodland 
restoration.  

Isoetes australis, a vernal pool species 
occurring on granite outcrops. 
Photo courtesy of R Tuckett 

 Jack Harma has commenced an honours project investigating the impact of the selective herbicide 
Fusilade on native seed germination and seedling growth.  
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Industry Grants  
 
The Seed Science Team currently has three industry grants: 
1 ACMER (2005-2008: total funds $103,000): Optimising collection, storage and germination of 

Australian native plant species.  
2 Millennium Seedbank Project (2005-2009: total funds $474 000): Western Australian Seeds 

Program. 
3 CRC for Pant-Based Management of Dryland Salinity, Sustainable Grazing of Saline Lands, Meat 

and Livestock Australia and Australian Wool Initiative (2006-2009: total funds $850 000): Reliable 
establishment of non-traditional perennial pasture species.  

4 LWA (Dixon and Barrett-Lennard: total funds $75 000): Improving the establishment of saltbushes 
(Atriplex spp.) on saltland - preliminary research.  

 
Nationally Competitive Grants  
 
The Seed Science Team has five nationally competitive grants:  
1 ARC-Linkage (Plummer, Dixon and Bunn, 2003-2006: total funds $290,000): Overcoming deep 

dormancy in species used for land restoration.  
2 ARC-Linkage (Turner and Dixon, 2005-2008: total funds $353,000): A physiological and 

biochemical basis for seed storage for biodiversity conservation and restoration. 
3 ARC-Discovery (Ghisalberti, Dixon and Trengove, 2005-2008: total funds $355,000): Optimising 

synthesis, developing delivery systems and resolving the ecological significance of the chemical in 
smoke that promotes seed germination. 

4 RIRDC (Ryan, Chivers and Mitchell, 2005-2008: total funds $585,000): Grass roots- native 
perennial grasses for sustainable pasture systems. 

5 ARC-Discovery (Smith and Dixon, 2006-2009: total funds $470,000): Discovery of the physiological 
and molecular modes of action of butenolide in promoting seed germination and vigour in plants.  

6 GRDC (Dixon, 2005-2006: total funds $70,000): Releasing agricultural weed seed dormancy 
through application of a novel smoke derived chemical. 

 
Conservation and Biotechnology  
 
The Conservation and Biotechnology Team is undertaking research in areas critical to the success of 
ex situ conservation and translocation of recalcitrant and endangered plant species, including 
advanced in vitro technologies, cryogenics and micro propagation of plants for 
restoration/translocation projects. In addition, the team provide expert advice to other researchers 
using in vitro technology as part of their programs in other disciplines (e.g. genetics, seed biology and 
restoration).  
 
Highlights for 2005/2006 in Plant Biotechnology 
 
 The move of the Science Directorate to the new laboratories in the Biodiversity Conservation 

Centre in August, 2005 has provided an opportunity to review the in vitro collection (room 
temperature and cool storage) and set new directions for future in vitro research on threatened 
flora and maintenance of culture collections. The endangered and recalcitrant plant in vitro program 
has added new genotype material for Grevillea scapigera (via shoot material) from a plant near a 
site of prior occurrence of this species. It is planned to add this genotype to other material of  
G. scapigera in cryogenic storage for future restoration projects. 

 The Authority hosted the ‘Conference of the Australian Branch of the International Association for 
Plant Tissue Culture and Biotechnology – Contributing to a Sustainable Future’ at the Western 
Australian Ecology Centre at Bold Park, in September, 2005. The conference attracted over 60 
delegates from interstate and overseas. Dr Eric Bunn (BGPA) served on the organising committee 
and editorial panel for this conference. Dr Maggie Panaia, Dr E. Bunn and Dr K Dixon presented a 
poster paper entitled “Somatic embryogenesis as an efficient method for the clonal propagation of 
Baloskion tetraphyllum (Koala Fern), Macropidia fuliginosa (Black Kangaroo Paw) and Stirlingia 
latifolia (Blue Boy) – Important plant species for rehabilitation of disturbed habitats and horticultural 
utilisation”. Dr Bunn, presented a paper entitled “In vitro technology for sustaining biodiversity: 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 2005-2006 Annual Report 59 



experiences with a recalcitrant flora in Western Australia” by Dr E Bunn, Dr M Panaia, Dr S Turner 
and Dr K Dixon during the oral presentation sessions. 

 The cryogenic program continues to achieve success with cryostorage of critically endangered 
species in liquid nitrogen. The program is presently reviewing the current cryo-collection and 
expanding the number of species being placed in cryostorage. A cryogenic exchange agreement 
has been forged with the Royal Botanic Gardens, Adelaide and the first samples were recently sent 
to Dr Phil Ainsley (RBG, Adelaide) to begin off-site storage of as part of the risk management of the 
cryo-collection at Kings Park and Botanic Garden (with reciprocation for RBG, Adelaide in the near 
future).  

 A long-running restoration project (2002-2006) with the rare 
and threatened plant Symonanthus bancroftii (using micro 
propagated  plants) is nearing completion of the first phase as 
regards establishment of ex situ plant populations in two sites 
(one a CALM reserve and the other on a Bruce Rock Shire 
reserve). The first plantings were staged in July 2002 with 
subsequent plantings each year up to the latest in June 2006. 
This project was begun in 2002 as collaborative exercise 
between the BGPA, Bruce Rock Landcare, Bruce Rock Shire, 
CALM (Narrogin) with support from Threatened Species 
Network (TSN) and World Wildlife Fund (WWF). BGPA staff 
involved in this project include Mr Bob Dixon, Dr Eric Bunn and 
Ms Keran Keys, with acknowledged assistance from 
volunteers.  

 

 

 

 
St
 
 

 

 

 
 

Bo
Re-introduced Symonanthus bancrofiti 
plant (produced through 
micropropagation at Kings Park). 
Photo: G Messina 
A translocation project for Eremophila resinosa, a rare species from Westonia in the eastern 
goldfields (in collaboration with Westonia Mines Ltd and the Authority) has been completed. 
Translocated micro propagated plants, produced at Kings Park and Botanic Garden (of five clones 
of E. resinosa) have survived well in a degraded but ripped bushland site.  
A Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC) project on somatic 
embryogenesis of black kangaroo paw (Macropidia fuliginosa), blueboy (Stirlingia latifolia), Koala 
fern (Baloskion tetraphyllum) and Lepidosperma squamatum was successfully concluded with the 
final report for this project (prepared by Dr M. Panaia) handed in to RIRDC in Jan 2006. 
Collaborative research work continues with Dr Guo-Hua Ma of the South China Botanic Gardens. 
Dr Eric Bunn and Dr Kingsley Dixon have co-authored several papers Dr Ma, one of which was 
recently highlighted in the Society for In Vitro Biology (SIVB) journal by invitation of Dr David 
Songstad (Vice President, SIVB).  

udents 

Ben Stone successfully completed his Honours project on tissue culture propagation and genetic 
analysis of the critically endangered species Synaphea stenoloba. This collaborative project 
between Dr Guijun Yan (UWA), Dr Eric Bunn (BGPA) and Mr David Willyams (ALCOA) has 
provided a valuable start to the ex situ conservation and future restoration of this endangered 
species. 
Paul Hoffman (UWA) completed his Honours project on somatic embryogenesis in some native 
rush and sedge species of special interest in the restoration of Bold Park bushland including: 
Lepidosperma leptostachyum, L. squamatum and large-flowered bogrush Schoenus grandiflorus..  
Patcharawadee Wattanawikkit joined the Science Directorate in September 2005. She is a PhD 
student from Kasetsart University (KU) in Bangkok, Thailand and is undertaking a study at Kings 
Park and Botanic Garden on in vitro propagation, somatic embryogenesis encapsulation and 
cryogenic storage on rare and threatened species of slipper orchids (Paphiopedalum spp.) from 
Thailand. Many of these rare species are housed at Queen Sirikit Botanic Gardens at Chiang Mai 
in Thailand. This study is part of the co-operative ‘capacity-building in regional Botanic Gardens’ 
aims of the BGCI (Botanic Gardens Conservation International) organisation to which Kings Park 
and Botanic Garden belongs.  
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 Melissa Murphy is undertaking a fourth year Honours project in 
2006 on effects of nutrients on the iconic species Cephalotus 
follicularis (Albany pitcher plant). This species is extremely 
unusual in being the only species in a whole plant Family 
(Cephalotaceae) endemic to southern Western Australia. Melissa 
will be using in vitro methods to investigate the effects of nitrate 
and phosphate on tissues of Cephalotus while also sampling plant 
material from natural populations for nutrient analysis studies.  

 

Albany pitcher plant  
(Cephalotus follicularis) 
Photo: Eric Bunn 

 Ms Catherine Ryan commenced a part-time Honours program in 
Feb 2006, and is studying in vitro propagation of recalcitrant 
monocotyledon species, mainly Lomandra spp. (and some 
species of native rushes and sedges) for use in rehabilitation of 
disturbed habitats. 

 
Industry Funds  
 
Funding of approximately $5000 was received by the Conservation and Biotechnology Team for 
completion of established in vitro culture lines of selected recalcitrant rush and sedge species for a 
collaborative study between Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Worsley Alumina, to assist in 
production of plants for restoration. Some of these species are also of interest for restoration in Bold 
Park and Kings Park bushland.  
 
Nationally Competitive Grants 
 
New grants received: 
1 ARC linkage application ‘In vitro propagation (through somatic embryogenesis) of rush and sedge 

species important for land rehabilitation’. Chief Investigator; Emeritus Prof Jen McComb (Murdoch 
University); Partner Investigators, Dr Eric Bunn and Dr Kingsley Dixon (BGPA) and Industry 
Partners Worsley Alumina and Seed Solutions Pty Ltd. value: approx. $220,000 over three years.  

2 ARC-Linkage (LP0349302): Mechanisms for Release of Deep Dormancy in Seeds of Australian 
Plant Species used in Land Restoration (2003-2006, Value $205,000). In conjunction with seed 
biology research group (Dr Shane Turner) and UWA Plant Science (Dr Julie Plummer). 

 
Orchid Conservation 
 
The Orchid Conservation Team has made significant progress on current research projects, with 
several students completing honours projects or PhD’s. All orchid research is externally funded. 
 
Highlights for 2005/2006 in Orchid Conservation 
 
 Significant advances have been made in understanding the genetic diversity of fungi associated 

with the critically endangered grand spider orchid (Caladenia huegelii).  
 Translocation trials of a number of critically endangered orchids, including C. huegelii and C. 

procera are currently underway. 
 Research into the biology and interactions of orchids in urban bushlands is providing outcomes 

useful for the long-term management of native orchids in bushland such as Kings Park. 
 A range of orchids propagated by the Friends of Kings Park Orchid Carers Group and out planted 

to Kings Park bushland are surviving well into the second year with one species flowering for the 
first time. 

 Surveys of the northern populations of the underground orchid have located over 30 flowering 
plants. This is the most significant flowering event in over 15 years. 

 Research into pollination syndromes utilising sexual deception was under taken. This is a new area 
of research for the orchid conservation team. 
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Ecology of Orchids and their Fungi 
 
Fungal baiting studies, utilising methods developed by the group, continue to be a major focus for the 
group and is proving to be a useful tool for researching complex interactions between orchid and their 
fungal symbionts and also in detecting suitable sites for the translocation of rare orchid species. These 
methods were pivotal in locating suitable translocation sites for the transplanting of over 20 C. huegelii 
plants as a result of the construction of Stage Seven of the Roe Highway. 
 
Students 
 
 Jon See completed his honours degree on the relationships male wasps and sexual deception in 

Western Australian native orchids. 
 Ryan Phillips commenced his PhD program of research investigating the co-evolutionary 

relationships between orchid mycorrhizal specificity and pollinator specialisation in Western 
Australian hammer orchids (Drakaea species). 

 Nigel Swarts continues with his PhD program investigating the conservation biology of the 
nationally rare and endangered species, the grand spider orchid, Caladenia huegelii. 

 Belinda Newman is continuing with her PhD into the role of orchids as bio-indicators of ecosystem 
fitness with her work concentrating on urban remnants in the Perth region. 

 
Friends of Kings Park Orchid Group 
 
The Friends of Kings Park Orchid Carers Group continue to propagate orchids for return to field sites 
in Kings Park bushland and sold over 50 containers of tissue cultured donkey orchid in their May plant 
sale. Recently over 200 plants have been out planted to pots for sale in the upcoming Wildflower 
Festival. The group is currently working towards establishing new species into culture. 
 
Biodiversity and Extensions 
 
The core business for Biodiversity and Extensions is to use and promote sound horticultural practices 
in species restoration and recovery operations, and the use of indigenous species in gardening and 
landscaping to help maintain biodiversity and minimise the use of fertiliser and water.  
 
Extension activities in 2005/2006 
 
 Collaboration and networking with local and State Government agencies, in particular the 

Department of Conservation and Land Management (CALM) with translocation of Declared Rare 
Flora (DRF), environmental weed control and managing natural ecosystems.  

 Serving on advisory groups and networking with local organisations including: the Environmental 
Weeds Action Network Australian and Association of Bush Regenerators. 

 Environmental weed control, field and glasshouse trials, using a wide range of herbicides within the 
Authority, with other agencies and sponsorship through mining companies. 

 Gardening advice to the general public using low nutrient and moisture efficient native plants 
through the Kings Park Master Gardeners program. 

 
Highlights for 2005/2006 in Biodiversity and Extensions 
 
 Translocation of Eremophila resinosa funded by Westonia Mines Ltd. The initial planting consisted 

of five tissue cultured clones. After enlarging the site, a further planting consisting of seed 
generated plants, commenced in the winter of 2005. The site now contains 560 plants and is 
progressing well beyond expectations.  

 Successful management of four Declared Rare Flora into a pre-mined area at Beenup sponsored 
by BHP Billiton. Grevillea brachystylis subsp. australis is producing its third batch of seed and 
Lambertia orbifolia Scott River Plains is growing well and producing seed. The other two species 
on site have also produced flowers and seed for the first time. Due to the identification of 
cinnamomi on site, the area is routinely treated with phosphite. The Phytophthora, at this stage, 
appears to be under control.  
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 The translocation of the critically endangered Corrigin Grevillea is progressing well with natural 
recruitment on two of the three sites. Seedlings generated from plants which have been through 
cryostorage are progressing well on site with high survival rates. These seedlings were grown in 
specially made (in house) air root pruning pots in an effort to improve root structure and survival 
rates. Fifty year seed burial trials have been installed at all sites and will be monitored at least 
every two years. The first harvest of these trials, sachets open to predation by rats and mice laid on 
the soil surface, indicate total predation on two sites and no predation on the third site. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Robin Campbell, Corrign LCDC, and Kaye Thies, 
Kings Park Master Gardener, inspecting the Critically 
Endangered Corrigin grevillea on a translocation site 
near Corrigin. Only 3 plants exist in the wild, however, 
there are over 1800 plants on 3 translocation sites 
flowering and producing seed. 
Photo: Robyn Benken 

 Translocation of the critically endangered Symonanthus bancroftii is progressing with a large 
amount of seed produced on one site for the first time. A small amount will be used for research 
purposes to evaluate seed treatments required to stimulate germination. 

 The ruby dock (Acetosa vesicaria) control research project in the Pilbara (funded by Robe River, 
BHP Billiton and Pilbara Iron) in collaboration with CALM Pilbara District, is progressing well and is 
now in the write-up stage. The project is promoted where possible and a workshop was held in 
Dampier for the sponsors, outlining findings, and a talk on other weeds of the Pilbara was 
presented.  

 New potting mixes and air root pruning pots, made in-house, are being trialled on several rare plant 
species. Plants are also being contract grown in these pots for a research project, field trial, in 
cooperation with CALM Narrogin District to evaluate root structures, growth and survival rates. 

 
The University of Western Australia Teaching: Plant Conservation and 
Restoration Biology Unit  
 
For the third year running, the Science Directorate has co-ordinated and taught the third year unit 
entitled ‘Conservation Biology and Restoration Ecology’ in the School of Plant Biology at The 
University of Western Australia. The unit provides students with a comprehensive induction into the 
integrated science of conservation biology and restoration ecology, taught by practitioners at the 
cutting edge of their respective fields. The lecture and practical components of the unit taught in 2006 
benefited from feedback provided by the students of 2004 and 2005. This year a significant 
component of the practical program was conducted in the teaching laboratory in the Biodiversity 
Conservation Centre. The unit attracted a strong enrolment of 27 students and the Science Directorate 
looks forward to running an even bigger and better unit in 2007. 
 
Dr Kingsley Dixon 
DIRECTOR, SCIENCE 
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Reports by Volunteer Groups 
 
 
Friends of Kings Park President’s Report 
 
It is my pleasure to present the Presidents Annual Report for 2005/2006 as we have again continued 
to grow in regards to membership, the role we play in the Park and in the wider community. The three 
Annual Plant sales along with the Wildflower Festival continue to promote the role the Friends have in 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and the use of native plants in our gardens. The growing carers 
excelled in the number of taxa offered at our sales. We produce plants at a very high standard and in 
good numbers to allow our members and customers the opportunity to obtain good value for money in 
a friendly environment. It is not unusual to see a big crowd queuing up before the gates open at 
8.30am. New procedures have been put in place to ensure that all the plants advertised for sale on the 
web page reach the point of sale. At the plant sale in March we offered Orchids for the first time, the 
plants were Tall Donkey Orchids (Diuris drummondii) produced in the Biodiversity Conservation 
Centre by the Orchid carers. The 83 specimens offered disappeared very quickly and look like 
becoming a popular addition to the plants offered at our sales. 
 
Accommodation 
 
We have finally completed the circle and returned with the rest of the Kings Park volunteer family back 
to The Lodge. This now gives us a base and the opportunity to interact on a more regular basis with 
the other groups. The process of organising the move and setting things ready for the big move fell to 
Peter Netherway and Justine Fumic and her staff. It then involved moving our “goods and chattels” 
from next door into our new home. 
 
Plans are underway to refurbish the back garden. The old garage will be replaced with a new one and 
we will replant the garden with species offered at our Plant sales. We will then have the opportunity 
hold social functions for the Friends and the other volunteer groups as well as promoting the plants we 
sell in a garden setting. 
 
Lotterywest Family Area 
 
The Lotterywest Family Area refurbishment project has come to a conclusion and was opened on 29 
April 2006. Our Immediate Past President and Special Projects Officer Tom Alford, has successfully 
managed this project with help from the project consultants. With any project of this size there is a 
need for strong leadership and Tom has led this team to achieve the planned outcomes. The Project 
Control Group (PCG) managing the project included Gareth Lindegger from Tungsten Group; David 
Smith from the landscape architects Plan E managing the construction with Environmental Industries; 
Roger Fryer, Jacqui Kennedy and Justine Fumic providing input from the Park; Andrew Walton 
represented Lotterywest; Dr Cassandra Zervos from the ECU Museum of Childhood; and Ms Pat 
O’Sullivan, one of the members of the original Lotterywest Family Area team in 1997, renewed her 
interest in the redevelopment of the area. The Project Control Group worked extremely hard to ensure 
the new playground will provide lots of new experiences for children into the future. The opening was a 
great success with many families of people involved in the refurbishment attending, including Friends, 
other Park volunteers, staff from Lotterywest, the construction and planning team as well as Authority 
staff. It was a wonderful sight to see so many young children enjoying the refurbished Family Area. 
We are indebted to our Friends at Lotterywest for their continued support in assisting in the 
refurbishment of this very popular attraction in the Park. 
 
Wildflower Address 
 
Our Annual Wildflower Address was held earlier than usual in 2005 to take the opportunity of inviting 
Professor Sir Peter Crane, Director of the Royal Botanic Gardens at Kew in the United Kingdom to be 
our guest speaker. Sir Peter’s talk entitled “Plant diversity in the 21st Century” was entertaining, 
challenging and thought provoking. Sir Peter is a very down to earth, sincere person who cares deeply 
for the environment and ensuring the diversity of plants throughout the world is maintained. After the 
talk Sir Peter joined those present for refreshments and met and spoke with many of the audience. We 
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were extremely pleased that around 180 people attended the Address, including many Friends and 
Authority staff. The State Library Theatre proved to be a popular and very suitable venue.  
 
Communication 
 
In June 2005 I had the opportunity to visit Sydney’s Royal Botanic Gardens where I met with the 
President of the Friends, Ms Caro Webster, the Acting Assistant Director, Mark Savio, and Curator, 
Simon Goodwin. We toured the gardens and discussed the operation of their Friends group, which 
has over 3,500 members and contributes $600,000 to the Royal Botanic Gardens each year. Although 
we are not as large as Sydney, due mainly to the smaller population base in Perth, there was a lot of 
commonality between our groups and the meeting provided a useful two-way flow of ideas. 
 
I have since also meet with Richard Smith, secretary of the Royal Botanic Gardens in Melbourne, 
while he was on holiday here in the West and we spent a long morning touring Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden and comparing the operations of our organisations. Richard was full of praise for our 
magazine and would like to improve their publication along the lines of ours. This was followed up with 
a visit to the Royal Botanic Gardens in Melbourne in June this year and further talks with Richard and 
also Virginia Henderson on the nuts and bolts of running organisations like ours. I see great 
opportunities for us to work closer with our interstate colleagues for the good of the Friends and the 
Authority.  
 
Activities  
 
The Growing Carers have continued to provide us with 
first class stock to sell to our enthusiastic buyers. I am 
always amazed at the way our members work tirelessly 
to ensure we have a large volume of plants while at the 
same time continuing to take on new challenges with 
the taxa they are propagating. The leadership group in 
the nursery of Tony Scalzo, Jill Rule and Val Gough 
and the dedication of the rest of the team is an 
outstanding contribution to the Friends and the Park. 
 
We are investigating options available for a more 
permanent point of sale, to reduce the need to keep 
moving all the tables to the sale site and also enable us 
to promote our plants on a regular basis.  

Friends of Kings Park Plant Sale 
Photo: C Rowett 

 
Our other carers groups continue to play an important role as Friends and in the work they do in the 
Park. The Orchid Carers have continued to show what a group of dedicated volunteers can do with the 
excellent facilities in the new Biodiversity Conservation Centre. The Tall Donkey Orchids provided for 
sale at the March 2006 Plant sale are a forerunner of things to come from this group. 
 
The Herbarium Carers continue to play a vital role in assisting in the cataloguing and vouchering of 
plants for the Authority’s herbarium.  
 
Bushland Carers have both midweek and weekend teams. The work undertaken by these groups 
removing woody weeds and replanting areas back to endemic species is showing some great results. 
I urge you to talk to the Friends or come on one of the organised walks this year to see some of the 
problems they encounter and to see the results of their labours. 
 
The Botanic Garden Carers continue to work with the staff from the Park in the development and 
management of the Botanic Garden and the results are there for any one to see. It is a credit to them 
all. 
 
One group that works tirelessly behind the scenes is the Office Carers led by Audrey Dixon. Their hard 
work in putting the monthly newsletters and magazines into envelopes for our mailouts is very much 
appreciated. As our membership continues to grow, this becomes an ever-increasing task which is 
undertaken by this group. 
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Magazine 
 
Our Magazine “For People and Plants” continues to hit new heights. The work 
undertaken by our Editor Tony Scalzo, our Graphic Designer Rosalie Okely 
and all the contributors is world-class, comments from people and other 
Friends’ groups around Australia give nothing but compliments on the quality 
and content of the magazine. The winter edition last year was our 50th and it 
was celebrated with a superb article on the Canning Stock Route Expedition 
organised by the Authority. It was the first time we had sponsored a member 
of the Friends to go on an expedition and Tony gave us good insight into how 
the expeditions are run and the camaraderie that is engendered over the 
period of the trip. We also produced our second calendar which was put 
together by Tony and Rose and again the result was a spectacular 
achievement. Many thanks to Aspects of Kings Park for marketing the 
calendar for us.  For People and Plants 50th 

edition magazine cover.  
Organisation 
 
We have been established since 1993 and the organisational structure has changed little since those 
days. In February 2006 three consultants from The Integral Leadership Centre, an alliance between 
the Australian Institute of Management and The University of Western Australia, commenced a 
structural review of the Friends. This has involved focus group meetings with staff from the Authority, 
the Friends’ Committee and members. These meetings have allowed the consultants an insight into 
how we have operated in the past and an opportunity for those who have been involved to put forward 
ideas for the future development of the Friends. I would like to thank those who have been involved in 
the review for their participation.  
 
Following the collation and analysis of the information received from the focus groups, one-on-one 
interviews and random questionnaire, a workshop was held with the Friends’ Committee to present the 
findings and seek validation on issues arising from the findings. The consultants then drew it all 
together to prepare the review report prior to presenting the final findings to the Friends’ Committee in 
mid April. The results of this review have given the Friends a blueprint for the future and allowed the 
Committee to set strategic milestones and timelines to improve the efficiency of our operations for the 
benefits of all our members. 
 
Relationship with the Authority and the Kings Park Family 
 
Our partnership with the staff and the other volunteer groups has continued to allow us to achieve 
excellent results for the Park, the staff, our fellow volunteers and our members. On behalf of the 
Friends I would like to thank CEO, Mark Webb and all his staff for their co-operation and support. It is 
a pleasure to work with such a dedicated friendly workforce. 
 
Management Committee 
 
The Committee continues to strive to achieve the best outcomes for the members; this involves 
continual assessment in responding to the needs and aspirations of our members. The dedication of 
our Committee and staff ensures this happens and I would like to give my sincere thanks to Tom 
Alford, as our Immediate Past President, Tom has helped me through the past year with sound advice 
and lots of humour; Vice President Trish Byslma; Secretary Natalie Hartill; Treasurer Jim Rule; 
Magazine Editor Tony Scalzo; Committee members Val Gough, Ann Revell, Jill Rule; and our 
Membership and Marketing Co-ordinator Jo Walker. During the year, two Committee members 
resigned and I would like to thank both Frank Parrotte and Chris Day for their hard work and support 
over the past years. 
 
I would like to extend our thanks to Natalie Hartill who has resigned so she can move nearer to her 
family in Busselton. Natalie has been the glue that has kept the machinery of the Friends together 
over the past eight years. Thank you very much Natalie your dedication and enthusiasm, we wish you 
well in Busselton. 
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It is with a dedicated Committee working for a common goal that makes it possible to go forward to the 
challenges of tomorrow, and we are fortunate to have such a Committee. On behalf of all the 
members, thank you all for your hard work and dedication. 
 
In conclusion I would like to sincerely thank all the members of the Friends and the Kings Park family 
for making the last year such a rewarding and enjoyable experience. 
 
Martin Revell 
PRESIDENT, FRIENDS OF KINGS PARK 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 2005-2006 Annual Report 67 



Kings Park Guides President’s Report 
 
At the end of this financial year there are 126 Guides, 19 of whom are on three month’s probation, 
having just finished a five month training course (113 Guides as at 30 June 2005). Over the course of 
the twelve months, Guides have performed 6,407 hours of regular duties, in the Information Centre 
and on guided walks. In addition to this, a small band of about thirty Guides have also given over 
3,000 hours of voluntary time to complete extra duties. These include the recent Training program, 
Committee meetings, and the accompanying work involved, preparation of new and revised 
brochures, organisation of Guide assessment (T.E.G. – Team for Evaluating Guides), and compiling 
the rosters for general duties and those during the Wildflower Festival. It is a most dedicated effort, 
and both the Authority and the public benefit greatly. 
 
The Information Centre 
 
The Information Centre is open daily (except Christmas Day) from 9:00am to 4:00pm, with extended 
hours during the Wildflower Festival. Two Guides are on duty at one time with two shifts cover the 
opening hours. 

 
As reported last year, the Authority had refurbished 
the Guides Information Centre and all was working 
smoothly. However, Fraser’s Restaurant then 
sought permission from the Board to develop a 
new café, involving the relocation of the Guides 
Information Centre to a new site in front of Aspects 
of Kings Park. Within a month of negotiations being 
resolved, the Guides had taken up temporary 
accommodation with a beautiful desk inside 
Aspects of Kings Park.  
 
The move occurred over the Easter weekend, and 
Guides working at the Information Desk in Aspects.  

Photo: J. Weston 
despite the timing, all went very smoothly. 
Enquiries have been down due to our temporary location, however, the number of walkers seems to 
have been maintained and donations have increased since we have installed a new, transparent box. 
The Guides now await the completion of the new Visitor Information Centre, which will be furnished in 
a slightly more modern style. We hope to be well settled in time for the 2006 Wildflower Festival. 
 
The queries that one is asked in the Information Centre are fairly wide ranging. “Where is – the bus 
stop? --- the toilet? --- the dinosaur playground?” (all very easy to answer). Then there are more 
detailed questions about the site of various memorials – Tobruk, Bali, the Fire Fighters memorial, for 
example. With the help of a standard map, directions can be given clearly. Also, one may be asked 
where the tree is, on one of the Honour Avenues, which has a plaque commemorating “my uncle, 
John Brown” – the Honour Avenue index needs to be consulted for this. Finally, an earnest botanist 
may enquire, for example, the whereabouts in the Park of an unusual orchid or acacia. One may need 
to consult “Perth Plants” or even phone one of the Authority staff to ask if they have a GPS reference 
for that particular species. We have a variety of brochures and pamphlets to give out to members of 
the public, to back up our verbal answers. The series of 14 'Know Kings Park' information brochures 
provide more detailed information about certain topics, and a new brochure, 'Kings Park for Kids' was 
introduced for the benefit of families. This last brochure was developed by Guides and its printing was 
funded by the Friends of Kings Park. A small committee is working on ideas for further brochures. 
 
When we move into our new Information Centre, we will have access to our own computer, which, in 
the fullness of time when data entry has been arranged, should help Guides answer the more 
abstruse queries. However, Guides are trained to be Guides for Kings Park and Botanic Garden, not 
for the whole of Perth and Western Australia. With the planned public internet kiosk, visitors will be 
able to research some general information for themselves. It is an exciting time to be a Guide. 
 
Each day a record is kept of the number of visitor contacts, and this years’ statistics show a total of 
47,802 contacts by visitors from every continent (51,461 in 2004-2005), in addition, many telephone 
enquiries are attended to however, meaningful numbers are yet to be identified. 
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Evaluation 
 
The Team for Evaluating Guides (TEG) has been active again this year, assessing the walks and 
sessions in the Information Centre. On the whole, Guides find being assessed a positive experience, 
and the standard of Guiding remains very high. The Comments Book entries written by visitors reflect 
the intrinsic beauty of Kings Park and Botanic Garden, and also compliment the Guides who lead the 
walks and offer assistance in the Information Centre.  
 
Free Guided Walks 
 
Our program of two, free guided walks a day, at 10 
am and 2 pm has continued this year, with the 
same calendar as in previous years, depending on 
the season. Numbers of walkers vary according to 
the weather i.e., fewer walkers if it is wet or windy, 
and a significant increase in September/October 
and during the Wildflower Festival. 
 
If requested, we also undertake special walks, for 
larger groups or people with special interests, and 
there is a small per capita charge for these.  

A Guide taking visitors on a Botanic Walk. 
Photo – R. Okely  

Numbers of walkers in 2005 - 2006: 
Free guided walks: 3,850  (3,926 in 2004/2005) 
Special walks:    490  (   590 in 2004/2005) 
Total walkers: 4,340  (4,516 in 2004/2005) 
 
The Lodge 
 
In December 2005, The Lodge at the Fraser Avenue entry to the Park was allocated to the volunteer 
groups who work in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. Each group has their own room; there is a large 
area which houses a printer and photocopier, and also a Board Room for meetings. The large garden 
at the rear is to have a makeover and then will be able to be used for outdoor gatherings or BBQs. 
The Master Gardeners have made a plan for the garden, the Friends have promised suitable plants, 
and the Authority will attend to the lawn area. All the volunteer groups will be involved in a busy-bee to 
do the work, once the old asbestos garage is replaced with a new model. Having all the volunteer 
groups with offices in the same building allows much more interaction, which is very pleasant, and 
engenders co-operative working. 
 
Uniform 
 
Guides now each have one uniform shirt provided free of charge, that has the Authority logo plainly 
visible and also that of Authority sponsor, Synergy (formerly Western Power). Each Guide is also 
provided with a hat if they wish to wear one on walks. This uniform gives conformity to the Guides, and 
allows them to be easily recognisable when leading walks or around the Park. 
 
Further Education 
 
Guides are required to update their knowledge and skills and to this end, a relevant lecture is arranged 
after most general meetings, which is followed the next week by a walk in the Park that demonstrates 
some of the same information. We have had, inter alia; several Authority staff come to address us on 
a variety of topics, and also Leigh Robinson, the architect who oversaw the restoration of the State 
War Memorial.  
 
Seven Guides attended the October 2005 Conference for Volunteer Guides in Botanic Gardens, held 
by the Guides of the Royal Botanic Gardens, Melbourne. Two of these Guides were funded by the 
Friends of Kings Park and the rest were self funded. Attending such a Conference is a most 
worthwhile experience, which allows networking with Guides from other Gardens as well as increasing 
one’s knowledge about plants and their habitat.  
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The Constitution 
 
After much detailed and dedicated work on the Guides’ Constitution and a set of By-laws, a motion to 
accept them was passed in September 2005 and they were officially approved by the Department of 
Consumer and Employment Protection on 7 October 2005. Three minor clarifications have to be 
submitted by October 2006. It was sad that after many months of work on this ‘opus’, Noreen 
Kennealy died without seeing it come to finality. However, her efforts and those of Ethel Lucas have 
not been in vain. 
 
Special Events and Activities 
 
Wildflower Festival 
 
As usual, the twice daily, free guided walks were suspended during the Wildflower Festival, and 
special one hour wildflower walks undertaken instead. Guides also staffed the Information Booth as 
well as helping in the Kings Park Shop on the Festival site. The operating hours of the Guides 
Information Centre are extended slightly during this very busy time. 
Festival enquiries:  421 in 2005 (over 400 in 2004) 
Festival walkers:    830 in 2005 (676 in 2004) 
 
Melbourne 2006 - Queen’s Baton Relay 
 
Early on a glorious Perth summer morning in February, ten Guides stationed themselves along the 
route of the Melbourne 2006 Queen’s Baton Relay to ensure that the first three runners of the day did 
not go astray. The baton arrived at Kaarta Gar-up Lookout, where the official party, including the 
Premier, the Hon. Alan Carpenter MLA, was welcomed with an Indigenous ceremony. The baton was 
then carried past the State War Memorial and on to the Lotterywest Federation Walkway, through the 
Water Garden and the Banksia Garden to the Wildflower Pavilion. After the Premier had addressed 
the gathering there, the baton left the Park. The Guides then joined with the gathered guests to enjoy 
a healthy breakfast in the Wildflower Pavilion. 
 
New Wheelchair 
 
The Guides have purchased a lightweight, folding wheelchair for use by visitors to the Park. The 
money for this chair had been accumulated from the Trading Table that occurs at most general 
meetings. Guides bring plants they have grown, (carefully wrapped to prevent any soil leakage), which 
are then sold. So, thanks to all the Guides who have donated and purchased plants over the years, we 
were able to buy a wheelchair which is already being used often by visitors, thus demonstrating that it 
does indeed fill a need. 
 
 
Social Activities 
 
Guiding does have a lighter side with several social events were 
arranged during the year.  
 
A dusk walk in Karakamia Sanctuary, Chidlow, and a weekend visit to 
the Stirling Range Retreat were a mixture of education and pleasure. 
We saw several nocturnal marsupials on the dusk walk at Chidlow as 
well as different flora. At the Banksia Farm, Mount Barker, we were 
given a lecture and a tour of the grounds with Kevin Collins which was 
extremely instructive. Slide shows of birds and of wildflowers local to the 
Retreat kept us amused in the evenings and a great wildflower walk in 
the Stirling Ranges let us see many flowering orchids as well as other 
species. 
 
Other outings have included a visit to the Perth Mint; an art exhibition in 
Fremantle; and also a film morning. 
 Banksia grandis – in all stages of 

flowering. Photo: C Pocock 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 2005-2006 Annual Report 70 



The Christmas Party given by the Authority for 
all Volunteers was a very relaxed and happy 
occasion, held at Zamia Café in the Synergy 
Parkland. 
 
Relationships between Guides and 
the Authority Staff  
 
The Kings Park Guides continue to enjoy very 
cordial relationships with all the Authority staff, 
and we all greatly appreciate the help and 
support that we receive from them.  Guides at the Banksia Farm. Photo – C. Pocock 
 

Special thanks go to Mark Webb, Chief Executive Officer; to Marcelle Broderick, Director of Business 
and Visitor Services; and all the staff in her Directorate. The Visitor Services team and the office staff 
give willing assistance all the year through, whenever we need it, and we do thank them for this. The 
Guides could not function as well if all this support was not forthcoming. 
 
Finally, the co-operation and good interaction between the Authority Staff and all the Volunteer Groups 
makes working in Kings Park and Botanic Garden a pleasure and a privilege, and so enhances the 
experience of visitors. 
 
Carol Pocock 
PRESIDENT, KINGS PARK GUIDES 
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Kings Park Master Gardeners President’s Report 
 
Between 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2006, twenty one Master Gardeners contributed some 2375 hours 
of voluntary service. In addition, many hours were devoted to administrative work; newsletter 
production; attendance at meetings and further education activities; preparation for public 
presentations and co-ordination of a further training course. 
 
Gardening Advisory Service 
 
The Master Gardeners’ group was founded to enable the Authority to provide free advice to home 
gardeners on the growing of native plants. Throughout the year members have operated a telephone 
advisory service on three half days per week, dealing with both recorded queries and direct calls. 
Members also provided advice at a Help Desk at the 2005 Wildflower Festival. In all they have 
answered some 1230 queries. In addition, the Master Gardeners introduced a new generation to 
gardening with native plants by assisting children at the Festival to pot a tiny stylidium and providing a 
simple information sheet on its care as a memento of their visit.  
 
Bushland Garden 
 
The Master Gardeners continued to develop their Bushland Garden to demonstrate the advantages of 
growing local species. Timely rains and thick mulch meant that not only did some of the initial 
plantings on this previously degraded corner near the Biodiversity Conservation Centre thrive and 
flower in spring, but approximately 90% survived the summer’s heat without watering. While the 1,200 
additional plants members have raised from seed and planted out this year may not fare as well, some 
clearing of the site and control of weeds has resulted in natural recruitment of at least five species. An 
attractive interpretive sign now provides the public with an explanation of the project and it is planned 
to develop further printed information. 
 
Bushland Restoration 
 
The Authority’s Bushland Management team has again given Master Gardeners the opportunity to be 
involved in their restoration work on the Scarp. Twenty members and trainees recently surprised staff 
by putting in 4,000 plants in a morning. The advantage of such activities, apart from much informal 
learning, a sense of achievement and an excellent morning tea, is the opportunity they provide for 
members who are generally rostered individually or work in small groups, to come together to share 
information and develop camaraderie.  

 
Conservation Work 
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 Seed Collection at Translocation Site. Photo: Bob Dixon 

Throughout the year, Master Gardeners have 
assisted staff and post graduate students in a 
variety of conservation activities. These have 
included tasks related to the Park’s commitment to 
the Millennium Seed Bank Project, germination 
trials, tissue culture involving endangered species, 
and the return of some species to their natural 
habitat. This activity has involved long days on a 
number of country translocation sites assisting with 
planting, monitoring and seed collection followed 
by the recording of information. 

 
Promotional Activities 
 
By demonstration in the Bushland Garden, by response to gardening queries, and by public 
presentations, Master Gardeners have continued to spread the message about the beauty and 
diversity of Western Australian flora, the advantages of growing local plants, and the work that is being 
undertaken by the Authority to better understand our flora and save endangered species. For 
presentations to aged care groups, service and social clubs, members have attracted donations of 



more than $400. Master Gardeners have also assisted at the national conference of the Australian 
Society for the Growing of Australian Plants, distributed our attractive brochure at Garden Week and 
negotiated its inclusion in packs distributed at gardening workshops held in metropolitan regions. 
Thanks to The Friends of Kings Park, a number of articles on attractive garden plants, together with 
details of their propagation and growing requirements, have been published in the Friends of Kings 
Park For People and Plants magazine.  
 
Training and Further Education  
 
A further training course has been coordinated by Master Gardeners, commencing with a survey of 
members to review past programs and ensure that the course would provide the best possible 
background for the work in which we are now involved. Speakers were secured, drawing mainly on 
staff, but with some expert input by members of other Government agencies and industry. The group 
of 24 very able trainees have been joined for some sessions by Master Gardeners seeking revision, 
an Associate Member returning to duty after several years interstate, and several of the Authority’s 
Horticultural Trainees. The availability of well equipped meeting rooms within the Biodiversity 
Conservation Centre has greatly facilitated the organisation of the course. 
 
Our monthly newsletter has kept all members 
informed of our activities and of developments 
within Kings Park and Botanic Garden, as well as 
botanical and horticultural issues. The regular quiz 
provided an opportunity for readers to revise and 
extend their knowledge. Through our program of 
speakers and visits we have learnt of the plant 
breeding work in which Digby Growns has been 
involved and been introduced to the new Perth 
Plants by its co-author, Russell Barrett. We have 
explored Kings Park bushland and parkland, visited 
Bold Park and travelled to Calingri to view a feast of 
wildflowers and examine restoration work on a 
member’s family property. 
 Master Gardeners visit to Calingri. Photo: Bob Dixon 
Improved Facilities 
 
Having worked under difficulties in the old Science building, we were fortunate to be allocated a desk 
in the Biodiversity Conservation Centre. This placed us close to our mentor Bob Dixon but 
unfortunately far from the library, the entire contents of which our members packed for the move, 
unpacked and arranged in the new building. Permission to withdraw some reference material from the 
collection on ‘permanent loan’ and recent funding to purchase additional material and suitable storage 
at our desk will make our work considerably easier.  
 
With the allocation of an office in The Lodge and the provision of a computer, we now have an 
excellent workspace and are at last able to consolidate equipment and records acquired since 1997, 
previously stored in members’ homes and on personal computers. The sharing of The Lodge is also 
promoting closer ties with the Authority’s other volunteer groups. 
 
Master Gardeners and Staff Interaction 
 
While the excellent relationship Master Gardeners have developed over the years with staff and 
students in the Science Directorate has been maintained, the move to the Biodiversity Conservation 
Centre has engendered a closer relationship with staff of both Horticulture and Conservation and 
Visitor Services, presenting both further support and new possibilities for assisting within these areas. 
We express our gratitude to all who generously share their knowledge, skills and facilities with us. 
 
We sincerely thank Mark Webb, Chief Executive Officer, for his personal support and encouragement, 
and for the positive attitude towards volunteers that this engenders throughout the Authority. We thank 
both Dr Kingsley Dixon, Director of Science, for his ongoing support of our group, and Marcelle 
Broderick, Director of Business and Visitor Services, for canvassing issues through a recent Volunteer 
Survey, for her prompt attention to matters of concern, and increased support for the Master 
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Gardeners. We are grateful also for the increasing involvement and support of Volunteer Coordinator, 
Peter Netherway, and it would be remiss not to express sincere thanks to the Administrative 
Assistants from all Directorates. They so frequently facilitate our work and interface with the Authority.  
 
Above all, sincere thanks to our mentor, Bob Dixon, Biodiversity and Extensions Manager, whose 
untiring assistance and confidence in our ability has enabled Master Gardeners to continue to 
contribute, and to enjoy the many rewards of voluntary service with the Authority.  
 
Ethel Lucas 
PRESIDENT, KINGS PARK MASTER GARDENERS  
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The Highgate RSL Sub-Branch Honour Avenues Group  
Chairman’s Report 
 
The past year has been a highly successful and productive one based on more volunteers joining us 
from Highgate RSL Sub-Branch, following a recruitment drive by HAG members, and grants from the 
Friends of Kings Park and the State Government. 
 
The grants enabled us to purchase basic equipment and materials essential to the production of both 
plaques and their posts, while the increase in volunteers gave us the opportunity in which to expand 
our working days to both a Tuesday and Thursday. 
 
The added working hours of two teams enabled us to measurably increase our workshop output of 
refurbishment of plaques and post preparation, whilst putting an expanded mobile team into the Park 
to replace the old with the new. 
 
An audit of every plaque and post (over 1,200) is being carried out to service two areas. The first 
requirement is to update our manual records which, have been transferred to our computer in The 
Lodge. This forms the base of our lists detailing the Honour Avenue and tree number, together with 
the service number, name, rank, battalion/squadron/ship etc plus where and when killed and age, 
which is recorded on each plaque. Displayed on the Authority’s computer site it can be referenced by 
next-of-kin, or relatives, informing them if a plaque exists for their relative and if so exactly where it can 
be found in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
 
During this audit, additional information is gathered as to the composition of the plaque, be it cast iron 
or aluminium, if it is an old or new post, is the unit patch made of tin or the new acrylic style. This 
information, together with the other information gathered, is recorded on our computer for ongoing 
maintenance programs. 
 
Activities for members in the first four months of 2006 include: 
 
Members worked 31 days for a total of 637 hours. 
220 Honour Plaques were refurbished to our “best quality” standard. 
148 posts were replaced or recycled by refurbishment. 
130 unit colour patches were replaced with the new style acrylic type. 
 
As well as the above some 18 new Honour Plaques were designed, manufactured and prepared for 
dedication services held in Lovekin Drive and Marri Walk in front of some 200 relatives, friends and 
officials from the Authority and the RSL. 
 
It was also a year in which we encouraged schools to join us in Kings Park and Botanic Garden, prior 
to ANZAC Day, to learn more of the State War Memorial, The Flame of Remembrance and The 
Honour Avenues. This was carried out by Highgate RSL Sub-Wardens of the State War Memorial and 
members of the Honour Avenues Group. 
 
It was very pleasing to see a sample of our youth react to the solemnity of the occasion as Carine 
Senior High placed fresh flowers on every plaque in the Honour Avenues while All Saints College 
washed the dirt from the posts and plaques. We plan to encourage more schools to attend next year. 
 
We look forward to meeting the targets we have set ourselves for the coming 12 months and our 
ultimate aim of presenting and maintaining the best Plaques of Remembrance, in Honour Avenue’s, in 
Australia. 
 
In achieving our aims we are very mindful of the incredible co-operation and understanding shown by 
the staff of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, who have done so much for our small group and 
to the Friends of Kings Park who support us so strongly as do the Guides and Master Gardeners. 
 
Thank you all from all of “The Boys”. 
 
Norman G Manners 
CHAIRMAN, HONOUR AVENUES GROUP 
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Friends of Bold Park Bushland (Inc) Chairman’s Report 
 
The Friends of Bold Park Bushland (Inc) (the Friends) maintained its close partnership with the 
Authority over the past year. The committee has experienced a number of changes, with the 
retirement of Alex Robinson (after nearly 20 years), our Chairman, Gerry Brennan, Treasurer, Kelvin 
Ang, Secretary, Trish Gregory, and Committee member, Jeremy Owen.  
 
We are grateful to welcome three new committee members, Norma Calcutt, a previous Chairman, as 
well as David Ball and new Treasurer, John McNaught. Although not on the Committee, Mark 
Ballesteros continues to produce our newsletter. Thanks also to continuing Committee members, Joy 
Robinson and Barbara Knott. Despite the smaller Committee and the lack of a secretary, the 
Committee remains enthusiastic and dedicated to the cause of protecting and rehabilitating Bold Park.  
 
Bushland Regeneration Group 
 
This group has continued to meet twice monthly during the winter months, assisting the Authority in 
bush regeneration work. Work is focussed on the Eastern Gateway precinct, along Perry Lakes Drive, 
with the main activities being weeding and planting. Our thanks to Jeremy Owens and Barbara Knott 
for their dedicated work in co-ordinating these activities.  
 
Adopt-a-Highway 
 
The Friends continues to be involved in the Adopt-a-Highway program, which sees us collecting 
rubbish along the West Coast Highway edge of Bold Park four times a year. The collected rubbish is 
later removed by Town Of Cambridge staff. Thanks to Jeremy Owen, who organises this activity.  
 
Community Advisory Group 
 
The Friends are represented by two members on the Community Advisory Group, which meets 
quarterly to discuss matters related to the management and development of Bold Park. In the past 
year efforts have focussed on providing input into the Bold Park Management Plan, which was 
launched in May 2006.  
 
Stephenson Highway Road Reserve 
 
The Friends remain concerned about the existence of the Stephenson Highway road reservation 
through the northern section of Bold Park. Lobbying has continued, particularly as there appears to be 
increased activity in developing the northern portions of Stephenson Highway, near the Mitchell 
Freeway in Osborne Park.   
 
Bushland Adjacent to Bold Park 
 
In the past year the Friends has expended much effort in providing comment on proposals for two 
major developments on the Park’s boundaries.  
 
The medium density housing development on the corner of Kalinda Drive and The Boulevard, City 
Beach, is adjacent to the water reservoir, close to the old quarry site and Bold Park pool. The Friends 
have lobbied to protect remnant trees on the site, especially mature tuarts, and have promoted the 
exclusion of cats from the new housing area.   
 
We have also been active in commenting on proposals for basketball facilities and a new athletics 
stadium in the A K Reserve, on Underwood Avenue opposite Perry Lakes and the Park. Our 
comments have focussed on the desirability of retaining as much remnant vegetation as possible by 
careful siting of the facilities and the containment of parking areas. This area of bush is part of a 
corridor linking Bold Park to other major areas of remnant bush in the western suburbs, including 
Shenton Bushland and the remaining bush further east on Underwood Avenue. 
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The Future 
 
Motivated by a concern to protect and maintain Bold Park, we will continue to work with the Authority 
to secure the Park’s long-term future, including minimisation of the impacts of developments at the 
Park’s perimeter, and, in the case of Stephenson Highway, any possible future impact within the Park 
itself.  
 
We are grateful for the support received from Authority staff located at Bold Park, particularly the help 
of Lesley Hammersley, who attends Committee meetings to provide a detailed report and answer our 
questions.  
 
Stephanie Clegg 
CHAIRMAN, FRIENDS OF BOLD PARK BUSHLAND (INC) 
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Publications 
 
 
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority creates and contributes to, many publications throughout 
the year. In addition, a range of botanical, gardening, historical, indigenous, and children’s books are 
available for sale at Aspects of Kings Park, Kings Park and Botanic Garden’s retail 
outlet.  
 
Books 
 

Barrett, R.l. and Tay, E.P. (2005) Perth plants: a field guide to the bushland and 
coastal flora of Kings Park and Bold Park, Perth, Western Australia. Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority. 414 pp. 

 
Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D.J. (eds) (2006) Australian Seeds. A guide to their 

collection, identification and biology. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 258 pp. 
 
Book Chapters 
 

Fryer, R. (2006) Appendix 1: Seed germination records. In: Sweedman, L. and 
Merritt, D. J. (eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and 
biology. pp. 199-219. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 

Hopper, S.D., Dixon, K.W. and Hill, R.S. (2006) Australian seeds through time. In: Sweedman, L. 
and Merritt, D. J. (eds) Australian Seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 
5-10. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 

Krauss, S.L. (2006) Conservation genetics and the management of ex situ collections: examples 
from the Australian flora. In: Savolainen, V., Powell, M.P., Davis, K., Reeves, G. and Corthals, A.  
(eds.) DNA and tissue banking for biodiversity and conservation:  theory, practice and uses. pp. 
87-95. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew and IUCN, UK. 

Merritt, D.J. (2006) Seed storage and testing. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. J. (eds) Australian 
seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 53-60. CSIRO Publishing, 
Melbourne. 

Merritt, D.J. and Rokich, D.P. (2006) Seed biology and ecology. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. J. 
(eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 19-24. CSIRO 
Publishing, Melbourne. 

Sweedman, L.W. (2006) Drying and cleaning seeds after collection. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. 
J. (eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 41-52. CSIRO 
Publishing, Melbourne. 

Sweedman, L.W. (2006) Australian seeds: a photographic guide. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. J. 
(eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 67-172. CSIRO 
Publishing, Melbourne. 

Sweedman, L.W. and Brand, G. (2006) Seed collection in the field. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. 
J. (eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification and biology. pp. 25-40. CSIRO 
Publishing, Melbourne. 

Sweedman, L.W. and Brand, G. (2006) Collection guidelines for common Australian families and 
genera. In: Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D. J. (eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, 
identification and biology. pp. 173-198. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 

Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D.J. (eds) (2006) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, 
identification and biology. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 

Tenner, C., Hopper, S.D., Merritt, D.J., Cochrane, A. and Sweedman, L. (2006) Introduction. In: 
Sweedman, L. and Merritt, D.J. (eds) Australian seeds. A guide to their collection, identification 
and biology. pp. 1-4. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne. 
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Webb, M. (2005) Peter Good: Gardener on a voyage of discovery. In: Lege, J., George, A., Gathe, 
J., Lemson, K. and Napier, K. (eds) Matthew Flinders and his Scientific Gentleman. Museum 
Press. 

 
Refereed publications 
 

Baker, K.S., Plummer, J.A., Merritt, D.J., and Dixon, K.W. (2005) Australian fire ephemerals have 
potential as cover crops in land rehabilitation. In: Adkins, S.W., Ainsley, P.J., Bellairs, S.M., 
Coates, D.J and Bell, L.C. (eds) Proceedings of the Fifth Australian Workshop on Native Seed 
Biology. Brisbane, Queensland. 21-23 June 2004. pp. 263-265. (Australian Centre for Minerals 
Extension and Research, Brisbane). 

Baker, K.S., Plummer, J.A., Steadman, K.J., Merritt, D.J., and Dixon, K.W. (2005) Changes in 
sensitivity to smoke water during burial of a fire ephemeral, Actinotus leucocephalus (Apiaceae). 
In: Adkins, S.W., Ainsley, P.J., Bellairs, S.M., Coates, D.J and Bell, L.C. (eds) Proceedings of the 
Fifth Australian Workshop on Native Seed Biology. Brisbane, Queensland. 21-23 June 2004. pp. 
133-139. (Australian Centre for Minerals Extension and Research, Brisbane). 

Baker, K.S., Plummer, J.A., Steadman, K.J., Merritt, D.J., and Dixon, K.W. (2005) Dormancy release 
in Australian fire ephemeral seeds during burial increases germination response to smoke water 
or heat. Seed Science Research 15: 339-348. 

Baker, K.S., Plummer, J.A., Steadman, K.J., Merritt, D.J., and Dixon, K.W. (2005) The changing 
window of conditions that promotes germination of two fire ephemerals, Actinotus leucocephalus 
(Apiaceae) and Tersonia cyathiflora (Gyrostemonaceae). Annals of Botany 96(7): 1225-1236. 

Baker, K.S., Steadman, K.J., Plummer, J.A. and Dixon, K.W. (2005) Seed dormancy and 
germination responses of nine Australian fire ephemerals. Plant and Soil 277: 345-358. 

Barrett, L.G., He, T.H., Lamont, B.B. and Krauss, S.L. (2005) Temporal patterns of genetic variation 
across a 9-year-old aerial seed bank of the shrub Banksia hookeriana (Proteaceae). Molecular 
Ecology 14: 4169-4179. 

Barrett, R.L. (2006) A review of the genus Planchonia (Lecythidaceae) in Australia. Australian 
Systematic Botany 18: 147-153. 

Batty, A.L., Brundrett, M.C., Dixon, K.W. and Sivasithamparam, K. (2006) New methods to improve 
symbiotic propagation of temperate terrestrial orchid seedlings from axenic culture to soil. 
Australian Journal of Botany 54: 367-374. 

Batty, A.L., Brundrett, M.C., Dixon, K.W. and Sivasithamparam, K. (2006) In situ symbiotic seed 
germination and propagation of terrestrial orchid seedlings for establishment at field sites. 
Australian Journal of Botany 54: 375-381. 

Bunn, E., Senaratna, T., Sivasithamparam, K. and Dixon, K.W. (2005) In vitro propagation of 
Eucalyptus phylacis L. Johnson & K. Hill., a critically endangered relict from Western Australia. In 
Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology—Plant 41(6): 812-815. 

Bunn, E. (2005) Development of in vitro methods for ex situ conservation of Eucalyptus impensa, an 
endangered mallee from south west Western Australia. Plant Cell Tissue and Organ Culture 83: 
97-102. 

Bussell, J.D., Hood, P., Alacs, E.A., Dixon, K.W., Hobbs, R.J. and Krauss, S.L. (2006) Rapid genetic 
delineation of local provenance seed collection zones for effective rehabilitation of an urban 
bushland remnant. Austral Ecology 31: 131-142. 

Crosti, R., Ladd, P.G., Dixon, K.W. and Piotto, B. (2006) Post-fire germination: The effect of smoke 
on seeds of selected species from the central Mediterranean basin. Forest Ecology and 
Management 221: 306-312. 

Flematti, G.R., Ghisalberti, E.L., Dixon, K.W. and Trengove, R.D. (2005) Synthesis of the seed 
germination stimulant 3-methyl-2H-furo[2,3-c]pyran-2-one. Tetrahedron Letters 46: 5719-5721. 

Heliyanto, B., Krauss, S.L., Lambers, H., Cawthray, G.R. and Veneklaas, E.J. (2006) Increased 
ecological amplitude through heterosis following wide outcrossing in Banksia ilicifolia 
(Proteaceae). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 19: 1327-1338. 
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Hollick, P.S., Taylor, R.J., McComb, J.A. and Dixon, K.W. (2005) If orchid mycorrhizal fungi are so 
specific, how do natural hybrids cope? Selbeyana 26: 159-170. 

Hopper, S.D. and Brown, A.P. (2006) Australia’s wasp-pollinated flying duck orchids revised 
(Paracaleana: Orchidaceae) Australian Systematic Botany 19: 211-244. 

Krauss, S.L., He, T.H. Lamont, B.B., Miller, B.P. and Enright, N.J. (2006) Late Quaternary climate 
change and spatial genetic structure in the shrub Banksia hookeriana. Molecular Ecology 15: 
1125-1137. 

Krauss, S.L., Koch, J.M., Vlahos, S. (2005) A novel approach for the rapid genetic delineation of 
provenance for minesite revegetation. Ecological Management and Restoration 6: 153-155. 

Krauss, S.L., Zawko, G., Bussell, J.D., Taylor, R., Hood, P. (2005). Towards a genetic provenance 
atlas for bushland rehabilitation and mine-site revegetation in the south-west of Western 
Australia. In: Adkins, S.W., Ainsley, P.J., Bellairs, S.M., Coates, D.J and Bell, L.C. (eds) 
Proceedings of the Fifth Australian Workshop on Native Seed Biology. Brisbane, Queensland. 21-
23 June 2004. pp. 25-35. (Australian Centre for Minerals Extension and Research, Brisbane). 

Ma, G-H., Bunn, E., Zhang, J.-F. and Wu, Guo-Jiang (2006) Evidence of dichogamy in Santalum 
album L. Journal of Integrative Plant Science 48: 300-306. 

Merritt, D.J., Kristiansen, M., Flematti, G.R., Turner, S.R., Ghisalberti, E.L., Trengove, R.D. and 
Dixon, K.W. (2006). Effects of a butenolide present in smoke on light-mediated germination of 
Australian Asteraceae. Seed Science Research 16: 29-35. 

Merritt, D.J., Turner, S.R., Commander, L.E. and Dixon, K.W. (2005). Integrated seed science for 
delivering a better restoration outcome. In: Adkins, S.W., Ainsley, P.J., Bellairs, S.M., Coates, D.J 
and Bell, L.C. (eds) Proceedings of the Fifth Australian Workshop on Native Seed Biology. 
Brisbane, Queensland. 21-23 June 2004. pp. 69-76. (Australian Centre for Minerals Extension 
and Research, Brisbane). 

Sage, L.W. and Dixon, K.W. (2005) Goodenia pedicellata (Goodeniaceae), a new species from the 
Great Sandy Desert of Western Australia. Nuytsia 15: 513-516. 

Scade, A., Brundrett, M.C., Batty, A.L., Dixon, K.W. and Sivasithamparam, K. (2006) Survival of 
transplanted terrestrial orchid seedlings in urban bushland habitats with high or low weed cover.  
Australian Journal of Botany 54: 383-389. 

Turner, S.R., Pearce, B., Rokich, D.P., Dunn, R.R., Merritt, D.J., Majer,, J.R. and  
Dixon, K.W. (2006) Influence of polymer seed coatings, soil raking, and time of sowing on 
seedling performance in post mining restoration. Restoration Ecology 14: 267-277. 

Yates, C.J., Hopper, S.D. and Taplin, R.H. (2006) Native insect flower visitor diversity and feral 
honeybees on jarrah (Eucalyptus marginata) in Kings Park, an urban bushland remnant. Journal 
of the Royal Society of Western Australia 88: 147-153. 

 
Non-refereed publications and reports 
 

Barrett, R.L. (2006) Preliminary taxonomic studies of the Sword Sedges (Lepidosperma, 
Cyperaceae) in the Jarrah Forest of Western Australia around Boddington and Dwellingup. 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Science, commissioned by Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd and 
Alcoa World Alumina Australia. 

Butcher, P.A., Bradbury, D. Anthony, J. and Krauss, S.L. (2006) Second Annual Report on “An 
integrated research program focussed on practical outcomes for the ex situ and in situ 
conservation, restoration and translocation of the DRF Tetratheca paynterae (Tremandaceae)” 
submitted to Portman Iron Ore, March 31. Report # 37 from the Genetics Laboratory, Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority, Science Directorate. 

Butcher, P.A., Di Giuseppe, D. and Krauss, S.L. (2005) An integrated research program focussed on 
practical outcomes for the ex situ and in situ conservation, restoration and translocation of the 
DRF Tetratheca paynterae (Tremandaceae): 3rd six-monthly report. Report # 35 from the 
Genetics Laboratory, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Science, commissioned by Portman 
Iron Ore Pty Ltd. 
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Close, D., Dixon, K.W. and Krauss, S.L. (2005) Genetic variation in Conospermum undulatum and C. 
triplinervium at Perth Airport and nearby populations. Report # 34 from the Genetics Laboratory, 
BGPA Science for Westralia Airports Commission. 

Dixon, B. (2005). Managing Phytophthora cinnamomi on a rare ironstone multi-translocation site in 
Western Australia. Australasian Plant Conservation 13(4): 18-19. 

Dixon, B. and Brand, G. (2005) Toad hits the road. Australian Horticulture Oct/Nov. pp.  
51-54. 

Dixon, B. and Krauss, S. (2005) The Corrigin grevillea: 12 years of recovery. Western Wildlife pp. 1, 
4-5. 

He, TianHua and Krauss, S.L. (2005) An assessment of genetic provenance in Acacia rostellifera 
and A. cochlearis on the Swan Coastal Plain. Report # 33 from the Genetics Laboratory, Botanic 
Gardens and Parks Authority, Science Directorate. 

Keys, K. and Dixon, B. (2005) High-rising Aussie wonders. Australian Horticulture Sept/Oct. p. 39. 

Sinclair, E., Bussell, J. and Krauss, S.L. (2006) Population differentiation in Agonis flexuosa, the 
sweet peppermint, with the identification of non-local plants in Bold Park. Report # 36 from the 
Genetics Laboratory, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Science Directorate. 

 
For People and Plants – Friends of Kings Park Magazine 

 
Brand, G. (2005) 2005 Wildflower Festival Main Display. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings 

Park Magazine, Issue 51, p 17. 

Close, D., Thomas, J. and Dixon, K. (2006) Chlorotic Decline Syndrome of Iconic Parkland 
Eucalypts: Turning the Tide. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 53, p 
16. 

Courtney, P. (2005) Future Directions Garden – Western Power Parkland. For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 50, pp 14 - 16. 

Courtney, P. (2006) Plant Development at Kings Park and Botanic Garden. For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 52, pp 12 - 13. 

Dixon, K., Swarts, N. and Close, D. (2006) Saving Seagrasses. For People and Plants, Friends of 
Kings Park Magazine, Issue 53, pp 24 - 25. 

Fryer, R. (2005) Lotterywest Federation Walkway – Two Years On. For People and Plants, Friends 
of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 51, p 15. 

Fryer, R. (2006) Better Lawns and Cleaner Water Turf Technology helps the Environment. For 
People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 52, p 24. 

Growns, D. (2006) Letter of Introduction. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, 
Issue 52, p 7. 

Hammersley, L. (2005) Reabold Hill’s Crowning Glory. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, Issue 50, p 18. 

Kennedy, J. (2005) Why Have Events in Kings Park and Botanic Garden? For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Parks Magazine, Issue 51, pp 18 - 19. 

Kerenyi, Z. and Easton, S. (2005) Mt Eliza Escarpment Risk Management. For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 50, pp 24 - 25. 

Kings Park Master Gardeners (2005) A bird in the hand is worth two in the bush. For People and 
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, issue 50, p. 23.* 

Kings Park Master Gardeners (2005) Wots in a name. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, issue 51, p.20.* 

Kings Park Master Gardeners (2006) Oh what a beauty. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings 
Park Magazine, issue 52, p. 21.* 
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Kings Park Master Gardeners (2006) Blooms to burn. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, issue 53 p. 17.* 

Mansell-Fletcher, J. (2006) Birds in the City – Feathered Friends or Foe? For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 53, p 23. 

Merritt, D. (2006) Potted Pitcher Plants For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, 
Issue 52, p 14. 

Moonie, P. (2006) Eliza, You’re Under Arrest! For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, Issue 53, p 18. 

Panaia, M. and Kingsley, D. (2005) A New Home for Biodiversity Conservation in Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 51, pp 10 - 11. 

Rokich, D. (2005) From tipsite to bushland – A lesson we have learnt. For People and Plants, 
Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 50, p 17. 

Rokich, D. (2005) Bold Park Restoration Research. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, Issue 50, p 19. 

Rokich, D. and Webb, M. (2005) Synergy Between Living Collections and Science. For People and 
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 51, p 12. 

Rokich, D. (2006) Growing Wetlands Workshop. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, Issue 52, pp16 - 17. 

Rokich, D. (2006) Mt Eliza Escarpment – Monitoring Bushland Restoration. For People and Plants, 
Friends of King Park Magazine, Issue 53, pp 20 - 21. 

Shepherd, K. (2006) Fantastic Fan Flowers - Using DNA to Construct a Family Tree. For People and 
Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 52, pp 9 -10. 

Sweedman, L. (2005) Fishing for New Varieties. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park 
Magazine, Issue 51, p 16. 

Sweedman, L. (2006) Cape Arid Offers New Surprises. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings 
Park Magazine, Issue 53, pp 8 - 9. 

Turner, S. (2006) Rising Stars. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings Park Magazine, Issue 52, p 
15. 

Webb, M. (2006) A History of Kings Park and Botanic Garden – A Brief Overview. For People and 
Plants, Friends of Kings Parks Magazine, Issue 52, pp 3 - 6. 

Webb, M. (2006) The State’s Botanic Garden – Gargatup. For People and Plants, Friends of Kings 
Park Magazine, Issue 53, pp 5 - 7. 

*Written by Bob Dixon and Ethel Lucus but are credited to Kings Park Master Gardeners. 
 
Information Publications and Brochures 
 
All Information brochures are available from the Guides Information Centre, the front reception at 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park and many are available on the Authority’s website 
www.bgpa.wa.gov.au.  
 
 Map of Kings Park and Botanic Garden – updated 05/06 
 Map of the Fraser Avenue Precinct – new 05/06 
 Map of the Botanic Garden Precinct – new 05/06 
 Map of Synergy Parkland – new 05/06 
 Visitor Map and Information Brochure (Kings Park and Botanic Garden) – updated 05/06 
 Birds of Kings Park 
 Birds of Bold Park 
 Discover Kings Park Education Service – new 05/06 
 Weddings in Kings Park and Botanic Garden – new 05/06 
 Social Functions in Kings Park and Botanic Garden 
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 Special Walks 
 Lotterywest Federation Walkway 
 Self Guided Memorials Walk 
 Guided Walks 
 Wildflowers for Gardens (Master Gardeners) 
 Know Kings Park Series (Kings Park Guides) 
 Kings Park for Kids (Kings Park Guides) 
 Science Directorate Information Brochure 
 Bold Park Visitor Map and Information Brochure 
 Bold Park Walking and Bridle Trails 

 
Publications Available on Request 
 Annual Reports 2000 – onwards 
 Strategic Plan 2005-2010 
 Science Directorate Strategic Plan 2006-2011 
 Kings Park Management Plan 2004-2009 
 Bold Park Management Plan 2006-2011 

 
Authority Publications Available to Purchase from Aspects of Kings Park 
 Perth Plants  
 Australian Seeds  
 For People and Plants  
 Memorials and Memories 
 Avenues of Honour 
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Independent Audit Opinion for the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
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Certification of the Key Performance Indicators  
 for the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
 
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority’s performance, and 
fairly represent the performance of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority for the year ended 30 
June 2006. 
 
 
 
 
Mr Ross Willcock 
Deputy Chairman,  
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
 
 
 
 
Professor John Considine 
Member 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
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Key Performance Indicators for the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
 
In 2005, the Authority undertook a review of its Key Performance Indicators in preparation for the 
forward Budget Estimates for 2006/2007 and the 2005/2006 Annual Report, to ensure consistency 
across both documents and more suitable reporting to Government. As a result, the Department of 
Treasury and Finance’s Outcome Structure Review Group approved a revised set of Performance 
indicators in March 2006, which the Authority has implemented and will review following the 
2005/2006 Annual Report process. 
 
Relationship to Government Goals 
 
Broad, high level Government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired outcomes. 
The Authority delivers services to achieve these desired outcomes, which ultimately contribute to 
meeting the higher level government goals. The following table illustrates the relationship between 
Authority level desired outcomes and the most appropriate Government goal. 
 
Government Goal 

To ensure that Western Australia has an environment in which resources are managed, developed 
and used sustainably, biological diversity is preserved and habitats protected.  
 
Agency Level Government Desired Outcome 1 

Awareness and appreciation of recreation and tourist resources, and cultural heritage for visitors' 
enjoyment.  

Service 1: Customer Service and Cultural Heritage 

Agency Level Government Desired Outcome 2 

Conservation and enhancement of Western Australian bushland and other flora.  

Service 2: Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research 
 
Outcome 1 
 
This outcome is achieved through improving and promoting education and recreation in the 
designated lands; providing safe and accessible facilities; providing and promoting cultural 
experiences and events and by actively seeking to improve and provide additional visitor services and 
facilities. 
 
Key Effectiveness Indicators 
 
1.1  The level of visitor satisfaction with Kings Park and Botanic Garden facilities and the 

Western Australian Botanic Garden. 
 
This key indicator measures the level of satisfaction visitors have concerning the extent to which 
recreational and tourist resources have been conserved, enhanced and promoted for visitor 
enjoyment.  
 
Visitor surveys were conducted in Kings Park and Botanic Garden during May 2006. A random sample 
(N=564) provided a response rate of 100% with all visitors approached agreeing to be interviewed. 
Based on the sample of 564 individuals, the percentage of overall visitor satisfaction was 99.6% (with 
a confidence interval of 95% and standard error of 0.25%). 
 
In 2006 a five point Likert-type scale was used to measure visitor satisfaction. Visitors were asked to 
indicate their level of satisfaction with the facilities in Kings Park and the Western Australian Botanic 
Garden by circling one distinct level of satisfaction: very poor, poor, adequate, very good, or excellent. 
The scale did not provide for a neutral category (neither satisfied nor dissatisfied) to minimise 'quick' or 
non-reflective responses which tend to regress towards neutrality.  
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The indicator was derived from a visitor survey, administered in person, to 564 visitors to Kings Park 
and the Western Australian Botanic Garden. The interviews were conducted in the following areas: 
 

 201 visitors interviewed in Fraser Avenue 
 122 visitors interviewed in Western Power Parkland 
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 121 visitors interviewed in the Lotterywest Family Area 
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 Overall Visitor Satisfaction with Kings Park and Botanic Garden 

 120 visitors interviewed in the Botanic Garden 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2  The level of visitor satisfaction with Bold Park and facilities 
 
This key indicator measures the extent of visitor satisfaction on how recreational and bushland 
resources have been conserved, enhanced and promoted and how these activities affect the level of 
visitor enjoyment within Bold Park. 
 
Visitor surveys were conducted in Bold Park during May and June 2006. The total survey sample 
(N=113) had a response rate of 88% (100 responses) providing an error margin of approximately 10% 
at the 95% confidence level. 
 
Visitors were asked to indicate their satisfaction with a range of aspects relating to Bold Park and then 
asked to rate their overall satisfaction. Of the 100 people surveyed 86% indicated there overall 
satisfaction with Bold Park. The remaining 14% did not respond to the question. There were no 
negative responses received as to the overall level of satisfaction. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Botanic Gardens and Park
Overall Visitor Satisfaction with Bold Park 
04 Target 04/05 2004/05 Target 05/06 Actual 05/06

9897 93 98 86
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1.3  The percentage change in the number of cultural events held at Kings Park and Botanic 
Garden compared to previous years. 

 
Cultural events are defined as memorial, military commemorative ceremonies and other community 
organised events. These include the Anzac Day ceremony, summer events such as classical and 
contemporary music concerts, Shakespeare theatre and community events such as The Wildflower 
Festival.  
 
There was a significant variance in the number of cultural events held in 2005/2006 due to a reduced 
Outdoor Cinema program. In 2004/2005 there were 99 movie nights compared with 74 in 2005/2006. 
 

Reporting Year No. of Cultural Events Percentage Change Target 

2005/2006 222 -6.7% -6.2% 

2004/2005 238* -2.5% n/a 

2003/2004 244 5.6% n/a 

2002/2003 231 1.7% n/a 

Note: 2005/2006 is the first year reporting on this revised indicator. Comparative data has been collated from 
previous overall figures provided however, no targets exist prior to 2005/2006. 

 *Incorrect numbers of 293 were reported for the Number of Cultural Events in the 2004/2005 
Performance Indicators as an error occurred in the reporting of memorial and wreath laying ceremonies. 
The correct number of cultural events held in 2004/2005 was 238. 

 
 
1.4 The percentage change in the number attending customer awareness and education 

forums held at Kings Park and Botanic Garden compared to previous years. 
 
This indicator is derived from total numbers attending Cultural Events, Education Programs and Free 
Guided Walks. A number of factors have impacted on reduced attendances in 2005/2006, including 
the reduced Outdoor Cinema program compared to previous years as well as attendances being down 
due to the unusually cool summer. The Lotterywest Family area was closed for a significant portion on 
the year for refurbishment, reducing the number of education programs run during this period. 
 
Two additional major events held only in 2004/2005, the Davis Cup and Rally Australia Opening 
Ceremony also contributed to higher numbers in that year. 
 

Reporting Year No. Attending Customer 
Awareness and Education 

Forum 

Percentage Change Target 

2005/2006 252,545 -13.2% -13.1% 

2004/2005 290,862 -0.12% n/a 

2003/2004 291,225 -5% n/a 

2002/2003 306,555 10.8% n/a 

Note: 2005/2006 is the first year reporting on this revised indicator. Comparative data has been 
collated from previous overall figures provided however, no targets exist prior to 2005/2006. 

 
 
Service 1 – Customer Service and Cultural Heritage 
 
To measure the success of Service 1 the Authority uses the data collected from annual visitor surveys 
as demonstrated in indicators 1.1 and 1.2 above, the overall number of visitors, and through promoting 
and enhancing customer awareness by providing education forums; by conserving, promoting and 
developing cultural heritage including indigenous, colonial and contemporary heritage; and by staging 
events and displays on the Authority's designated land. 
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Key Efficiency Indicators 
 

 

 Actual 
2004/05 

Target 
2005/06 

Actual 
2005/06 

Notes 

Average cost per visitor to Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden 

$2.20 
 

$2.00 $2.26  

Average cost per cultural event held in Kings Park 
and Botanic Garden 

$726.77 $780.00 $986.49  

Average cost per attendee at education forums 
held at Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 

$0.37 $0.45 $0.43  

Response times for public information requests. n/a n/a 76% 
within 28 
days 

1. 

Percentage change in number of visitors to 
Reabold Hill compared to previous years. 

n/a n/a n/a 2. 

Notes: 
1. Information requests are received through telephone enquiries, in person, via the post, and via 
email. Public enquiries are dealt with by the Visitor Information Centre (Kings Park Guides) and front 
reception services at both Kings Park and Botanic Garden and Bold Park. All enquiries and requests 
are dealt with as promptly as possible, with the vast majority of responses provided immediately. The 
figures reported for 2005/2006 are based on the following: 
 No target was officially set for 2005/2006. 
 The Authority’s Communications Register records written complaints, compliments, suggestions 

and requests for information. The Authority’s Communications Register for 2005/2006 includes 142 
formally recorded communications. 100% of the communications were responded to with an interim 
reply within 5 working days of receipt. More complete responses to specific requests were provided 
with 28 working days in 76% of all cases.  

 
2. This is a new indicator introduced during the 2005/2006 financial year. No figures can be reported 
this year due to the absence of visitation figures for previous years for comparison. 
 
Outcome 2 
 
This outcome is achieved through the development and management of the scientific collections, and 
display of Western Australian and other Flora; promoting the use of Western Australian Flora for 
horticulture, conservation and education; and continually undertaking and promoting scientific 
research into Western Australia flora for biodiversity conservation and restoration. 
 
The effectiveness of ex-situ species conservation, and botanic research assessed through the 
success in collecting and maintaining living collections of indigenous plants for research, display, 
public education and restoration. 
 
Key Effectiveness Indicators 
 
2.1 Percentage of Declared Rare Flora (DRF) species in living collections in Kings Park and 

Botanic Garden, compared to the known number of DRF species in Western Australia. 
 
This key indicator measures the effectiveness over time of the DRF collecting and collections 
maintenance program, bearing in mind that the number and range of plants gazetted as DRF varies 
from year to year, and species vary significantly in their ease of collections. 
 
Total DRF species gazetted is a number derived from the list of species Declared as Rare Flora in the 
Government Gazette 8 February 2005 by the Minister for the Environment; Science under section 
23F(2) the Wildlife Conservation Act 1950.  
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The total collection of DRF has decreased by two species which has reduced the indicator by 1%. 
However, there has been a review of the DRF collections strategy and a focus on developing the DRF 
Conservation Garden. This means that the Authority is now focused on increasing the value of their 
DRF collections by ensuring that all collections are based on wild source material and that material 
collected from domestic sources is of lesser value. This will see an increase in the range and depth of 
these conservation collections. 
 
The Authority maintains a co-ordinated approach with the Department of Conservation and Land 
Management who are currently more focused on the actual collection of seeds of Rare and 
Threatened species than is the Authority. 
 

Number of DRF species in Living Collections 
 

Reporting Year No. of DRF Species in 
Living Collections 

Total DRF Species 
Gazetted 

 
% 

Target 
% 

2005/06 220 360 61 62 

2004/05 222 360 62 64 

2003/04 223 348 64 64 

2002/03 222 348 64 66 
 
 
2.2  Percentage of accessions in living collections in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
 
This indicator is a measure of horticultural and management skills in maintaining the living collection of 
plants.  
 
An accession is a collection of material that can be propagated from an individual plant be it flowers, 
foliage, seeds, shoots, roots or the whole plant. The number of accessions on Botanical display is the 
number growing in the Botanic Garden, Synergy Parkland, Lotterywest Family Area and Fraser 
Avenue garden beds. 
 
This measure is calculated by the number of accessions in a botanical display in Kings Park and 
Botanic Garden over the total number of accessions alive in living collections. 
 
The slight decrease in total number of accessions in botanical display reflects in part the delayed start 
to the planting season due to the long dry autumn and late winter rains. Consequently the plants are 
not being planted in display areas until after the end of the financial year. The percentage decrease 
also relates to an increase in the number of living accessions, which has increased by nearly 3000 
since 2001/2002. 
 

Number of Accessions in Botanical Displays 
 

Reporting Year No. of Accessions in 
Botanical Display 

Total No. of 
Accessions Alive 

 
% 

Target 
% 

2005/06 6,518 16,178 40 43 

2004/05 6,590 15,416 43 40 

2003/04 5,958 14,857 40 42 

2002/03 5,820 14,022 42 44 
 
 
2.3  Percentage of accessions lost in Kings Park and Botanic Garden. 
 
This is a measure of horticultural and management skills in maintaining the living collections of plants. 
The change in this indicator reflects the replacement of older accessions with a new and broader 
range of plants as the collections are increased with collections grown from wild sourced material. The 
increase in the number of living accessions is more than double the increase in those accessions lost. 
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Number of Accessions Lost 
 

Reporting Year No. of Accessions Lost Total No. of 
Accessions Alive 

 
% 

Target 
% 

2005/06 845 16,178 5 4 

2004/05 553 15,416 4 2 

2003/04 295 14,857 2 3 

2002/03 372 14,022 3 4 
 
 
2.4 The presence of 15 nominated perennially evident native plant species, which are the 

most vulnerable taxa within each Kings Park and Bold Park bushland. 
 
This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness in conserving a range of native plants in Kings 
Park and Bold Park bushland that have been selected and documented as the most vulnerable taxa in 
each Park. The top 15 most vulnerable species are determined in each Park through primary and 
secondary selection criteria. Primary criteria include species listed in the State Priority Flora list or taxa 
that are rare, have limited distribution in the Park or are known to be declining in the Park. Secondary 
criteria include the species’ reproductive method, occurrence in vulnerable habitats or sites at risk, or 
publicly important icon species. 
 
The indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15 nominated 
perennially evident native plant species in each Park, which are most vulnerable taxa within each of 
Kings Park bushland and Bold Park. Results of these surveys during 2005/2006 financial year 
recorded 100% presence of the nominated 15 species in each Park. 
 
 
2.5 Number of common native plant species in Bold Park in areas with high levels of 

management compared to areas with low levels of management. 
 
This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness in restoring areas of degraded bushland in Bold 
Park. It is derived by annually surveying 15 nominated common native plant species within 
representative quadrats for two dominant community types, and comparing presence in both low 
management zones and high management zones. 
 
Note: 
High management zones are degraded areas undergoing ecological restoration. Low management 
zones are those areas not being actively restored at this time. 
 
The dominant community types in Bold Park are Banksia woodland and heath over sand. Ten 
quadrats for each community type in both high and low management zones have been established 
(total of 40), and the number of common species present in each quadrat averaged to give a single 
figure for each management regime. 
 
The indicator is calculated by dividing the average number of common species present in high 
management zones by the average number of common species present in low management zones, 
as determined through annual monitoring of representative quadrats within each zone. A figure greater 
than 1 indicates a higher number of common species in the high management areas. 
 
The indicator is lower than the target figures due to a higher average number of common species 
being recorded in the low management zones than previously recorded. 
 
This indicator is expected to increase over time and then stabilise once the broad restoration 
objectives of ecological stability and resilience are attained. New plantings are not scored as present 
until they have been established for a minimum of 30 months, due to high mortality rates during the 
establishment period. 
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Average Numbers of Common Species Present 
 
 Actual 

2003/04 
Actual 

2004/05 
Target 

2005/06 
Actual 

2005/06 
Average number of common species present in high 
management zones 4.3 5 5 5 
Average number of common species present in low 
management zones 2.95 3.4 3.4 3.8 

Indicator value 1.46 1.47 1.47 1.32 
 
 
2.6  Weed cover in high intensity management areas compared to low intensity management 

areas in Bold Park. 
 
This indicator measures the Authority’s effectiveness in bushland restoration. It is derived by annually 
recording percentage weed cover within two dominant community types and comparing results for 
both low management zones and high management zones.   
 
Note:  
High management zones are degraded areas undergoing ecological restoration. Low management 
zones are those areas not being actively restored at this time. 
 
The dominant community types in Bold Park are Banksia woodland and heath over sand. Forty 
quadrats for each community type in both high and low management zones have been established 
(total of 160) and percentage weed cover recorded in each.  
 
The indicator is calculated by dividing the average percentage weed cover in high management zones 
by the average percentage weed cover in low management zones. A figure less than 1 indicates a 
lower average percentage weed cover in the high management areas. 
 
The indicator is expected to decrease over time and then stabilise once the broad restoration 
objectives of ecological stability and resilience are attained, however, this year the indicator value has 
increased. This increase is due to the weed cover survey being undertaken later in than normal in 
2004/2005, creating an artificially low figure for that year, particularly in the areas of low management. 
Surveys are ideally undertaken in late August, when weeds are generally prolific in low management 
areas due to weed control and a natural proliferation through the winter and spring. As the 2004/2005 
survey was undertaken during October, some natural senescence would already have occurred 
resulting in reduced weed cover. The Authority has now introduced a more robust system of recording 
this data to reduce vulnerability in survey timing and outcomes in the future. 
 

Average Percentage of Weed Cover 
 
 Actual 

2003/04 
Actual 

2004/05 
Target 

2005/06 
Actual 

2005/06 
Average percentage weed cover in high 
management zones 38.6% 20.45% 20.45% 43.5% 
Average percentage weed cover in low management 
zones 67.3% 53.75% 53.75% 70.05% 
Indicator value 0.57 0.38 0.38 0.62 
 
 
2.7  Number of representative native plant taxa in Kings Park bushland. 
 
This indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15 nominated 
perennially evident native plant species, which are the most vulnerable taxa within Kings Park 
bushland. The continued presence of these species in Kings Park bushland provides an appropriate 
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scientific measure of overall taxa present. It is not practical or feasible to annually survey all native 
plant taxa in all lands managed. 
 
The total number of native plant taxa recorded has remained at 324 as there were no new recorded 
plant species and all of 15 nominated most vulnerable species were surveyed and recorded as 
present. The total number may vary from time to time as a result of new species being discovered, 
verification of plant records or as a result of genetic analysis of provenance, which may show that 
some species considered native were in fact early introductions to the Park from nearby areas. 
 

Number of Representative Native Plant Taxa in Kings Park Bushland 
 

Reporting Year No. of Native Plant Taxa 
Recorded Target 

2005/06 324 324 

2004/05 324 319 

2003/04 319 294 

2002/03 294 294 

 
 
2.8 Number of representative native plant taxa in Bold Park bushland. 
 
This indicator is measured by an annual survey of the presence or absence of 15 nominated 
perennially evident native plant species, which are the most vulnerable taxa within Bold Park. The 
continued presence of these species in Bold Park provides an appropriate scientific measure of overall 
taxa present. 
 
The number of native plant taxa recorded has remained the same as last year with a total of 310, as 
there were no new recorded plant species and all 15 of the nominated most vulnerable species were 
surveyed and recorded as present. The total number may vary from time to time as a result of the 
discovery of new species, verification of plant records or as a result of genetic analysis of provenance, 
which may show that some species considered native were in fact early introductions to the Park from 
nearby areas. 
 

Number of Representative Native Plant Taxa in Bold Park Bushland 
 

Reporting Year No. of Native Plant Taxa 
Recorded Target 

2005/06 310 310 

2004/05 310 298 

2003/04 298 298 

2002/03 298 298 

 
 
Service 2 – Biodiversity Conservation and Scientific Research 
 
To measure the success of Service 2 the Authority uses the data collected from annual visitor surveys 
as demonstrated in indicators 2.1 to 2.5 above and through demonstrating leadership in urban 
bushland management, especially for Perth and regional communities; horticultural services including 
new plants developed for the nursery trade, and undertaking and promoting leading edge science and 
interpretation pertinent to integrated conservation of flora for present and future generations.  
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Key Efficiency Indicators 
 

 Actual 
2004/05 

Target 
2005/06 

Actual 
2005/06 Notes 

Average cost of representative native plant taxa in 
Kings Park bushland. 

$5,436 $5,600 $6,305  

Average cost of representative native plant taxa in 
Bold Park bushland. 

$2,186 $1,850 $2,238  

Average cost per research grant project 
administered. 

$5,052 $5,904 $6,236  

Percentage change in number of refereed 
scientific publications published per CF position 
compared to previous years. 

-29% n/a 58% 1. 

 
Notes: 
 
1. 2005/2006 is the first year of reporting against this indicator, results are based on previous 
submissions to the Authority’s Annual Reports. The number of CF positions remained constant 
throughout the reporting years.  
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Certification of the Financial Statements  
 for the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from 
proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 
June 2006. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements, misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 
Mr Ross Willcock 
Deputy Chairman,  
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
 
 
 
 
Professor John Considine 
Member 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority Board of Management 
30 August 2006 
 
 
 
 
Mr Richard Ibbitson 
Principal Accounting Officer 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
30 August 2006 
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Financial Statements For the Year Ending 30 June 2006 
 
 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Income Statement For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 

 Note 2006 2005 
  $000 $000 
COST OF SERVICES    
    
Expenses     
Employee benefits expense 4 6,599 5,618 
Supplies and services 5 3,047 2,882 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 973 1,008 
Capital user charge 7 3,052 3,105 
Cost of sales 10 714 253 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  14 58 17 
Other expenses 8 2,861 3,355 
Total cost of services  17,304 16,238 
    
Income    
Revenue     
User charges and fees  9 1,147 1,191 
Sales 10 1,252 467 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 11 98 43 
Interest revenue 12 90 103 
Other revenue 13 2,198 1,540 
Total Revenue  4,785 3,344 
    
Total income other than income from State Government   

4,785 
 

3,344 
    
NET COST OF SERVICES  12,519 12,894 
    

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
 

15 
  

Service appropriation  12,685 14,354 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer  - 1,410 
Assets assumed/(transferred)  - - 
Resources received free of charge  44 60 
Total income from State Government  12,729 15,824 
    
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  210 2,930 
    

 
The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Balance Sheet For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 

 Note 2006 2005 
  $000 $000 
ASSETS    
    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,713 267 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 28 1,037 654 
Inventories 17 658 561 
Receivables 18 491 406 
Amounts receivable for services 19 964 42 
Other current assets 20 58 77 
Total Current Assets  4,921 2,007 
    
Non-Current Assets    
Amounts receivable for services 19 3,081 2,945 
Property, plant and equipment 21 33,939 34,125 
Intangible assets 22 16 - 
Total Non-Current Assets  37,036 37,070 
    
TOTAL ASSETS  41,957 39,077 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
Payables 24 1,016 742 
Provisions 25 998 1,104 
Other current liabilities 26 3,047 1,136 
Total Current Liabilities  5,061 2,982 
    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Provisions 25 316 207 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  316 
 

207 
    
Total Liabilities  5,377 3,189 

    
NET ASSETS  36,580 35,888 
    
EQUITY 27   
Contributed equity  16,997 16,404 
Reserves  11,468 11,579 
Accumulated surplus  8,115 7,905 

TOTAL EQUITY  36,580 
 

35,888 
    

 
The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Statement of Changes in Equity For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 

 Note 2006 2005 
  $000 $000 
    
Balance of equity at start of period  35,888 36,620 
    
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 27   
Balance at start of period  16,404 15,362 
Capital contribution  593 1,042 
Other contributions by owners  - - 
Distributions to owners  - - 
Balance at end of period  16,997 16,404 
    
RESERVES 27   
Asset Revaluation Reserve    
Balance at start of period  11,579 16,284 
Gains/(losses) from asset 
revaluation  

  
(111) 

 
(4,705) 

Balance at end of period  11,468 11,579 
    
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS) 27   
Balance at start of period  7,905 4,975 
Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS  - N/A 
Restated balance at start of period  7,905 4,975 
Surplus/(deficit) or profit/(loss) for the period  210 2,930 
Gain/(losses) recognised directly in equity  - - 
    
Balance at end of period  8,115 7,905 
    
Balance of equity at end of period  36,580 35,888 
    
Total income and expense for the period  210 (1,775) 
    

 
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Cash Flow Statement For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 

 Note 2006 2005 
  $000 $000 
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    
Output appropriations  12,711 12,466 
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  149 - 
Capital contributions  593 1,042 
Holding account drawdowns  42 - 
Net cash provided by State Government  13,495 13,508 
    
Utilised as follows:    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    
Employee costs  (6,936) (5,946) 
Supplies and services  (4,939) (4,539) 
Capital user charge  (3,052) (3,105) 
Capital works expenditure  (406) (2,361) 
GST payments on purchases  (664) (882) 
Other payments  (159) (224) 
    
Receipts    
User charges and fees  1,147 1,136 
Sale of goods and services  1,332 428 
Commonwealth grants and contributions  98 43 
Grants and contributions  971 842 
Sponsorship  588 - 
Interest received  90 116 
Donations  21 16 
GST receipts   400 211 
GST receipts from Australian Taxation Office  335 - 
Other receipts  653 931 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 28 (10,521) (13,334) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (1,145) (3,104) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   

(1,145) 
 

(3,104) 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   

1,829 
 

(2,930) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period   

921 
 

3,851 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD  

28 
 

2,750 
 

921 
 
The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
1. First time adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
General  
These are the Authority’s first published financial statements prepared under Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  
 
Accounting Standard AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards’ has been applied in preparing these financial statements. Until 30 June 2005, the financial statements 
of the Authority had been prepared under the previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(AGAAP). 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) adopted the Standards of the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) for application to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 by issuing 
AIFRS which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Interpretations.  
  
In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1 paragraph 36A and exercised by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’, financial instrument information 
prepared under AASB 132 and AASB 139 will apply from 1 July 2005 and consequently comparative information 
for financial instruments is presented on the previous AGAAP basis.  All other comparative information has been 
prepared under the AIFRS basis. 
 
Early adoption of standards 
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. This TI 
requires the early adoption of revised AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ as issued in December 2004, AASB 2004-3 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards; AASB 2005-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 119]’, AASB 2005-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard [AASB 139, AASB 132, 
AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’ and AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 3]’ to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2005. AASB 2005-4 amends AASB 139 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ so that the ability to designate financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value is restricted. AASB 2005-6 excludes business combinations involving common control from the scope 
of AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 
 
Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005 are provided at note 38 
‘Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS)’. 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
(a) General Statement 
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format 
and wording.  
 
The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. 
 
Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
(b) Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, modified by the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair 
value.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
(c) Reporting Entity 
The reporting entity comprises the Authority.  
 
(d) Contributed Equity 
UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions 
by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.   
 
Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 27 ‘Equity’. 
 
(e) Income 
Revenue 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows: 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership control transfer to the purchaser.  
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion. 
 
Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.  
 
Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Authority gains 
control of the appropriated funds.  The Authority gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are 
deposited to the bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and Finance. 
(See note 15 Income from State Government). 
 
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions  
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would 
be purchased if not donated. 
 
Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they 
be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as 
at the reporting date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the 
notes. 
 
Gains 
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on 
the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 
 
(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure 
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing over $5,000 are recognised as assets and the 
cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 
 
Prior to 2005-06 the threshold for asset recognition was $3,000. A change of threshold to $5,000 in the current 
financial year has resulted in an increase in depreciation expense of $145,839. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. 
 
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is 
their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Subsequent measurement  
After recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, buildings and 
infrastructure and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure 
are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and infrastructure and accumulated 
impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current 
market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by 
reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 
 
Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing 
use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing 
use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent on using the 
depreciated replacement cost, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately. 
 
The revaluation of land and buildings is provided independently on an annual basis by the Department of Land 
Information (Valuation Services). 
 
Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use 
basis) as the assets are specialised and no market evidence of value is available. Independent valuations are 
obtained every 3 to 5 years. 
 
When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the 
gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued 
amount. 
 
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use 
basis to assets. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 
 
Refer to note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 
 
Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives 
in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.  
 
Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates 
which are reviewed annually. 
 
Plant and Equipment was depreciated prior to 2005-06 using the diminishing value method.  Changing to the 
straight line method in the current financial year has resulted in a reduction in depreciation expense of $126,300. 
 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 
 
Buildings  67 years 
Motor Vehicles  7 years 
Plant and equipment 5 to 10 years 
Intangibles 5 years 
Monuments and Special Items 40 years 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
(g) Intangible Assets 
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing over $5,000 and internally generated intangible assets costing over 
$50,000 are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs 
incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Income Statement. 
 
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or 
more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the reporting year indicating that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. 
 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets 
controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each 
class of intangible asset are: 
 
Licences and software 5 years 
 
Licences 
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Research and Development  
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried 
forward when the future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are 
likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Computer Software 
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment.  Software 
that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than 
$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
 
Web site costs 
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility 
studies during the planning phase of a web site, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase 
are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a web site, to the extent that they represent probable future 
economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. 
 
(h) Impairment of Assets 
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at 
each reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, unless an 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 
 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated or where the replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify 
that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at each reporting date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have 
no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market evidence. Where fair value 
is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at each reporting 
date. 
 
Refer to note 23 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. 
 
Refer also to note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables. 
 
(i) Non-current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell and are presented separately from other assets in the Balance Sheet. Assets classified as 
held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.  
 
(j) Leases  
The Authority holds operating leases for motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased motor vehicles. 
 
(k) Financial Instruments 
The Authority has two categories of financial instrument: 

 Loans and receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and 
 Non-trading financial liabilities (payables). 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 
 
(l) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts.  
 
(m) Accrued Salaries 
Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Other liabilities’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the 
financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Authority has an 
additional accrued salaries component representing the back pay from 26 February 2006 for agreed increase in 
award pay rates as a result of negotiated enterprise bargaining outcome. The Authority considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.  
 
(n) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account) 
The Authority receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of 
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is 
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and 
asset replacement. 
 
See also note 15 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 19 ‘Amounts receivable for services’. 
 
(o) Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most 
appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis. 
 
Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are 
valued at net realisable value. 
 
See note 17 ‘Inventories’. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 
(p) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 18 
‘Receivables’. 
 
(q) Payables 
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments 
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are 
generally settled within 30 days. See note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 24 ‘Payables’. 
 
(r) Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal, 
equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of economic benefits is 
probable and can be measured reliably. Provisions are reviewed at each balance date. See note 25 ‘Provisions’. 
 

(i)  Provisions - Employee Benefits  
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the 
long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 
 
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date. 
 
Superannuation  
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation 
schemes. 
 
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new 
members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also 
closed to new members.  
 
The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from 
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Authority to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS 
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the 
concurrently funded GSS Scheme obligations. 
 
Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes become non-contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation scheme. The Authority 
makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. The WSS Scheme is a defined 
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the WSS Scheme. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by 
the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 
 
See also note 2(s) ‘Superannuation expense’. 
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Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 

 
(ii) Provisions - Other 

Employment On-Costs  
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’. See note 8 ‘Other expenses’ and note 25 ‘Provisions’. 

 
(s) Superannuation Expense 
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement: 
 

(a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and, 
actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are members 
of the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and 

 
(b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the GSS and the West State Superannuation 

Scheme (WSS). 
 
Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service cost and, 
actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are 
recognised as expenses. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer  
(refer note 2(r)(h)), a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the expense is recognised 
under Income from State Government in the Income Statement. See note 15 ‘Income from State Government’. 
 
(t) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost 
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as revenues 
and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value. 
 
(u) Comparative Figures 
Comparative figures have been restated on the AIFRS basis except for financial instruments, which have been 
prepared under the previous AGAAP Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 ‘Presentation and Disclosure of 
Financial Instruments’. The transition date to AIFRS for financial instruments is 1 July 2005 in accordance with the 
exemption allowed under AASB 1, paragraph 36A and Treasurer’s Instruction 1101. 
 
3 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
 
Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy 
The Authority adopted the straight line method of depreciation in the current financial year, resulting in a reduction 
in depreciation expense of $126,300. 
 
The Authority adopted an increase to the asset recognition threshold from $3,000 to $5,000 in the current 
financial year. This has resulted in an increase in depreciation expense of $145,839. 
 
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. As referred to 
in Note 1, TI 1101 has only mandated the early adoption of revised AASB 119, AASB 2004-3, AASB 2005-3, 
AASB 2005-4 and AASB 2005-6. Consequently, the Authority has not applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards and UIG Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their 
application date: 

 
1. AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, 
AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’). This Standard requires new 
disclosures in relation to financial instruments. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The Standard is considered to result in increased 
disclosures of an entity’s risks, enhanced disclosure about components of financial position and 
performance, and changes to the way of presenting financial statements, but otherwise there is no 
financial impact. 
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2. AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & 
AASB 132]’ (Financial guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treatment of financial 
guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as 
either an “insurance contract” under AASB 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ or as a “financial guarantee contract” 
under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The Authority does not 
undertake these types of transactions resulting in no financial impact when the Standard is first applied. 
The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 

3. UIG Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’. This Interpretation deals 
with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not involve a 
legal form of a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 
‘Leases’. At reporting date, the Authority has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the 
Interpretation resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required 
to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 

 
The following amendments are not applicable to the Authority as they will have no impact: 
 

AASB Amendment Affected Standards 
2005-1 AASB 139 (Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions). 
2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1 & AASB 139]’. 
2006-1 AASB 121 (Net investment in foreign operations). 
UIG 5 ‘Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental 

Rehabilitation Funds’. 
UIG 6 ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and 

Electronic Equipment’. 
UIG 7 ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies’. 
 
 2006 2005 

4. Employee benefits expense $000 $000 
   
Wages and salaries(a) 5,281 4,604 
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b) 371 345 
Superannuation – defined benefit plans(c) 154 147 
Long service leave(d) 73 11 
Annual leave(d) 432 340 
Other related expenses 288 171 
 6,599 5,618 
   

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid). 
(c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit). 
(d) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 

 
Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 8 ‘Other Expenses’. The 
employment on-costs liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’. 

 
5. Supplies and services  

   
Communications 128 160 
Consultants and contractors 1,508 1,144 
Consumables 822 813 
Travel 78 59 
Other 511 706 
 3,047 2,882 
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 2006 2005 
6. Depreciation and amortisation expense $000 $000 

   
Depreciation   
Plant, equipment and vehicles 705 746 
Buildings 240 262 
Other 19 - 
Total depreciation 964 1,008 
   
Amortisation   
Intangible assets 9 - 
Total amortisation 9 - 
   
Total depreciation and amortisation 973 1,008 

 
7. Capital User Charge  

   
Capital user charge 3,052 3,105 
 3,052 3,105 
 
The Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the delivery of services. It is applied at 8% per 
annum on the net assets of the Authority, excluding exempt assets, and is paid to the Department of Treasury 
and Finance quarterly. 

 
8. Other expenses 
   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 325 103 
Building and infrastructure maintenance  1,442 505 
Equipment repairs and maintenance 217 216 
AIFRS software modification costs - 7 
Employment on-costs(a)  (see Note 4 ‘Employee benefits expense’) 159 143 
Write-offs(b) 253 1 
Capital works expense  - 2,314 
External grants (c) 383 - 
Other(d) 82 66 
 2,861 3,355 
   

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 35 
‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee 
benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

(b) See note 36 ‘Supplementary financial information’. 
(c) External grants recognised as a liability. See also note 26 ‘Other liabilities’. 
(d) Audit fees, includes Auditor General see also note 35 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.  

 
9. User charges and fees  
   

Rent and licence fees 442 497 
Functions and events 667 651 
Fines and infringements 38 43 
 1,147 1,191 

10. Trading profit  
   

Sales 1,252 467 
Cost of Sales:   

Opening inventory (190) - 
Purchases (799) (443) 
 (989) (443) 
Closing inventory 275 190 

Cost of Goods Sold (714) (253) 
Trading Profit 538 214 

 
See note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 17 ‘Inventories’ 
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 2006 2005 
11. Commonwealth grants and contributions $000 $000 
   

Recurrent 98 43 
 98 43 

12. Interest revenue    
   

Interest revenue(a)  90 103 
 90 103 
(a)Commonwealth Bank of Australia $89,907 and Bank West $131   
   

13. Other revenue  
   

Grants and subsidies 971 188 
Recoups 532 330 
Sponsorships 588 625 
Other 107 397 
 2,198 1,540 

 
14. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets  

   
Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets   
Buildings - (31) 
Plant, equipment and vehicles (98) - 
   
Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets   
Plant, equipment and vehicles 40 14 
   
Net gain/(loss) (58) (17) 
   
See also note 2(i) ‘Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’ and note 21 ‘Property, 
plant and equipment’. 
   

15. Income from State Government   
   
Appropriation received during the year:   

Service appropriation (a) 12,685 14,354 
 12,685 14,354 
The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year: 
- Superannuation (b) - 1,410 
Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer - 1,410 
   
Resources received free of charge (c)   
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:  
State Solicitor’s Office  23 42 
Department of Health 21 18 
 44 60 
   
 12,729 15,824 

(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation 
revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

(b) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a notional income to match the notional 
superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension 
Scheme and current employees who have a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (the notional superannuation expense is disclosed at note 4 ‘Employee Benefits 
Expense’). 

(c) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Authority recognises 
revenues (except where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners 
in which case the Authority shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the 
assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been 
purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. 
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 2006 2005 
16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents $000 $000 

   
Current   
External research grants (a) 1,037 654 
 1,037 654 
   
(a) Cash held to be used for the purpose of the specific projects provided.   
   

17. Inventories  
Current   
Inventories held for resale:   
- Purchased stock 275 190 
- Consigned stock 383 371 
Total current 658 561 
   
See also note 2(o) ‘Inventories’ and note 10 ‘Trading profit’. 
 
Inventory held for sale at Aspects of Kings Park retail outlet, which commenced trading 12 January 2005. 
   

18. Receivables   
   
Current   
Receivables 345 241 
Infringements 18 18 
GST receivable 128 147 
 491 406 
   

19. Amounts receivable for services    
   
Current 964 42 
Non-current 3,081 2,945 
 4,045 2,987 
   
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See note 2(n) ‘Amounts receivable for services 
(Holding Account)’. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 
   

20. Other current assets   
   
Current   
Prepayments 19 45 
Accrued Revenue 39 32 
Total current 58 77 
   

 
21. Property, plant and equipment   

   
Freehold land   
At fair value (a) 9,980 9,203 
 9,980 9,203 
   
Buildings & residences   
At fair value (a) 13,950 11,863 
Accumulated depreciation (240) (327) 
 13,710 11,536 
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 2006 2005 
21. Property, plant and equipment continued… $000 $000 
   
Assets under construction   
Construction costs 479 3,489 
   
Plant, equipment and vehicles   
At cost 6,040 6,064 
Accumulated depreciation (2,855) (2,910) 
 3,185 3,154 
   
Monuments & Special Items   
At cost 7,463 7,508 
Accumulated depreciation (878) (765) 
 6,585 6,743 
   
 33,939 34,125 
   
Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2005 by the Department of Land Information (Valuation 
Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2006 and recognised at 1 July 2005. 
The fair value of all land and buildings was determined on the basis of current use. See Note 2(f) ‘Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure’. 
 

 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of 
the reporting period are set out below. 

 Freehold land Buildings & 
Residences 

Assets under 
construction

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles

Monuments 
and Special 

Items 

Total 

2006 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Carrying amount at start of 
year 9,203 11,536 3,489 3,154 6,743 34,125 

Additions - - 455 729 - 1,184 
Transfers - 3,512 (3,465) (1) (46) - 
Discovered Assets - - - 29 13 42 
Disposals - - - (84) - (84) 
Depreciation Expense - (239) - (551) (183) (973) 
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 777 (888) - - - (111) 

Impairment Losses - - - - - - 
Other Adjustments       
  -  Change in Asset 
     Threshold - - - (144) (2) (146) 

  -  Change in Depreciation
     Method - - - 67 60 127 

Write-off of assets at stock  
take - (211) - (14) - (225) 

Carrying amount at end of 
year 9,980 13,710 479 3,185 6,585 33,939 
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21. Property, plant and equipment continued… 
 

 Freehold land Buildings & 
Residences 

Assets under 
construction

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles

Monuments 
and Special 

Items 

Total 

2005 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Carrying amount at start of 
year 14,555 6,808 4,185 3,543 6,930 36,021 

Additions - 3,987 5,862 163 381 10,393 
Disposals / transfers - (31) (4,117) 14 - (4,134) 
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) (5,352) 1,035 - (7) (381) (4,705) 

Depreciation - (262) - (559) (187) (1,008) 
Adjustments - (1) (2,441) - - (2,442) 
Write-off of assets at stock 
take - - - - - - 

Carrying amount at end of 
year 9,203 11,536 3,489 3,154 6,743 34,125 

 
 2006 2005 
22. Intangible assets $000 $000 

   
Computer software   
At cost 45 - 
Accumulated amortisation (29) - 
 16 - 
   
Reconciliations:   
   
Computer software   
Carrying amount at start of year - - 
Additions 27 - 
Revaluation increments / decrements - - 
Impairment losses recognised in Income Statement - - 
Impairment losses reversed in Income Statement - - 
Change in Depreciation Method (2) - 
Amortisation expense (9) - 
Carrying amount at end of year 16 - 
   

23. Impairment of assets   
   
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets 
at 30 June 2006. 

The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and 
at reporting date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2006 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off. 
   

24. Payables   
   
Current   
Accounts Payable 1,016 742 
Total current 1,016 742 
   
See also note 2(q) ‘Payables’ and note 33 ‘Financial instruments’   
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 2006 2005 
25. Provisions $000 $000 
   

Current   
   
Employee benefits provision   
Annual leave(a) 472 535 
Long service leave(b) 401 540 
48/52 leave arrangements 76 - 
Deferred salary scheme 23 - 
 972 1,075 
Other provisions   
Employment on-costs(c) 26 29 
 26 29 
   
Total current 998 1,104 
   
Non-current   
   
Employee benefits provision   
Long service leave(b) 295 202 
48/52 leave arrangements 13 - 
 308 202 
Other provisions   
Employment on-costs (c) 8 5 
 8 5 
   
Total non-current 316 207 
   

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of 
the liabilities will occur as follows: 
   
Within 12 months of reporting date 517 535 
More than 12 months after reporting date - - 
 517 535 
   

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement 
of the liabilities will occur as follows: 
   
Within 12 months of reporting date  455 540 
More than 12 months after reporting date 308 202 

 763 742 
   

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-
costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future 
payments. The associated expense is included at note 8 ‘Other expenses’. 
   

Movements in Other Provisions   
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out 
below. 
   
Employment on-cost provision   
Carrying amount at start of year 34 - 
Additional provisions recognised - 34 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits - - 
Unwinding of the discount - - 
Carrying amount at end of year 34 34 
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 2006 2005 
26. Other liabilities $000 $000 

   
Current   
Accrued expenses 232 100 
Accrued salaries 83 - 
Purchase order liability 22 5 
Consigned inventory liability 383 371 
Unearned revenue 1,284 6 
External grants 1,037 654 
Other (bonds/retentions) 6 - 
Total current 3,047 1,136 
   
Non-current - - 
Total non-current - - 
   
Consigned inventory represents consigned stock held on behalf of artisans for sale in the Aspects of Kings 
Park retail outlet. 
   

27. Equity   
   
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority. The Government holds the equity 
interest in the Authority on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of 
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets. 
 
Contributed equity   
Balance at start of year 16,404 15,362 
Contributions by owners   
Capital contribution  593 1,042 
Balance at end of year 16,997 16,404 
   
Reserves   
Asset revaluation reserve:   
   
Balance at start of year 11,579 16,284 
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):   
Land 777 (5,352) 
Buildings (888) 1,035 
Plant and equipment & vehicles - (7) 
Monuments and Special Items - (381) 
Intangibles - - 
Balance at end of year 11,468 11,579 
   
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (Retained earnings)   
   
Balance at start of year 7,905 4,975 
Result for the period 210 2,930 
Income and expense recognised directly to equity - - 
Balance at end of year 8,115 7,905 
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 2006 2005 
28. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement $000 $000 

   
Reconciliation of cash   
   
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in 
the Balance Sheet as follows: 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 1,713 267 
   
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 16 ‘Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents’) 1,037 654 
 2,750 921 
   
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities 
   
Net cost of services (12,519) (12,894) 
   
Non-cash items:   
Depreciation expense (note 6) 973 1,008 
Resources received free of charge (note 15) 44 60 
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 58 17 
Discovered assets (40) - 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer - 1,410 
   
(Increase)/decrease in assets:   
Current receivables (58) (56) 
Current inventories (98) (560) 
Other current assets (6) (67) 
   
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   
Current payables 274 118 
Current provisions (107) (2) 
Other current liabilities 1,018 (285) 
Non-current provisions - (1,395) 
Other non-current liabilities 108  
   
Net GST receipts/(payments) (145) (671) 
Change in GST in receivables/payables (23) (17) 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (10,521) (13,334) 
   

29. Resources provided free of charge   
   
During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the 
normal operations of the Authority: 
   
NIL   
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30. Commitments  2006 2005 

 $000 $000 
Capital expenditure commitments   
   
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in 
the financial statements, are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year 2,664 2,654 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14,603 4,828 
Later than 5 years - - 
 17,267 7,482 
The capital commitments include amounts for:   
Buildings 1,200 473 
Biodiversity Conservation 6,260 - 
Infrastructure 5,855 6,003 
Asset replacement 3,952 1,006 
 17,267 7,482 
Lease commitments   
   
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial 
statements are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year 87 115 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 34 69 
Later than 5 years - - 
 121 184 
Lease commitments are inclusive of GST   
   

31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets   
   
The Authority has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets.   
   

32. Explanatory statement   
   
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below. 
Significant variations are considered to be those of material nature greater than 10% or $1 million.  
   
Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2006 
 
 2006 2006  
 Estimate Actual Variation 
 $000 $000 $000 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,898 973 925 
User charges and fees 1,030 1,147 (117) 
Sales 988 1,252 (264) 
Other revenue 1,515 2,198 (683) 
    
Depreciation and amortisation expense    
Fixed asset review led to decrease in depreciation expense in conjunction with forecast too high.  
    
User charges and fees    
Additional revenues were received from conferences, seminars, merchandising and direct sales. 
    
Sales    
Aspects of Kings Park consistently exceeded sales forecasts during the period. 
    
Other revenue    
Increased sponsorship revenue.    
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32. Explanatory statement continued…    
    

Significant variances between actual results for 2005 and 2006 
 2006 2005 Variance 
 $000 $000 $000 
Income    
Sales 1,252 467 785 
    
Expenses    
Employee benefits expense 6,599 5,617 982 
Other expenses 2,861 3,355 (494) 
Cost of sales 714 253 461 
Other revenue 2,198 1,539 659 
    
Sales 
The variance is due to Aspects of Kings Park not commencing operations until January 2005, therefore a direct 
comparison between financial periods cannot be made. 
    
Employee benefits expense    
The variance is due to Increased salaries expenditure in addition to understated employee benefits expenses 
from the prior period. 
    
Other expenses    
The variance is due to a decrease in capital works related expenses. 
 
Cost of sales 
The variance is due to Aspects of Kings Park not commencing operations until January 2005, therefore a direct 
comparison between financial periods cannot be made. 
    
Other revenue    
The variance is due to an increase in research grants revenue. 
 

33. Financial instruments    
(a)  Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies   

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. 
The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management program 
focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

 
Credit risk 

The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Authority has policies in place 
to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. 
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. There is no significant concentration of credit risk. 

 
Liquidity risk 

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations 
by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

 
(b)  Financial Instrument disclosures 

Financial instrument information for the year ended 2005 has been prepared under the previous 
AGAAP Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 ‘Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments’. 
Financial instrument information from 1 July 2005 has been prepared under AASB 132 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. See 
also note 2(y) ‘Comparative figures’. 
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33. Financial instruments    
    

Interest Rate Risk Exposure    
The following table details the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date: 
 

 Fixed Interest Rate Maturity 
 Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate 

Within 
1 year 

1-2 
Years 

2- 3 
Years 

3-4 
Years 

4-5 
Years 

More 
than 5 
Years 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

Total 

2006 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Financial Assets           
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
5.04 

 
1,713 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,713 

Restricted Cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

 
 

5.04 

 
 

1,037 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

1,037 
Receivables - - - - - - - - 491 491 
Loans and 
advances 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services 

 
 
- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

4,045 

 
 

4,045 
  2,750 - - - - - - 4,536 7,286 
Financial Liabilities           
Payables - - - - - - - - 1,016 1,016 
Bank Overdraft - - - - - - - - - - 
WATC/Bank 
Loans 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Other loans - - - - - - - - - - 
Finance lease 
liabilities - - - - - - - - - - 
Amounts due to 
the Treasurer 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

  - - - - - - - 1,016 1,016 
 

 Fixed Interest Rate Maturity 
 Weighted 

Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Variable 
Interest 

Rate 

Less 
than 1 
Year 

1 to 5 
Years 

More 
than 5 
Years 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 

Total 

2005 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Financial Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 4.75 267 - - - - 267 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 4.75 654 - - - - 654 
Receivables - - - - - 448 448 
Loans and advances - - - - - - - 
Amounts receivable for 
services 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,987 

 
2,987 

  921 - - - 3,435 4,356 
Financial Liabilities        
Payables - - - - - 742 742 
Bank Overdraft - - - - - - - 
WATC/Bank loans - - - - - - - 
Other loans - - - - - - - 
Finance lease liabilities - - - - - - - 
Amounts due to the Treasurer - - - - - - - 
  - - - - 742 742 
Fair Values        
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not 
materially different from their net fair values. 
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34. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers 

   
Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority    
The number of members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 
 2006 2005 
 $000 $000 

$   
0 - 10,000 7 7 

10,001 - 20,000 1 1 
   
The total remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority is: 49 47 
   
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members 
of the Accountable Authority. 
 
No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme. 
 
Where a member’s remuneration is zero, the member shall be included in a band labelled ‘$0 - $10,000’. 

 
Remuneration of Senior Officers    
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, 
whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall 
within the following bands are: 

$   
100,001 – 110,000 - 1 
110,001 – 120,000 1 - 
120,001 – 130,000 2 2 
130,001 – 140,000 - 1 
160,001 – 170,000 1 - 

   
The total remuneration of senior officers is: 542 477 
   
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior 
officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority. 
 
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

 
35. Remuneration of auditor 2006 2005 

 $000 $000 
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows: 
   
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 27 28 
   
The expense is included at note 8 ‘Other expenses’.   
   

36. Supplementary financial information   
   
Write-Offs   
   
Public property written-off by the Minister during the financial year (buildings 
demolished) 

 
212 

 
- 

Bad debts written off 40 1 
 252 1 
Losses Through Theft, Defaults and Other Causes   
   
Losses of public moneys and, public and other property through theft or default 1 - 
 1 - 
The expense is included at note 8 ‘Other expenses’.   
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37. Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 
 

 Service 1 
Customer Service and 

Cultural Heritage 

Service 2 
Biodiversity Conservation 

and Scientific Research 

Total 

 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

COST OF SERVICES       
Expenses        
Employee benefits expense 4,184 3,518 2,415 2,242 6,599 5,760 
Supplies and services 2,049 2,231 998 1,168 3,047 3,399 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 

720 941 253 67 973 1,008 

Capital User Charge 2,258 2,285 794 820 3,052 3,105 
Cost of goods sold 714 253 - - 714 253 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 43 17 15 - 58 17 
Other expenses  1,919 1,576 942 1,120 2,861 2,696 
Total cost of services 11,887 10,821 5,417 5,417 17,304 16,238 
       
Income        
User charges and fees  1,111 1,191 36 - 1,147 1,191 
Sales 1,237 421 15 46 1,252 467 
Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 

- - 98 43 98 43 

Interest revenue 67 99 23 5 90 104 
Other revenue 737 1,264 1,461 275 2,198 1,539 
Total income other than income 
from State Government  

3,152 2,975 1,633 369 4,785 3,344 

NET COST OF SERVICES 8,735 7,846 3,784 5,048 12,519 12,894 
       
INCOME FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT 

      

Service appropriation 8,686 9,187 3,999 5,167 12,685 14,354 
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer - 861 - 549 - 1,410 
Assets assumed/(transferred) - - - - - - 
Resources received free of charge 33 60 11 - 44 60 
Total income from State 
Government 

8,719 10,108 4,010 5,716 12,729 15,824 

       
Surplus/(deficit) for the period (16) 2,262 226 668 210 2,930 
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38.  Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
 

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (AASB 1.39(a)(i)) 
 

  Previous 
GAAP 

1 July 2004 

Adjustments Total 
Adjustments 

AIFRS 
1 July 2004

   Revaluation Intangibles   
Note   38.1 38.2   

 ASSETS $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
 Current Assets      

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 3,348 - - - 3,348 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 503 - - - 503 
 Inventories - - - - - 
 Receivables 350 - - - 350 

(2) Amounts receivable for services - - - - - 
(3) Other current assets 52 - - - 52 
(4) Non-current assets classified as held for 

sale 
- - - - - 

 Total Current Assets 4,253 - - - 4,253 
       
 Non-Current Assets      
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 
 Inventories - - - - - 
 Receivables - - - - - 

(2) Amounts receivable for services 1,099 - - - 1,099 
 Property, plant and equipment 36,021 (177) (35) (212) 35,809 
 Infrastructure - - - - - 
 Intangible assets - - 35 35 35 

(5) Other non-current assets - - - - - 
 Total Non-Current Assets 37,120 (177) - (177) 36,943 
       
 TOTAL ASSETS 41,373 (177) - (177) 41,196 
       

 
(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Cash Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Cash and Cash Equivalents’) 
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Amounts receivable for outputs’ (AIFRS ‘Amounts receivable for services’) 
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Other current assets’) 
(4) New AIFRS category 
(5) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Other non-current assets’) 
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RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (AASB 1.39(a)(i)) 
continued… 
  Previous 

GAAP 
1 July 2004

Adjustments Total 
Adjustments 

AIFRS 
1 July 2004

   Revaluation Intangibles   
Note   38.1 38.2   

 LIABILITIES $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
 Current Liabilities      
 Payables 624 - - - 624 

(6) Borrowings - - - - - 
 Amounts due to the Treasurer - - - - - 
 Provisions 1,079 - - - 1,106 

(7) Other current liabilities 1,448 - - - 1,421 
(4) Liabilities directly associated with non-

current assets classified as held for sale 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 Total Current Liabilities 3,151 - - - 3,151 
       
 Non-Current Liabilities      
 Payables - - - - - 

(6) Borrowings - - - - - 
 Provisions 1,602 - - - 1,602 

(8) Other non-current liabilities - - - - - 
 Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,602 - - - 1,602 
       
 Total Liabilities 4,753 - - - 4,753 
       
 Net Assets 36,620 - - - 36,443 
       
 Equity      
 Contributed equity 15,362 - - - 15,362 
 Reserves 16,284 (177) - (177) 16,107 
 Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 4,974 - - - 4,974 

(4) Amounts recognised directly in equity 
relating to non-current assets classified as 
held for sale 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
 Total Equity 36,620 (177) - (177) 36,443 

 
(4) New AIFRS category 
(6) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Interest-bearing liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Borrowings’) 
(7) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Other current liabilities’) 
(8) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Other non-current liabilities’) 
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RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER PREVIOUS 
AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(a)(ii)) 

  GAAP 
30 June 2005 

Adjustments AIFRS 
30 June 2005 

Note     
     
 ASSETS $000 $000 $000 
 Current Assets    

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 267 - 267 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 654 - 654 
 Inventories 560 - 560 
 Receivables 406 - 406 

(2) Amounts receivable for services 42 - 42 
(3) Other current assets 78 - 78 
(4) Non-current assets classified as held for sale - - - 

 Total Current Assets 2,007 - 2,007 
     
 Non-Current Assets    
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents - - - 
 Inventories - - - 
 Receivables - - - 

(2) Amounts receivable for services 2,945 - 2,945 
 Property, plant and equipment  34,125 - 34,125 

 Infrastructure - - - 
 Intangible assets - - - 
 Other non-current assets - - - 
 Total Non-Current Assets 37,070 - 37,070 
     
 TOTAL ASSETS 39,077 - 39,077 
     
 LIABILITIES    
 Current Liabilities    
 Payables 742 - 742 
 Borrowings - - - 
 Amounts due to the Treasurer - - - 
 Provisions 1,104 - 1,104 

(7) Other current liabilities 1,136 - 1,136 
(4) Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets 

classified as held for sale 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 Total Current Liabilities 2,982 - 2,982 
     
 Non-Current Liabilities    
 Payables - - - 
 Borrowings - - - 
 Provisions 207 - 207 

(8) Other non-current liabilities - - - 
 Total Non-Current Liabilities 207 - 207 
     
 Total Liabilities 3,189 - 3,189 
     
 Net Assets 35,888 - 35,888 
     
 Equity    
 Contributed equity 16,404 - 16,404 
 Reserves 11,579 - 11,579 
 Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 7,905 - 7,905 

(4) Amounts recognised directly in equity relating to 
non-current assets classified as held for sale 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 Total Equity 35,888 - 35,888 

The transition to AIFRS includes adjustments for the transition AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 plus adjustments for the period 
1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005. 

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Cash Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Cash and Cash Equivalents’) 
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Amounts receivable for outputs’ (AIFRS ‘Amounts receivable for services’) 
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Other current assets’) 
(4) New AIFRS category 
(5) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other Assets’ (AIFRS ‘Other non-current assets’) 
(6) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Interest-bearing liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Borrowings’) 
(7) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Other current liabilities’) 
(8) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other liabilities’ (AIFRS ‘Other non-current liabilities’) 
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RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT (PROFIT OR LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 
(AASB 1.39(b)) 
  Previous 

GAAP 
1 July 2004

Adjustments Total 
Adjustments 

AIFRS 
1 July 2004

   Net gains 
(losses) on 

disposal 

Employee 
benefits 

  

Note   38.3 38.4a   
 COST OF SERVICES $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
 Expenses       

(1) Employee benefits expense 5,652 - (34) (34) 5,618 
(2) Supplies and services 2,882 - - - 2,882 

 Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 

1,008 - - - 1,008 

(3) Finance costs - - - - - 
(2) Administration expenses n.a. - - - - - 

 Leasing costs - - - - - 
 Grants & subsidies - - - - - 
 Capital user charge 3,105 - - - 3,105 
 Cost of goods sold 253 - - - 253 

(4) Carrying amount of non-current assets 
disposed of 

 
31 

 
(31) 

 
- 

 
(31) 

 
- 

(4) Loss on disposal of non-current assets - 17 - 17 17 
(5) Loss on disposal of other assets - - - - - 
(6) Other expenses 3,321 - 34 34 3,355 

       
 Total cost of services 16,252 (14) - (14) 16,238 
       
 Income      
 Revenue       
 User charges and fees  1,191 - - - 1,191 
 Sales 467 - - - 467 
 Commonwealth grants and 

contributions 
43 - - - 43 

 Interest revenue 103 - - - 103 
(7) Other revenue 1,540 - - - 1,540 

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Employee expenses’ (AIFRS ‘Employee benefits expense’) 
(2) Supplies and services now includes Administration expenses   
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Borrowing costs expense’ (AIFRS ‘Finance costs’) 
(4) Disposals are treated on the net basis under AIFRS 
(5) New AIFRS category 
(6) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other expenses from ordinary activities’ (AIFRS ‘Other expenses’) 
(7) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Other revenues from ordinary activities’ (AIFRS ‘Other revenue’) 
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RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT (PROFIT OR LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 
(AASB 1.39(b)) Continued… 
  Previous 

GAAP 
1 July 2004

Adjustments Total 
Adjustments 

AIFRS 
1 July 2004

   Net gains 
(losses) on 

disposal 

Employee 
benefits 

  

Note   38.3 38.4a   
 Gains $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

(4) Proceeds from disposal of non-current 
assets 

 
14 

 
(14) 

 
- 

 
(14) 

 
- 

(4) Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - - - - 
(5) Gain on disposal of other assets - - - - - 

 Other gains - - - - - 
       
 Total income other than income from 

State Government 
 

3,358 
 

(14) 
 

- 
 

(14) 
 

3,344 
       
       
 NET COST OF SERVICES 12,894 - - - 12,894 
       
 INCOME FROM STATE 

GOVERNMENT 
     

       
 Service appropriation 14,354 - - - 14,354 
 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 1,410 - - - 1,410 
 Assets assumed/(transferred) - - - - - 
 Resources received free of charge 60 - - - 60 
 Total income from State Government 15,824 - - - 15,824 
       

(8) Loss from extraordinary item - - - - - 
       

(9) Surplus/(deficit) for the period 2,930 - - - 2,930 
       
 See Statement of Changes in Equity      

(4) Disposals are treated on the net basis under AIFRS 
(5) New AIFRS category 
(8) Extraordinary items are not separately disclosed under AIFRS 
(9) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Change in net assets’ (AIFRS ‘Surplus/(deficit)’) 

 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 2005-2006 Annual Report 125 



Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements For the Year Ended 30 June 2006 
 

RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.40) 
 

  GAAP 
30 June 2005 

Adjustments Total 
Adjustments 

AIFRS 
30 June 2005 

Note   38.4b   
  $000 $000 $000 $000 
 CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT     
 Service appropriation 12,466 - - 12,466 
 Capital contributions 1,042 - - 1,042 
 Holding account drawdowns - - - - 
 Net cash provided by State Government 13,508 - - 13,508 
      
 Utilised as follows:     
 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
    

 Payments     
(1) Employee benefits (5,980) 34 34 (5,946) 

 Supplies and services (4,539) - - (4,539) 
(2) Finance costs - - - - 

 Capital User Charge (3,105) - - (3,105) 
 Capital works expenditure (2,361) - - (2,361) 
 GST payments  (882) - - (882) 
 Other payments (190) (34) (34) (224) 
      
 Receipts     
 Sale of goods and services 428 - - 428 
 User charges and fees 1,136 - - 1,136 
 Commonwealth grants and contributions 43 - - 43 
 Grants and contributions 842 - - 842 
 Interest received 116 - - 116 
 Donations 16 - - 16 
 GST receipts on sales 211 - - 211 
 GST receipts from taxation authority - - - - 
 Other receipts 931 - - 931 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 

activities 
 

(13,334) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(13,334) 
      
 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
 Proceeds from sale of non-current physical 

assets 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 Purchase of non-current physical assets (3,104) - - (3,104) 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 

activities 
 

(3,104) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(3,104) 
      
 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 Proceeds from borrowings - - - - 
 Repayment of borrowings - - - - 
 Other proceeds - - - - 
 Other repayments - - - - 
 Net cash provided by/(used in) financing 

activities 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
      
 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

(2,930) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(2,930) 
      
 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 

period 
 

3,851 
 

- 
 

- 
 

3,851 
      
 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 

PERIOD 
 

921 
 

- 
 

- 
 

921 
      
 

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Employee costs’ (IFRS ‘Employee benefits’) 
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item ‘Borrowing costs expense’ (IFRS ‘Finance costs’) 
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Notes to the reconciliations 
 
Note 38.1 Property, Plant and Equipment (AASB 116) 
 
AASB 116 requires non-current assets to be measured on a fair value basis.  
 
The Authority has identified items of plant, equipment and vehicles that are required to be revalued at fair value 
and has made the following adjustments: 
 

Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 
Property, plant and equipment has been reduced by $176,804 with a corresponding decrease in asset 
revaluation reserve. 
 

Note 38.2 Intangible assets (AASB 138) 
 
AASB 138 requires that software not integral to the operation of a computer must be disclosed as intangible 
assets. Intangible assets must be disclosed on the face of the balance sheet. All software has previously been 
classified as property, plant and equipment (office equipment). 
 

Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 
The Authority has transferred $35,004 in software from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. 

 
Note 38.3 Net gain on disposal of non-current assets (AASB 116) 
 
Under AGAAP the disposal of non-current assets is disclosed on the gross basis. That is, the proceeds of 
disposal are revenue and the carrying amounts of assets disposed of are expense. The disposal of non-current 
assets is disclosed on the net basis (gains or losses) under AIFRS. 
 

Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005 
The carrying amounts of assets disposed of was previously recognised as expense. This has been 
derecognised ($31,165). 
 
The proceeds of disposal of non-current assets was previously recognised as income. This has been 
derecognised ($13,703). 
 
A gain on the disposal of non-current assets of $17,462 has been recognised as income. There has been no 
net effect on the surplus. 
 

Note 38.4 Employee benefits (AASB 119 and AASB 101) 
 
AASB 101 requires that a liability must be classified as current where the entity does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months beyond the reporting date. Consequently, all 
annual leave and long service leave entitlements (unconditional long service leave) must now be classified as 
current. Non-vested long service leave liability will be non-current to the extent that it does not become 
unconditional within 12 months from reporting date. 
 
Employment on-costs are not included in employee benefits under AGAAP or AIFRS. However, under AGAAP 
employee benefits and on-costs are disclosed together on the face of the Income Statement as Employee costs. 
Under AIFRS employee benefits is the equivalent item disclosed on the face. On-costs have been transferred to 
other expenses. 
 

38.4a Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005 
Employment on-costs expense has been reclassified from employee benefits expense to other expense 
($34,218). 
 
38.4b Adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005 
Employment on-costs payments have been reclassified from employee benefits payments to other payments 
($34,218). 
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Feedback Form 
Annual Report 2005 - 2006 Feedback Form 

 
The Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority is interested in your feedback and comments on the 
2005-2006 Annual Report. Your comments will help us to improve the report in the future and 
make it more informative for our readers. 
 
What is your interest in Kings Park and Botanic Gard r Bold Park? 
 

Government      Education 

Tourism      Finance 

Botanic Gardens    Employment 

Conservation Organisation   Other 
 
 
In general terms, how would you rate the Annual Report? 
 

Excellent  Very Good  Average  Poor 
 
 
In what ways do you think the Annual Report could be improved? ____________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
Any other comments? _________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

____________________________________________________________________________  

 

Thank you for your feedback. 
 
Please return this form to: 
 
Annual Report Co-ordinator 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Fraser Avenue 
WEST PERTH  WA  6005 

 Fax: 9322 5064 
 Email: enquiries@bgpa.wa.gov.au

 

  

en and/o

mailto:enquiries@bgpa.wa.gov.au


 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head Office 
Kings Park and Botanic Garden Aspects of Kings Park Bold Park 
Fraser Avenue Fraser Avenue 165 Perry Lakes Drive 
WEST PERTH  WA  6005 WEST PERTH  WA  6005 FLOREAT  WA  6014 
Ph:08 9480 3600 Ph:  08 9480 3900 Ph:  9387 0800 
Fax: 08 9322 5064 Fax: 08 9480 3911 Fax: 9387 0899 
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